
        
  
    Time is a sort of river of passing events,

    And strong is its current;

    No sooner is a thing brought to sight

    Than it is swept away

    And another takes its place

    And this too will be swept away.
  

  Marcus Antonius




      
        
  Foreword




As we enter the year 1990, communities throughout New Zealand are celebrating
150 years of colonisation. It is fitting, then, that our little township should mark the
occasion with this publication of its history from the time when it was part of the
Levels Run.


The book had its beginnings in 1980-81 when some senior pupils of Pleasant
Point High School, as part of a Temporary Employment Scheme organised by the
Labour Department, were given the task of researching the township's history.


Under the guidance of Steve Cutler, a school staff member, they researched much
of the basic history and presented their findings to the Railway and Historical Society
for future reference.


Members of that committee approached me and the late Beattie Smith with a
request that we write a book on the history of Pleasant Point, elaborating on the work
the school pupils had done.


Together, we collated the huge quantity of material that Beattie Smith had already
collected over the years but, sadly, her sudden death curtailed progress on the
project.


As time went by, The Historical Society Committee expressed concern as to the
likelihood of the book ever becoming a reality and a sub-committee was formed
under the chairmanship of L. Blakemore to promote its publication.


Researching and compiling the necessary information, although intensely
interesting, has been a long and arduous task. Admittedly, there will be errors and
omissions and for these, I apologise.


Nevertheless, I trust that this book is a true record of the development of Pleasant
Point from a small accommodation house to the township we know today.


O.P. Oliver

Pleasant Point

December 1989



      
        
  Pre-European Days




There has been much speculation as to the length of time the Maoris have
inhabited South Canterbury. Nonetheless, it is a known fact that the Ngaitahu tribe
existed in the Arowhenua area long before European settlement.


These Maoris travelled inland. The limestone Downs in this vicinity were ideal for
a nomadic people in search of food. The strong growth of the cabbage tree favoured
production of the sugary ‘kauru’ from its roots: the streams were rich in eels, the
valleys in weka and, in earlier times, moa. Also, the Opihi and Te Ngawai rivers
were easy routes to the hunting grounds of the Mackenzie area.


Journeys to the Mackenzie country were made in the Autumn when birds grew
fat on the berries which flourished there. Many birds, preserved in their own fat,
would be brought back to store for Winter food.


During these journeys, the Maoris generally camped in the shelter of a limestone
cliff with sufficient overhang to keep off the rain. This activity has been recorded in
the many rock drawings found in the district — namely, at Harts in Waitohi
Hanging Rock and Hazelburn areas. These drawings are seen as records of their
hunting expeditions depicting dog, fish bird or man.


The majority of drawings are in charcoal. Presumably a stick snatched from the
fire sealed the pictures into the limestone. Others are in red ochre or perhaps done
with the juice of ripe red berries.


Few are thought to be older than three hundred years and some are considered
comparatively recent. Some in the Hazelburn area have signatures in graceful
Roman capitals as learned from the missionaries and some of the Opihi ones depict an
early European church or house.


The Taniwha group of drawings at Gould’s, Opihi, has special significance for our
local High School as the Taniwha is the emblem on the school’s monogram. This
mythical monster of Maori tradition was described as a gigantic man-eating reptile
lurking in deep pools. The late Theo Schoon used the Opihi Taniwha as his guide
when designing a New Zealand two shilling stamp.


In recent years the Historic Places Trust has realised the significance of these local
rock drawings and has taken measures to protect them from disfigurement by vandals
and abrasion by sheltering sheep.


Irrespective of their age, the Maori rock drawings in our district remain
documents of a culture which has left all too few records.



      
        
  Nomenclature




Pleasant Point was formerly known as The Point, the Point of old being a guiding
landmark for the waggoners making their inland journeys to the Mackenzie
Country. What this guiding point was, has called for speculation and several theories
have been propounded as to its location.


However, the Point would appear to be either where the Te Ngawai and Opihi
rivers meet or one of the cuttings in the hills that form the backdrop of the township.
Some have considered the Point to be at the foot of where Rayner and Kabul streets
meet whilst others maintain it was at the foot of Manse Hill Road. The latter seems
the most likely point as that is the area where the township began to develop.


According to Lands and Surveys Department records Pleasant Point is ‘that part of
the Mt. Misery Range terminating in R.S. 10169 and R.S. 13983) and on which is
erected Trig of 293‘8 ‘, which is definitely that piece of land between Manse Hill
and the cemetery on the original survey maps of the settlement.


It has to be acknowledged that this area may have been designated ‘Pleasant
Point’ as a result of verbal reference to it by the earliest waggoners. Therefore
we must now recognise that area as officially ‘The Point’.


In those days the countryside was practically all tussock, flax and matagouri
with a few rough tracks, serving as roads, straggling through it. These tracks
took a vastly different route from the surveyed roads of today. Travelling at
the rate of two miles an hour, a bullock team took about three weeks to make
the return trip from Timaru to the Mackenzie Country. Mishaps such as floods
often lengthened the time to as long as six weeks. For company and mutual
support, two or more teams would travel together, resting at recognised
bullocky camps along the roadside where as many as thirty waggoners might
pull in for the night.


Townships grew around these camping grounds and ‘The Point‘ was one of
the popular overnight stops with ready access to water from the ‘Creek‘ and
good grazing for the bullocks. Grazing on the land saved the space otherwise
taken up with fodder carried on the waggons. The waggoners returning from
the back country always camped at The Point, travelled to Timaru next
morning and returned to The Point that evening.


Road development in the 1880s brought a gradual replacement of bullocks
with horse teams which were faster. As more settlers moved inland, The Point
became an extremely popular overnight stopping place and it is said that it
derived its full name of Pleasant Point because of the pleasant surroundings,
excellent feeding and watering facilities for the horses and a good hotel
complete with alcoholic sustenance for the weary traveller.


There is another story recorded about the origin of the townships name
which goes back to before the hotel came into being. One of the surveyors
engaged in mapping the district for the government was a man by the name of
Sharland who was camped at Opuha Station, then known as Wigley’s Station.
His wife was pregnant and he decided to take her in a bullock waggon to
Temuka, the nearest place where skilled medical services were available.


There being no roads. Sharland took a route along the banks of the Opihi
but, on reaching its confluence with the Te Ngawai, he found the rivers in
flood and was forced to camp at a point between them. After twenty-four
hours at this camp, Mrs Sharland gave birth to a fine baby boy. The Sharlands
remained there for a few days before returning to Opuha.


On their return, the people at the station were commiserating with them on
their misfortunes and one of the assistants remarked that it must have been
very unpleasant camping at the point between the rivers. But Mrs Sharland
exclaimed ‘Look at my fine baby boy! It was a very Pleasant Point to me’.


Mr Sharland turned to the men and said “We shall call that place Pleasant
Point”, and he went straightway to his tent and, on that portion of his rough
survey plan, he wrote Pleasant Point at the confluence of the rivers.


Another story maintaining that the confluence of the two rivers is the
original ‘Point’ tells that waggoners travelling between Timaru and here
followed the banks of the Opihi because much of the Levels Plain was in
swamp and not negotiable by waggon. On reaching this point, they journeyed
towards the Cemetery hill seeking shelter for the night and found it a pleasant
point to set up camp.


Whatever its origins, there can be no doubt that the name of Pleasant Point
stemmed from a landmark, be it river or hill, which guided the early
waggoners on the first leg of the journey from Timaru to the Mackenzie
country.


Street Names


The streets of Pleasant Point were surveyed in the 1870s and named
accordingly but it would appear that, in the early days, the names were not
publicised. Very often they were referred to, according to the landmarks in the
area. Early newspaper reports refer to Afghan Street as Railway Terrace,
Halstead Road was known as Saleyards Road and then, when Greig Street was
opened up, it became recognised as Saleyards Road and the name stuck as long
as the saleyards remained.


When the District High School was sited in Halstead Road, it became
known as School Road and, at one stage, when the first Anglican church was
sited there, Harris Street was referred to as Church Street. The Main Road was
for many years known as Dominion Street, presumably linked with the
declaration of New Zealand as a Dominion.


However, when the township grew with big increases in housing, the official
names became a reality with every street duly signposted as time went on.


In the naming of the streets, the township has been divided into areas. All
the streets on the southern side of the railway line have Afghan names. Many
people ask why. At the time of the survey, the Anglo-Afghan wars were
making headlines in the newspapers and it seems obvious that the names were
taken from those figuring in the news.


The western side of the town has been given the names of our native trees
while the northern side has been named after notable early settlers of the
district or after people, who originally owned property in the locality. Acton
Street, for instance, is after Edward Acton who owned 1100 acres in the Opihi
area known as ‘Fordlands‘. He was first chairman of the School Committee,
first Anglican church warden and owned the first butcher's shop in Pleasant
Point. He also served on the first Levels County Council and on the Timaru
Harbour Board, was chairman of the South Canterbury Refrigeration
Company and of the Pleasant Point Saleyards Company.


William Halstead was a fellmonger who owned the land in the vicinity of
Halstead Road and lived at 12 Halstead Road. He classed wool for the Levels
Estate and afterwards, scoured all their wool. He set up his own wool scouring
business opposite the Primary School. He was chairman of the Domain and
Cemetery Boards and served on the school committee. He also instigated the
first tennis club in the district.


John Porter Harris owned property in the vicinity of Harris Street and
Alfred George Horton owned a block of land jointly with Harris. Some people
have argued that Horton Street was wrongly named and should have been
‘Orton’ but, although Reginald Orton did live in that neighbourhood, this is
incorrect.


On the original map Harris Street replaced the name Le Cren Street. The
land was at first owned by Henry John Le Cren and, later, Frederic Le Cren.
A.G. Horton and JP. Harris. It has been said that the land was gifted to
Horton and Harris for charitable works they had performed.


Greig Street, formerly referred to as Saleyards Road, was originally the
property of John Greig who lived in Te Ngawai Road and farmed in the
vicinity. He was once chairman of the Cemetery Board, served on the library
committee and was active in community affairs.


Morris Lane is named after a very early storekeeper who owned a grocer’s
shop about where Pleasant Point Motors now stands. The business was then
held in partnership with a Temuka businessman, F. Mendleson, Morris being
manager. An early settler‘s name lives on in Burgess Street. Raynor Street is
named after Albert and Algernon Raynor who lived in Te Ngawai Road. Sons
of a Temuka doctor, these two men were responsible for fencing many of the
properties when the Levels Estate was split up. They were notable in the
fencing business for patenting an iron standard which made the job easier.


George Butler farmed 300 acres in the Butler’s Road area and represented
Pleasant Point Riding on the Levels County Council. He served on the School
Committee as chairman, was a member of the Domain and Cemetery Boards
for many years and was always an enthusiastic worker for the advancement of
the district. He was very involved in the Weslyan movement.


Maitland Street, in early days, was known as ‘Thread and Needle’ Street
presumably because the local tailor‘s shop was situated there.



      
        
  The Early Days




The Pleasant Point district had its European beginnings as part of the Levels
Station, the first grazing run to be taken up in South Canterbury.


In December 1850, the Rhodes Bros. applied for three runs totalling 159,000
acres. They had heard about beautiful open plains in the area from men at the
Timaru whaling station which had been set up in the 1830s. In August 1851,
they made a further application for all the country between the Opihi and
Makikihi, extending fifteen miles inland.


The Rhodes Bros. named the station after the place near Doncaster where
their father lived in England.


The Levels run was originally supposed to cover all the country from the
Opihi to the Pareora rivers and to extend from the sea to the Mackenzie Pass
but it was later discovered that they had more land than they were entitled to.
They then made over 22,500 acres to a relative, Mr. J. King, and this became
Otipua Station.


The new southern boundary of the Levels ran from the coast at Saltwater
Creek, in a straight line to the back of Mt. Horrible at Claremont. A
subsequent survey cut off the Albury and Opawa runs, further reducing the
area of Levels.


Despite these reductions, the run covered such a vast area that it was
necessary to have ‘outstations’ on the property. Such a one was situated at
Pleasant Point and named ‘Hodsock’ after George Rhodes’s birthplace in
Nottinghamshire. It stood near the site of the present railway station.


As time went by, Pleasant Point became a popular overnight camp for
waggoners travelling between Timaru and the Mackenzie Country so that the
need arose for an accommodation house. The first one was opened by Wm. Warne in
1864 on a site where Atkinson and Dossett’s garage stands today.


The conditions then required for the establishment of an accommodation
house make interesting reading by today’s standards. Published in the Timaru
Herald of 25 July 1866, a report of the Annual Licensing Meeting for the year
ending 30 June 1866, states the conditions under which a licence was granted to
Wm. Warne:



  	All premises to be kept in good repair. To provide in his house, besides the
  tap-room or room answering as such, one public and one private sitting room.

  	To provide not less than six beds for travellers in not less than two separate
  bedrooms.

  	To provide a shed, sufficiently weathertight and fit for accommodation for
  at least six horses.

  	At all times to keep a proper supply of water for horses or cattle.

  	To keep at all times a proper supply of oats and oaten or grass hay. Oats to
  be charged for to travellers at not more than 6d per quart and to be always
  served out with the authorised quart measure.

  	To provide and keep in repair a good and sufficient stockyard for cattle.
  containing a superficial area of not less than 225 square yards. For the
  occupation of this yard during the night, the licensee may make a charge at
  rates not exceeding the following, viz:

  Two pence per head for all cattle under 50 in number and one penny per head
  for all over that number.

  	To provide and keep in repair a good and sufficient movable sheep-proof
  yard containing a superficial area of not less than 900 square yards; or at the
  option of the licensee, to keep one acre of land enclosed by a permanent sheep
  proof fence. For the occupation of this yard or paddock during the night, the
  licensee may make a charge at rates not exceeding the following, viz:

  Six pence per score for all sheep under 300 in number; fourpence per score for all
  over that number and under 500: and twopence per score for all over 500.

  	To keep a lamp burning from sunset to sunrise with two burners giving a
  sufficiently bright light.

  	To be sworn in and act as constable, especially when required by the
  Magistrates or the police.

  	On all occasions to render any assistance, and to supply information to
  Magistrates and to the police in the execution of their duty.

  	To keep a clean and orderly house and to render it as comfortable for the
  accommodation of travellers as the circumstances of position and distance
  from towns will allow.

  	The licence to be cancelled by order of any three Justices of the Peace if it
  be proved to their satisfaction that any of the conditions of the licence are not
  regularly fulfilled, or if any drunkenness be proved to have been allowed on
  the premises, or if any spirits shall be supplied from the house or premises to
  any aboriginal native of New Zealand.

  	A printed or fairly-written copy of these conditions, and a tariff of all
  charges, to be kept at all times posted up in some conspicuous place in the tape
  room and in all the sitting-rooms for the information of travellers.

  	To provide a visitors’ book which shall be kept in the custody of the
  licensee, but whenever asked for, shall be produced to visitors and lodgers, for
  the insertion of any remarks on the accommodation or attendance; a notice to
  this effect to be kept posted in the same manner as the tariff of charges. The
  book to be open at all times to inspection by Magistrates or the police and to
  be sent to the Clerk of the Bench, at Timaru, a week before the Annual Licensing
  Meeting, for the purpose of being produced at that meeting.

  	To keep a copy of the Public House Ordinance in the house.




At that time, Pleasant Point consisted of two distinct areas. A private
township, named ‘Piko’ was divided into quarter acre sections and offered in
September 1866, at seven, ten and twelve pounds a section. These were
situated on the eastern side, presumably in Ameer, Kabul and Afghan Streets
area. There was a poor attendance at the sale and no sections were sold 7 about
a dozen were sold privately afterwards.


The following advertisement appeared in the Timaru Herald, announcing
  the sale:



  AT AN EARLY DATE, OF WHICH DUE NOTICE WILL BE GIVEN,
  SECTIONS OF LAND IN THIS TOWNSHIP WILL BE OFFERED BY PUBLIC
  AUCTION.


  The great necessity for a township at the place at present known as
  Pleasant Point, and the rapid peopling of the adjoining land, has induced the
  proprietors to lay out and offer for sale sections in the town of Piko.


  The site of the town as laid out is close to the present accommodation house,
  and fronting up the main line of road leading to the Cave and the Mackenzie
  Country. Another main line of road also adjoins the township, which road
  opens up a splendid agricultural district, and also leads to the fertile bushland
  at Kakahu.


  The township is about fourteen miles from Timaru, and is approached by
  one of the best lines of road in the district, quite flat and in good repair. There
  is also a main road leading from Temuka and Arowhenua.


  The land in the town is good and no site can be found which contains the
  same advantages of dry, healthy situation, abundant supply of water, and
  which lies in the main thoroughfare to the Mackenzie Country and also on the
  borders of the principal agricultural district in this part of the province.


  There is a never-failing stream close to the town and the river Opihi is only
  about half a mile distant. In addition to these advantages, water can be
  obtained upon the ground at a depth of a few feet.


  The extent of agricultural land already under cultivation is such that the
  erection of a flour mill has already commenced about a mile from the
  township; a blacksmith is also about to commence business; and already a
  first-rate accommodation house has been finished and opened


  The above town will not only become a valuable depot for the Mackenzie
  Country: but must, from its situation, be the centre of a large population of
  agriculturalists: and from its accessibility, carry on a considerable trade with
  Timaru.


  Quarter-acre sections in this township will be offered at an upset price of
  7 pound, 10 pound, and 12 pound.


  According to situation.


  Until the day of sale, plans can be seen and sections purchased privately, on
  application to F. LeCREN, Timaru.




The other area, named ‘Morton’ after a representative of the New Zealand
and Australian Land Company, was situated on the Te Ngawai side of
Pleasant Point. This was sold off on 27 January 1876.


The sale was on the understanding that the surrounding country was about
to be disposed of in moderately sized farms but this did not happen until the
government acquired and leased the land in 1904.


Within a few years of the opening of Warne’s accommodation house, a few
shops began to develop to meet the demands of the increasing number of
travellers.


By 1868, Pleasant Point consisted of Warne’s accommodation house, by
then leased to J. A. McIlwrick; a blacksmith’s shop, two general stores and a
boarding house. The blacksmith’s, owned by James Gammie, was situated on
the western side of the cottage at 110 Main Road.


His residence was on the same property on the brow of the hill and two
handsome Wellingtonias in Manse Road still mark the entrance to it.


The first general store was built and operated by James Strachan and stood
on the now empty section on the Te Ngawai side of the Hotel. A second store,
opened by Fraser and McLeod and later purchased by Morris and Mendleson
was situated in the vicinity of the present Pleasant Point Motors. The boarding
house, conducted by a Mr. Watkins, was situated where the telephone
exchange now stands.


Residences were few. Mr Wm. Halstead’s house of limestone blocks was
situated at 12 Halstead Road. The blocks can still be seen in the garden
landscaping of that property today. Albert Smith’s house at 9 Halstead Road
is still occupied; Kee’s home, opposite the Domain was on the site of DC.
Clarke’s house in Rayner Street; The foundations of John Greig’s home at 101
Te Ngawai Road, are today utilised as a farm machinery loading bank; Thos.
Young’s house stood at 131 Te Ngawai Road; Mr. Worthington’s sod house
stood at 110 Te Ngawai Road (part of the old existing limestone homestead), and the
home of Mr Inman Jackson at ‘The Gables’, Te Ngawai Road, is still in
use as a holiday home. From this it can be appreciated why the first school was
located at 60 Te Ngawai Road in 1868.


The 1870s brought rapid development to the township. The opening up of
the railway brought construction workers to the Piko area where a ‘canvas
town’ grew. Numerous cottages were located in the Morton area and, with the
breaking up of farm land into smaller holdings, there was a demand for
further necessary services to meet the needs of the community.


The accommodation house was no longer adequate and substantial
additions were made to it in brick to cater for the increased trade. In a very
short time, under the ownership of Mr Josephus Murphy, a further addition of
an "Assembly Room‘ was made which served the community as a public
meeting place and dance hall.
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    The Pleasant Point Hotel - the original accommodation house built in 1864 for Wm.
        Warne is the wooden part of the building on the right.

  




At much the same time, Mr James Strachan saw the need for a second hotel
to be sited on the opposite corner at the junction of the Main and Te Ngawai
Roads. Known as the Railway Hotel, it was built in 1875 of limestone blocks.
Within two years, extensive additions had been made to it on the Main Road
side of the building. The ground floor accommodated a billiard room and two
shops and the upper storey had two private sitting rooms and ten bedrooms.


Besides this, Mr Strachan replaced his original grocery shop with a
substantial brick building. The interior was divided into three departments —
a front store with a grocery on one side, a drapery on the other, an office in the
middle and another store at the back. At the time of its opening in 1877, it was
described as being equal to any store in South Canterbury. The building is now
in use as the local Scout Den.


Other important developments in the same year included Morris and
Mendleson’s new store situated where the present supermarket stands. The
original building was constructed of wood and iron and the back section of it
still serves the present supermarket as a storeroom.


In the early days, the front part of the store was used for general retailing
and the back section was a grain and produce store.
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    A very early photo of the township taken about 1890.

  




In 1878, Mr McKibben built the third grocery shop in the town which
replaced one built by Fraser and Mcleod and later owned by Morris. It was
situated in the vicinity of the garage presently run by Pleasant Point Motors
Ltd. Some time later, McKibben purchased the other store owned by Morris
and Mendleson and replaced the front section with the substantial two-storeyed
brick building which now houses the supermarket.


A report in a Timaru Herald of 1877 announced the opening of an agency
for the Bank of New Zealand with the comment that it was “good news for
The Point and the neighbourhood.” It was situated in the Afghan Street
vicinity but appears to have been short-lived at that stage as a report on the
Point in the ‘Temuka Leader’ of 8 November 1879 criticises its closure.


In the same article, the businesses of the township are listed: “There are
three general stores; Mr Morris’s shop, Mr Emmes’s large brick store built by
Mr Strachan and Mr McKibben’s ...... ”


There was a baker’s shop owned by Mr A. MacDonald in the Railway Hotel
building; a bakehouse in the back yard of Morris’s store skirting Morris Lane;
Mr Acton’s butchery on the Main Road near the Point Hotel and next door to
Mr Anderson’s wheel and millwright shop; Mr Hobbs’s tailoring
establishment in Maitland Street, (now the property of Stowell Engineers); Mr
Prentice’s shoemaking business, (thought to have been in the vicinity of the
shopping mall opposite the railway station); Mr Bullock’s saddlery in Afghan
Street, which was where the BNZ agency was located. By this stage, there were
also two boarding houses in the township.


Two livery stables served the travelling public. The Point Stables had been
established by Wm. Warne when, before the advent of the railway, he ran a
coach service to Timaru. They were later owned by Mr Glen. The Railway
Stables were owned by Wm. Halstead.


Residents of outlying districts would travel to the Point by horse and gig,
leave their horses at the stables and continue their journey to Timaru by train.
The stables also ran a buggy and saddle horse hire service.
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    The township at the turn of the century viewed from Cemetery Hill. Gammie's
    blacksmith shop is in the foreground.

  




In 1879, Mr Gorram Lambert opened a chemist shop on the site which was
later to house the Post Office. The advertisement in the Timaru Herald
announcing its opening stated that he had commenced business as chemist and
druggist and that horse and cattle medicines of all descriptions were held in
stock. It would appear that Drs Lovegrove and Hammond of Timaru used his
dispensary as their consulting rooms on Mondays and Thursdays from three to
four o’clock.
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    The township about 1900. Lambert's first chemist shop, later a dressmaking
    business is the building on the left.

  




By 1897, Lambert’s Chemist had moved from Afghan Street and established
premises on “one of the best sites in the township,” situated on the corner of
Main Road and Halstead Road. In addition to his stock of “druggist
sundries” he added “fancy wares of all kinds”.


The Timaru Herald reported: “Mr F . White, who has experience in
Bookselling, Stationery Business is to supervise hand-books for farmers, a new
departure for Pleasant Point and one which should meet with favour and
encouragement.”


A residence was attached to the shop and behind it was a large tin shed
which was a cordial factory run by Mr Lambert’s son Arthur. His lemonade
and ginger ale were renowned throughout South Canterbury. Mr Wells tells
how, as a child, he would join the other local children in the rush to help
Arthur each morning to push the cart loaded with cordial up to the two hotels
for the reward of a free lemonade. Once a week, Mr Lambert caught the local
train to Fairlie and distributed his cordial to the hotels along the way.


By this time, a Post Office was functioning in the Railway Station and the
1880s brought further development to the township.


Mr John Crawford moved from his little cob cottage on the corner of Shere
and Afghan Streets and set up house and boot-maker’s business at 7 Afghan
Street, and his son Bill carried on the trade he had learnt from his father. (In 1942,
the house was moved to higher ground on the section, renovated and is still is use
today.)
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    Crawford's Bootmaker's business in Afghan Street.

  




Mr G. Dixon opened a fruit and confectionery business a little way back
from the Main Road where the Jopp Buildings now stand and, in the late
1890s, Mr Collins opened a bakery business in Te Ngawai Road on the creek
side of the present Scout Den.


At about the same time, another bakery, owned by Mr Adams, started up
on the property now occupied by Shortus‘s General Store.


Growth of the township meant a greater demand for houses. Mr Henry
Rogers was a master builder and, in 1874, took on H.C. Dossett, then aged 13,
as apprentice. After serving his apprenticeship, he commenced business on his
own account and carried on for well over fifty years. He also set up business as
undertaker at 15 Te Ngawai Road.
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    Dixon's fruitshop located in the vicinity of Jopp's Buildings.

  




Mr Edwards started a paint and paper-hanging business next door to
Morris’s store and Mr Exell, who lived in a cob cottage on the corner of Shere
and Afghan Streets, made sun-baked bricks for many houses in the district. He
excavated the clay from the creek at the back of his property.


Early homes in the township were very simple cottages; Some were of cob or
sod, others of wood and a few more substantial ones were of limestone. Few
remain standing today.
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    One of the few early homesteads still standing built for the Agnew family.

  




Families were self-sufficient with a cow in the back paddock, hens at the
bottom of the vegetable garden and, in many instances, a pig was housed on
the plot to consume the surplus milk and provide the year’s bacon supply. Home
made butter was the order of the day.


Life for the housewife was busy and basic, her entire life being centred
round the care of the family and home. Amenities were scarce with most
homes devoid of kitchen sink, bathroom and laundry. Water was pumped
from an underground well by an outside hand pump and cooking was done
over an open fire. Sanitation left a lot to be desired with a ‘privy‘ at the bottom
of the garden path.


Many housewives would be left to cope alone while their men folk were
away for days or weeks at a time working as drovers, shearers, mill hands or
on road and railway construction.


In spite of their busy lives, it would appear that some people made time for
sport and recreation. A tennis club, a football club and a cricket club were all
functioning before the turn of the century.


A jockey club was formed in the 1880s and race meetings were held under
the chairmanship of Josephus Murphy, the Point Hotel proprietor. In the
Timaru Herald of December 11th 1882, notice of a race meeting stated the
sweepstake to be one sovereign for acceptors with a sum of money added for
the winner. The second horse was to receive three sovereigns from the stakes.
The Race Meeting was scheduled to begin “immediately after the arrival of the
3.30pm train from Timaru.”


A meeting in 1886 was described as passing off “very quietly without at all
taxing the energies of the preservers of the peace.”


A boxing match, described as one of the first in South Canterbury, was held
in the Point Livery Stables. Candles along the walls of the loose boxes served
for lighting and a large box was used as the ring. “Gloves were supplied by Mr
Murphy, Mr Dossett and others.”


Mr Wm. Crawford relates how another sport was illegally carried on in
these stables — that of cock fighting!


There must also have been a keen interest in fishing as, on 24 January 1877,
John Knight brought two thousand salmon smolt from Christchurch and
liberated them in the Opihi River seven miles from Pleasant Point. Also,
Messrs Meek and Howell had acquired twelve young trout from the Otago
Acclimatisation Society and released them in a branch of the Te Ngawai River
near the Point.


Music, sewing and cribbage classes were organised by the Pleasant Point
Mutual Improvement Association under the control of the Presbyterian
Church. Fortnightly meetings were held and a journal of their literary pursuits
was apparently edited in 1896.


Lodges were formed in the township for the purpose of providing sickness
benefits for members. A man who was unable to work would receive from
fifteen shillings to one pound with free medical attendance and, in the event of
death, his family was entitled to about 20 pound. Should a man's wife die, 15
pound was allowed for funeral expenses. To secure these benefits, members
subscribed from 6d to 1/- weekly.


The Lodge of Good Templars, named ‘Anchor of Hope‘, was first instituted
in 1874 and the Oddfellows Lodge, with a membership of 21, was established
in 1891. They built their own hall in Maitland Street (now Gospel Hall).


When the Orange Lodge was established in 1883, it was described as “the
largest gathering of its kind ever seen at The Point.” Members set about
building their own Orange Lodge Hall but their plans were fraught with disaster.
Foundations were laid on the property between the Manse and Manse
Road, now owned by the Presbyterian Church. Each time the building was
commenced, the Irish catholics from Kerrytown would come and pull it down,
so it never was completed.


A report in a Timaru Herald of 1897 says: “The history of halls in Pleasant
Point would make an interesting chapter on ‘how not to do it’ — the Orange
Hall, for instance, which is all foundation and nothing else, looks like a
graveyard in the middle of the township.”


Many of the younger generation must find it hard to picture life as it was in
those early days but it has to be acknowledged that the fortitude of these
pioneers laid the foundations for the way of life we enjoy in the township
today.



      
        
  The Changing Business Scene




Time has wrought changes upon the commercial sector of the township but,
throughout its history, businesses have come and gone according to the needs
of the community of the day.


Up until the 1930s, horses were the most used means of transport and each
farmer kept a team of four to six. Consequently, there was a constant demand
for blacksmiths, wheelwrights and saddlers.


At the turn of the century, three blacksmiths were trading on the triangle
formed by Maitland Street and Main and Te Ngawai Roads in close proximity
to the livery stables and the hotels. A fourth blacksmith was established on
what is now the playing area next to the Town Hall.


The internal combustion engine brought about a decline in these trades as,
during the 1920s and 30s, motor cars and tractors replaced the horses, and
garages began to replace the blacksmiths.


Then, in the 1930s, the Great Depression began to have its effects on the
township and several businesses were forced to close. Although the demand
for services was still there, the money to pay for them was lacking.


A garage proprietor of that era tells how he worked for six weeks without
collecting one penny for his labours. The crunch came when a client who had
owed him 25 Pound for a long time, asked him to square it off at 20 Pound.
On being paid 21 Pound, the proprietor decided to cut his losses and quit.


After the war, rising wool prices brought prosperity to the farmers. More
mechanisation in agriculture created a demand for engineering workshops.
New houses began to replace the old and the building trade flourished. The
increasing number of dwellings brought about demands for better shopping
facilities and empty shops once again became occupied.


By the 1960s, people began to appreciate the benefits of living in a small
community in preference to the city. Good roads, cheap petrol and ready
access to the town meant more and more people were happy to commute daily
to work in the city and elsewhere.


Sub-division of farmlets on the perimeter of the township made building
sections readily available at lower prices than those in the City. The completion
of a sewerage system further enhanced the desirability of living in Pleasant
Point so that, today, sections are scarce and at a premium within the township
boundaries.


In our changing lifestyles, the supermarket has replaced the general family
grocery stores and the local bakeries. In days gone by, the grocers made
deliveries in the outlying areas on a regular basis. Orders for the weekly
delivery were made by telephone and duly despatched on delivery day. Two or
three delivery runs a week into various district were not uncommon.


Similarly, the bakers made their rounds with freshly baked bread until
centralisation of bakeries with high-scaled production brought about the
collapse of small, local bakeries.


To appreciate the changing scene over this century, it is perhaps easiest to
site the businesses long since gone in relationship to those which operate today.


So, starting at the western end of the Main Road where Pleasant Point began,
let us move through the town and picture those former years.
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    Welch's Bread delivery cart.

  




On the corner of Maitland Street and Main Road, Mr Andrews had his
blacksmith shop. Over the years, the names associated with this business
include Wells, Mulligan, Hammond and Zwarts but it remained a blacksmith‘s
for many years. In its latter years it specialised in the manufacture of farm
machinery under the proprietorship of David Read. He built a new concrete
block building and demolished the original corrugated iron shed.


After gaining a market in Australia for hay feeding machinery, his business
expanded rapidly. Staff increased from three to eighteen and the workshop
became inadequate. When, in 1982, the Church land in Te Ngawai Road was
zoned industrial, plans went ahead to build a new workshop and offices there
and this was completed two years later.


In the meantime, however, the business was sold to Dalgety Ltd. They
continued manufacturing as Read Engineering until they were absorbed by
Challenge Corporation whereon the Pleasant Point operation was closed
down.


Another blacksmith’s, originally owned by Cameron and later by Burgoine,
Gibson and Kennedy, functioned on the corner of Maitland Street and Te
Ngawai Road. The business was carried on into the 1970s by Rose and
Stevenson. It, too, has been replaced by a bigger, concrete block workshop
under the proprietorship of Keith Stowell who operates an engineering business.


Next to the Andrews smithy, Mr W. Wakefield had a car body repair and
paint business for some time. It was once a garage owned by Syd Gray but had
been forced to close during the depression.


About 1910, Mr ET. Lienert took over the wheelwright and coach building
business in the middle of that block previously owned by J. Elder and later his son,
Don. He built gigs, spring-drays and waggons and it was not unusual to see 20 to 30
different types of wheels in his yard and workshop waiting to be fitted with steel tyres.


As later modes of transport developed, Mr Lienert supplied and fitted solid
rubber tyres and, for a time, was involved in building motor bodies. In the mid
1920s, he began manufacturing mauls. The rings for them were forged out of
old gig tyres, worn by road use to a half-round section. The mauls were sold
under the brand name ‘Hard-hitter’ which soon became known throughout the
country with agencies as far away as Auckland. Soldiers of World War II
recounted seeing them in use in Egypt and the Pacific.
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    View of Maitland Street & Main Road taken about 1910, with the original coach and wheelwright
    building in the foreground. When owned by D. Elder it included an undertaker's business. The butcher's
    shop is on the right.

  




After much perseverance to perfect the tempering process, the factory
manufactured a good quality slasher which became popular with foresters and
scrub-cutters. From this, they moved into other tools such as grubbers, bag
and bale hooks, crowbars and so on.


Business expanded as the Lienert name became well known throughout the
country and, in 1946, a company was formed, the three share holders being Mr
E.T. Lienert and his sons Eric and Rex. This was the only firm in New Zealand
manufacturing these products and, in a year, they produced 38,000 fine-edged
cutting tools of several patterns. Spring work and gas and electric welding were
specialties.


After Mr Lienert senior’s death in 1956, his sons carried on the business for
another twenty years. It was then sold to Messrs Guthrie, Joyce and Hessell
but continued to operate under its original name. In the 1980s, inflation
increased production costs to the extent that hand-forging became uneconomic
and experiments with other methods resulted in a poor product. In 1984, fire
destroyed the old factory building and the firm closed down.


So ended a prosperous era and one that provided much needed employment
in a country town. During its life, E.T. Lienert Ltd employed over four
hundred workers and earned a respected name in the manufacturing world.


Next door, the butcher’s shop established by Acton continued to function for
some years under J. Cunningham until he forsook this occupation for that of
stock agent. The shop then remained empty until it was demolished to make
room for extensions to Atkinson and Dossett's garage.


At the turn of the century, the Pleasant Point Hotel on the corner where the
garage is now located, was a thriving business. A two-storied brick building
built round the original accommodation house, it comprised thirty rooms in its
hey-day — 15 bedrooms, 8 sitting rooms, a dining room which seated 40
guests and a commodious billiards room, always popular with the patrons.


A small shop attached to the hotel functioned first as a saddlery business
owned by Paddy MacAteer and later as a bicycle shop run by Frank Birse. The
adjoining livery stables contained 24 stalls and 4 loose boxes.


This hotel remained a popular landmark until it was gutted by fire in
December 1927. Licensing laws were such that a liquor bar had to be
functioning within 24 hours for the licence to be retained. This clause was not
observed and the licence lapsed. Thus ended a colourful span in the history of
the township. Names associated with the Point Hotel over the years were:
McIlwrick, Edwards, Josephus Murphy, Con Burns, John Murphy,
O’Sullivan, O’Donnell, McKay and Peach.


On the hotel site, Mr Wm. Field set up a small service station about 1930.
Later owners were Gordon Gliddon and Alan Woods and from these small
beginnings, it became a servicing garage run by Greenwood Bros. It was
eventually taken over by Atkinson and Dossett who expanded the business to
what it is today.
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    Field's Service Station built on the site of the original accommodation house; now Atkinson and
    Dossett's Garage.

  




On the opposite corner of Main and Te Ngawai Roads, The Railway Hotel
also carried on a thriving business until it, too, was destroyed by fire on 29
January, 1911. Then known as Nelligan’s block, (he being the proprietor at the
time), it consisted of four buildings housing J. S. Chisholm’s grocery, Mr
Murphy’s butchery, another shop and Mr Harker’s bakery.


Following the fire, a tin shed was quickly erected to serve as a bar, so
enabling the licence to be retained. For a short time, the bar was transferred
to the baker’s shop in Te Ngawai Road but no time was lost in replacing the
hotel. A report in the Timaru Herald on 5 August, 1911 describes: “The
completion of a first class hotel of forty rooms complete with Billiard room of
latest design and its own power-house to generate electricity for lighting.”
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    The ‘Hotel Corner’ about 1900.

  




It remained a popular hotel accommodating people employed in the district
but having to live away from home. A shop was included at each end of the
new building and, over the years, the businesses carried on in them have been
many and varied.


Mr Cyril Collins had a men’s outfitters, Miss Friel, a lingerie shop, Miss
Norah Kelliher sold confectionery, as did Miss Bryant after her. This shop is
now a bottle store. The shop on the Te Ngawai Road side of the hotel was Alan Brooke’s bicycle
shop. It remained empty for many years and then, in the 1970s, it again had a
short session as a cycle shop but it is now used for storage.


Proprietors of the Railway Hotel have been numerous. They include
Nelligan, Jopp, Allington, Miss Wall, Woods, Doyle, Mitchell, Richardson, Hardy,
Yates, Procter, Conroy and Newsome.


The associated stables were situated on the Te Ngawai Road entrance side of
the hotel. Further stables known as ‘Petrov’ had an entrance way between the
Hotel and the supermarket.


From the time the original iron building was erected in 1878, the
Supermarket has always housed a general store. For many years it was known
as McKibben’s store as he was the first owner of the present building. (His
name can still be seen on the plaster facing of the upper storey). Bachelor,
Oswald Jones, Hitchcock, Wilson, O’Rourke, Hoskin Bros. all served the
town as grocers in this store. In 1964 it was taken over by the Canterbury
Farmers’ Co-operative Association and is now run as a Supermarket by
Smith’s Wholesale Grocers.



  [image: Ch4 5]
  
    Manse Hill Corner showing the original Boarding House and the ill-fated Orange Hill foundations.

  




Next door, where the Supermarket yard is, A.L. Thoreau ran a
‘Handyman‘s' business. Grain threshing, picture framing, making farm
troughs, etc. were some of the services offered. In the late 1930s, he moved
into the shop once owned by Strachan and set up a second hand dealer’s
business.


After the hotel fire of 1911, R. Murphy built a new butcher‘s shop on the
corner of Morris Lane and Main Road. It remained the local butchery until
1979 when it was moved into the new shopping complex. Local butchers have
been Green, F. Friel and his son Jim, and Fitzgerald. For a short time, Dave
Allnutt operated a plumbing business from the old shop and at present, it is a
Fishing Tackle shop.
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    The Saddlery and Tailor's shop where ‘Rainbow's End’ now operates. W.T. Taylor and C.T. Borrel in front.

  




In 1904 a saddlery business was started in what is now the Craft Shop and on
the side nearest the garage, W.H. Cox ran a tailor’s business. The Saddlery
was bought by Mr John Forno in 1911 and later leased to Ernest Workman for
seven years. In 1914, however, he sold it to John Hennessy whose wife became
owner in 1924. Later that year, she leased it to Chas. Borreil for five years.
When he shifted to Geraldine, his assistant, W.T. Taylor, who had worked
there since 1920, became the saddler and, in 1936, bought the shop from Mrs
Hennessy.


After World War II, Doug Smith trained as a saddler aid managed the
business after W.T. Taylor moved to the North Island. Eventually, after Mr
Taylor’s death, Mr Smith bought the business and continued until his
retirement in 1986.


In 1946, Mr Taylor purchased from GP. Chapman, the shop originally
owned by Mr Cox and ran it as a footwear department in conjunction with the
saddlery. At one stage, this shop had also been used as a second-hand dealer’s
by Mr Thoreau. Structurally, the building has changed little since it was built
in 1904. It is characterised by a hitching post which has been there since that
date.


The original McKibben’s store, situated where Pleasant Point Motors now
operate, had a varied history while it existed. After being a grocery, it became
a bicycle shop owned very early in the century by Bob Knox. When, in 1914, he
moved his business further down the street, Mr Gosling turned it into a fruit
and confectionery shop. Later, part of it became a Barber's Shop with an
adjoining billiards saloon run by Bill Mackie who, because of his wooden leg,
was always known as ‘Crutchy’.


This building ended its days as a homestead at 18 Te Ngawai Road where
Mrs Nelligan, the purchaser, converted it into a sophisticated dwelling of its
day. It remained there until demolished after the 1986 flood.


According to Mr Wells, the site was bought out by Mr Jopp, hotel
proprietor but Mr Mackie’s lease had not yet expired. Consequently, the
garage had to be built in two sections. The back part was built first and the front was
built after Mr Mackie’s lease had expired. Mr John A. Smith was the first garage
proprietor and subsequent ones have been Bradley Bros; Howey and Sons, Small,
Paul & McFadgen and later, W. Johnston & G. Howey partnership, Robin Neale
and Brian Schimanski.


When Goslings started their fruitery, Miss Dunne closed her sweet shop, once
owned by Dixon which was somewhat back from the road on an adjoining section.
This building also became a residence at 2 Miro Street, likewise demolished as a
result of the flood.


About 1924, Mr Jopp erected ’Jopp Buildings’ on the site and businesses in
this block have also been many and varied.


Gay’s Gift Shop was, for many years, the tobacconist and Barber’s. At the
back of the shop was a billiards saloon which became very popular after 6
o’clock closing was introduced. Over the years, Jack Elder, Val Forbes, Taffy
King, O’Brien, O’Rourke, Grant and Hewitt have all been proprietors of this
shop. They were followed by Cliff Lamb who purchased the Jopp Buildings.


Of the two shops now occupied by the taxidermist, the one next to Gay’s
was Mr Probert’s Pharmacy, Kalksma’s Skin Treatment Rooms and Doctor’s
Surgery. The other was Mr Rendall’s Florist and Green Grocer’s, but, during
the depression, both shops were empty for a long time.


After the war, the end shop reopened as a grocery for a short time and
then Mr Gair set up his General Drapery in it, moving there from Clontarf
House. After that it was a fish and chip shop, then a clothing factory retail
outlet. Finally, Mr O’Rourke purchased the Jopp Buildings and transferred
his Taxidermy practice to the premises. He had originally operated at Clontarf
House.


The bakery stirted by Adams in the 1890s continued as such until 1964 when
the building was demolished. Owners included Woodward Bros; Delaney,
Ingram, Stevens and lastly, P.J. Bowman followed by his son Len. Mr
Bowman purchased the bakery in 1924 and his Tea Rooms became noted for
the hot meals served there. He also catered for local weddings in the Town
Hall and, for many years, had the contract for catering at the saleyards.


Following World War I, half the shop became the agency for the Bank of
New Zealand operating from Timaru. The bank employee came out on the
morning train and returned to Timaru on the afternoon one. Bank days always
coincided with sale day.


When the building was demolished, Pyne Gould Guinness built the big store
now occupied by Shortus’s General Store and established a stock and station
agency. The economic decline in the farming industry over the past decade led
to the closure of this business in 1986. The old bakehouse still stands at the
back of the section and serves as a trading post in conjunction with Shortus’s
Store.


The Education Department Bus Depot had its beginnings as a Motor and
Cycle Works run by Mr Knox when he moved from his previous business. It
was later taken over by Smith and Agnew partnership followed by John A.
Smith and, lastly, Tom Forrest. It was always referred to as the Blue Garage.


When under the management of J.A. Smith, it was burnt out and he then
transferred his business to Pleasant Point Motors. The building remained
vacant through the depression and was next used when taken over by the
Education Department as a depot and servicing garage for the school buses.


On the corner of Halstead and Main Roads, Lambert’s Chemist Shop served
the public for many years. After Mr Lambert’s death in 1914, Barnett’s
Pharmacy of Christchurch acted as relieving chemist. Mr H.C.L. Dossett, who
had been in partnership with Mr Lambert, ultimately took over and changed
the business to a grocery which he operated until the late 1940s.


At the same time, Mr Dossett operated a taxi service in the township as well
as driving the District High School’s first school bus.


For a short time, the shop was in the hands of Mr Cross before being
purchased by Mr V.L. Burt who ran it for many years. It was closed down on
his retirement and then opened as a plant shop for a brief period. Finally, it
was destroyed by fire and the section on the corner where this once busy shop
stood is now empty.


On the opposite corner, Mr Bob Knox established a Drapery in the early
1920s. Having forsaken the cycle trade, he continued in this business until 1939
when Smith’s Open Warehouse of Timaru took over and set up a branch there.
After the war. Mr Don Fletcher converted the building into a garage and it has
operated as such ever since. Mr J. Dockerty and Sons became owners and his
son Mervyn still manages the business.


The Dairy opposite the railway began as a cabinet maker’s shop about 1908.
It was owned by Zaccnari Berri who also conducted an Undertaker's business.
It is said that he carried a ruler with him wherever he went just in case business
came his way!


When Pleasant. Point Motors was established, Mr Gosling moved his fruit
and confectionery business to the Dairy and stayed for many years also selling
school stationery. The shop has continued in this line of business ever since.
Among other owners have been Williams, Cowie, Lindsay, Beynon, Gregory and,
Kennett.


On the site where the new shopping complex is situated, W.J. Oborn ran a
bootmaker’s business for many years and F. Wilson had a wood and coal
merchant’s yard. This yard later became Gould’s Cartage Depot.


Fire destroyed the Bootmaker’s in the 1940s and the business ceased to
function. When restored, the premises housed the first Fire Brigade.


Next door to it, Mr Stan Cook built another milk bar and tea-rooms in 1963
which was attached to his house. The business was expanded into a grocery
and, like the other Dairy, operated a seven day service. The business was
managed by Walsh, then Smith before being destroyed by fire in 1988.


Reticulation of electricity in country districts in the 1950s created the need
for an electrician in the township. Mr Davison set up business where the
present Veterinary Service is housed. He was succeeded by Paul Wilkes and
then Peter Cross before the Veterinary Service was established in its place.
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    Afghan Street early this century.

  




A small business area functioned in Afghan Street from early times. The
original Saddlery later became the ‘Haerei Mai’ Grocery run by the Geaney
family. In 1911, Mrs Geaney built a two-storey building named Clontarf
House at the western end of Afghan Street. The upper storey was living
quarters and the lower a shop, originally a Drapery. Frank Birse once used it
for his cycle shop and, for many years, it was unoccupied. For a short time
after the war, both Smith’s Open Warehouse and Mr Gair rented it as a
Drapery. G.D. O’Rourke then purchased the building and started up his
Taxidermist business until it was transferred to the premises on the main Road
and Clontarf House was demolished.


The original Chemist shop on Afghan Street became a dressmaking business
run by the Misses McIntyre and Hamilton when Mr Lambert vacated the
building. It continued so until 1912 when the existing Post Office building was
built.
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    The township in 1920's.
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    The township in 1913.
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    Afghan Street showing Post Office and Contarf House.

  




The Strachan store in Te Ngawai Road continued as a grocery until the late
1930s. Subsequent owners were Campbell and W. Thomas, then it became a
second hand shop run by AL. Thoreau.


The bakery next door, started by Collins was continued by McAlister. For a
short time early in the century, it was a butchery and, after the Railway Hotel
fire, it became a temporary liquor bar to enable the hotel to retain its licence.
In 1912, it was purchased by Geo. Harker whose bakery had been destroyed in
the fire. Mays and, later, Welches carried on the business and a tea-rooms was
run in conjunction with the bakery. When Mr Welch‘s daughter Jean closed
the business in 1964, the property was bought by Cook and Sons. In the 1970s,
a Panel Beater erected a building and set up business on the site but the
building is now vacant.


In Maitland Street, George Saunders had a threshing mill yard and his
cousin Mark had a work shop and junk yard. A fish shop once functioned in
this area, presumably near where the joinery factory now stands.


Another threshing mill yard, owned by J. Tozer, was situated on the Main
Road and one owned by Wm. Clarke was between Harris Street 81 Main Rd. Both are
now full of houses. In the same block in Harris Street, Miller Patrick owned a
chaffcutter. These machines all became defunct with the advent of the header.


A dairy factory had been proposed as early as 1888 but, presumably, the
required number of shares to set it up did not eventuate. In March 1902,
another meeting was held under the direction of South Canterbury Dairy
Company. The required four hundred five pound shares must have been
subscribed as the Creamery opened in October I902. Its ’wood and iron
building with concrete foundations’ is still standing, having been converted
into a private residence many years ago.


Situated at 19 Halstead Road, the Creamery was described as being well
equipped with an engine, a boiler and a 510 gallon Crown separator. Cream
was supplied by farmers as far out as Sutherlands, the lower end of Totara
Valley and Waitohi and Kerrytown. Cows milked in these areas totalled 170.


Mr John Thomson managed the Creamery and the cream was sent daily to
Timaru. The skim milk was collected by local residents for feeding their pigs.


Further along Halstead Road where there is now a children’s playground.
Wm. Halstead had a fellmongery. Long before the turn of the century he was
scouring the wool from the Levels Estate. To do this, he dammed up the
School Creek and built a flume for the water to run into two concrete tubs
where the wool was scoured. It was then spread out on sheets on the ground to
dry. Mr Halstead’s son Ellis continued the business after his father died. He
specialised in wool-classing, dealt in sheep, skins and crutchings and even gave
wool-classing instruction to the pupils at the District High School.


For some time, a communal woolshed stood in Halstead Road. An old tin
shed, originally Mark Saunders‘s workshop, was shifted to a site opposite the
Plunket Rooms and local residents with small flocks of sheep could take them
there to be shorn, etc.


In the building trade, Willy Wilson, who lived in Matai Street, was
responsible for building many of the houses of the 1920-40 era. His
apprentices, Rowlie Gliddon and Keith Candy ultimately set up on their own
account.


After World War II Mr Tom Gillies established a big building business in
Totara Street which included a joinery factory. At the peak of his operation he
employed fifteen to twenty men and undertook many of the big construction
works in and around the district.


The business was later taken over by Noel Guthrie who established a wood-
turning lathe to turn handles for the Lienert factory which he had also
acquired. The building side of the business was gradually run down as demand
lor housing fell off in the late 1970s.


Over the years, there have been allied tradesmen such as painters and
paperhangers in the township, W. McMillan, T. Corlett and H. Dykstra being
examples.


Today this is all past history but each of these businesses answered to the
needs of the community in its day.



      
        
  The Commercial Sector Today




The commercial sector of Pleasant Point is a very different scene today from
that of the pioneering days. The busy triangle formed by Maitland Street and
Main and Te Ngawai Roads is a somewhat subdued scene in contrast to that of
a hundred years ago.


The clanging anvil and bellowing forge of the blacksmiths and wheelwrights
have long since gone to be replaced with quick and efficient acetylene and
electric welding tools in the engineering workshops that function there today.


At the point of the triangle, Beach Engineering is a general workshop
specialising in the manufacture of farm equipment such as silos, hayracks, etc.
Also, work is done under contract to Kerry Engineering, farm implement
manufacturers of Kerrytown.


On the corner of Maitland Street and Te Ngawai Road is Pleasant Point
Engineering owned by Keith Stowell who specialises in the repair and
maintenance of farm machinery, servicing a large proportion of the
surrounding district.


The only other business in the triangle today is Atkinson and Dossett’s
Garage. In 1960, Tom Dossett and Roger Atkinson Snr. bought the garage and
service station with a fleet of four buses from Greenwood Bros. Apart from
occasional charter work for sports teams, etc., the buses were used for
conveying children to and from school.


The business has expanded over the years to meet public demand and they
now have a fleet of twenty-four buses, ten of which are located in other
centres. The coach business is known as ‘Landmark Lines’ and is serviced by
their own garage staff. They also operate six school buses under contract to
Pleasant Point Schools and the Rural Mail Delivery service for the
surrounding district. Since the closure of the Post Office in 1989, Atkinson
and Dossett have taken on the NZ. Post Agency as well as the township postal
delivery service.


The upper floor of the building facing the Main Road which once housed
Lienert’s Offices, is now the doctor’s consulting rooms.


Opposite the triangle on Maitland Street, the sounds of forge and anvil are
still to be heard echoing from the workshop where Gareth James practises the
age-old craft of the blacksmith. He specialises in wrought iron work making
anything from drive gates to cutlery and has a showroom at ‘The Artisan’ on
Maitland Street.


On the corner of Main and Te Ngawai Roads, the Hotel, with Mr and Mrs
Tony Newsome as proprietors, provides accommodation, a good dining room,
public bar and lounge and is popular social venue for the district.


Next door on the Main Road is the Supermarket owned by Smith’s
Wholesale Ltd. which has replaced the general stores of yesteryear. Gone are
the days of telephoned orders, personal delivery and the monthly credit
account. Instead, the customer pushes a trolley round and helps himself then
queues at the check-out desk to pay cash.


Where meat and money once changed hands at the shop on the corner of
Morris Lane, a fishing tackle supplier has set up shop and produces the
‘WhopperStopper‘ brand of lures — sixty varieties in all. Besides making and selling
fishing tackle, the proprietor A. Gilbert operates a resilvering business for trophies
and table ware.


The Saddlery of bygone years now houses the ‘Rainbow’s End' Co-Operative,
an outlet for locally crafted goods. It is run by a committee made up of local church
representatives. The idea developed after the 1986 flood — hence the
name when it was felt that such an enterprise would be of benefit to the
numerous talented people in the district who occupy their time with
handicrafts. The profits are put back into the community.


Next door is Pleasant Point Motors, a garage and petrol station owned by
Brian Schimanski and, in Jopp‘s Building, now owned by GD. O’Rourke and
Sons, is their family Taxidermy. This business, which began as Gerald O’Rourkes
hobby, has grown into a flourishing concern with three of his sons engaged in it and
has served the hunting fraternity for twentyrfive years or more. The firm caters mainly
for the weekend hunter who brings his catch to be mounted as a trophy to adorn
his home. Some work has been exported to wholesalers and retailers around
the world and clients from as far afield as Africa and Australia send trophies
to be mounted. Gerald O’Rourke is now retired and his sons carry on the
business.


In part of the same building where their grandfather was once the Men's
Hairdresser, Gay’s Gift Shop sells stationery, toys and bric-a-brac besides
operating a news and magazine agency.


Further along is Shortus‘s General Store where Cliff Shortus has
successfully attempted to reinstate the old style of country store where
anything from a nail to a pair of boots can be purchased. In what was the old
bakehouse in the back yard, he also has a second hand trading post.
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The ‘Blue Garage’ of yore continues in the same line of business as a
servicing station and garage for Education Department buses under the
supervision of R. Taylor.


On the corner of Halstead and Main Roads, Mervyn Dockerty operates the
third garage in the township. It was formerly owned by his father.


Next door to this is Kennett’s Dairy which is a seven day business
incorporating milk bar, green grocery, tea shop, news agency, video hire and
now, Lotto.


The opening of an eight unit shopping mall in 1979 marked the biggest
venture in the commercial sector for many years. This colonial style complex,
built at a cost of $137,000, was the brainchild of A. Izard, dairy farmer of
Totara Valley and ].J. Friel, local butcher for many years. The premises now
contain a butchery under the proprietorship of B. Wilson, Keene’s Pharmacy
which fulfilled a long unsatisfied need in the community, and Trust Bank
South Canterbury which first came to Pleasant Point with the opening of the
Mall. Since then, its services have expanded to advancing loans in the
commercial and farming sectors as well as home and personal loans.


With the closure of the Post Office in June 1989, Trust Bank became the
only banking service in the township and account holders increased
accordingly. These services are much appreciated by those who have to depend
on local facilities and, as an additional benefit, the profits are returned to the
community in the form of donations and sponsorships for local voluntary
organisations. Next door to the bank was a drapery for some years with Mrs D. Te
Koeiti and, later, Mrs B. Stewart as proprietors. This business was closed down in
1987 but the shop has recently been reoccupied.


Under the name ‘Stitches‘, part of it is run by Mrs Val Blakemore in conjunction
with her hairdressing salon. When not hair-dressing, Mrs Blakemore spends
her time sewing garments to order besides selling material and sewing
accessories. ‘Clippers’ Hair Dressing Salon caters for men, women and
children in hair- cutting and styling to a professional standard.


Strathallan Electrical Services, under the management of M. Sword,
occupies the next shop and sells and services a wide variety of electrical
appliances and sound equipment. A repairs and installation service is also
provided.


The last shop in the Mall accommodates the ‘Snowline Food Bar’ which,
besides fish and chips, sells a variety of fast foods. The first fish and chip
outlet in Pleasant Point was opened in the Jopp Building in the late [9603 by
Mr and Mrs Ben Sheard. It changed hands several times and transferred to its
present situation when the new complex opened.


At 51 Main Road, where a milk bar and grocery once operated, R. Stratton
has set up his ‘Cortez’ Leather Workshop. His business grew from a hobby
learnt from an elderly friend. He is one of only four bag pipe specialists in New
Zealand and makes wind bags for pipes and dress sporrans and drum slings for
pipers. He also specialises in sandal making and sells a large range of sports
bags.


Further along Main Road, occupying what was once the electrical services
shop, is Aorangi Veterinary Services clinic. This was one of a chain of
branches set up by the Timaru based parent clinic in the late 1970s. The
continuing growth in numbers of its clientele demonstrates the demand it has
satisfied both for pet owners in the township and farmers in the surrounding
districts.


Another enterprise which has been operating in Pleasant Point since 1942 is
Cook and Sons’ Sawmill at the end of Morris Lane. When it first started up, it
was considered to be only temporary due to an apparent lack of millable trees
in the area. However. Cooks stretched the limit and still find plenty of work. A
family business, it is now operated by the third generation and employs fifteen
to twenty workmen.


On their arrival, the only equipment Cooks had was a traction engine and
two saws. Today the mill is well equipped with up-to-date electrical and
hydraulic gear. Timber is purchased from as far afield as Tekapo and Kakahu
and wood lots are bought in from local farmers. Contract work is also
undertaken for Timberlands.


In spite of a disastrous fire in 1984 which destroyed much of the
machinery, the mill was rebuilt on the same site and continues to prosper.
Most of the sawn timber is sold locally but some is now exported. Off-cuts and
waste are cut into blocks and sold for firewood around South Canterbury.


Pleasant Point has long been noted for its fine honey. Mr Dick Holland first
established an apiary in the district in a small way during the depression of the
1930s and the business gradually expanded. He then set up a honey packing
business in Horton Street for which he patented a honey creaming method.
This enabled him to produce New Zealand’s finest packed honey.


In 1968, the packing business was purchased by the New Zealand Honey
Marketing Authority which operated it until 1981 when it was sold to the New
Zealand Honey Cooperative. It is now the biggest honey factory in the
country, packing a thousand tonnes a year and also exporting bulk lots of
honey around the world.


When Dick Holland took to honey processing in the 1950s, he sold his
apiaries of 700 hives to Fred Bartrum who, with his son Paul, has increased the
number of hives to 3000. They employ three men and run the business from
the premises on the Main Road opposite the domain. In 1957 Mr Bartrum
pioneered beekeeping in the Mackenzie Country and his hives are now spread
over a vast area.


Until recently, Stephen Robins operated another bee-keeping business from
his property on Manse Road. It was started by his father in 1953 but the hives
have now been sold to the Bartrum family.


Cyclemakers Group Limited began production in Pleasant Point in October
1981 under the chairmanship of B.J. Jackson of Timaru who had a long
experience in the Cycle Retail Industry. Ian Hooker was the managing director
with several years of experience in cycle manufacturing.


Pleasant Point was selected as a site for the factory because the company
believed that a small town offered a lot of advantages for such a venture. With
few industries and a growing population in the township, it was felt that a
good labour force could be obtained. Also, people were likely to identify more
readily with a factory in a small town rather than if it were just another factory
in a large industrial area. Local pride in achievement would result in better
workmanship and harmonious industrial relations.


At the beginning the firm had a staff of ten and 400 retail outlets in the
country. Production has expanded over the years and it is now the only cycle
designer and manufacturer in New Zealand. The lifting of import controls in
July 1988 had a profound effect on the industry and caused other
manufacturers to close down.


Cyclemakers produce a full range of cycle models. Parts are imported from
europe and Japan and frames are made at the Pleasant Point factory where
the machines are assembled. More than one hundred bicycles a day are
produced and sold all over New Zealand. It is the only distributor of the
French Peugot cycle range.


The factory is situated in Te Ngawai Road on land leased on a long-term
basis from the Anglican Church Property Trust. At the time of writing, about
thirty-five people are employed in full-time or temporary positions.


On the neighbouring site facing onto Greig Street is Pleasant Point Panel
Beaters owned by D. Bell and C. Race. This business was first established in
the township by Barry Esler who built a workshop on Te Ngawai Road in the
late 1970s. When the Church property was zoned industrial in the early 1980s,
he built a bigger workshop there and, later, sold the business.


In recent years, small berry fruit production has been carried on in the
township. In Greig Street, John Rolston established a blueberry orchard and
supplies an expanding market, both local and in the U.S.A. from the 2000
fruit bushes on his property.


Strawberries and raspberries are grown at Warren’s Gardens in Burke Street
and sold locally and under contract to Canterbury Berry Fruit Company and
Raspberry Marketing Authority for distribution in New Zealand and overseas.


Mr Don Armstrong of Butlers Road grows 30 acres of black currants which
are sold to Barker’s Winery at Pleasant Valley and under contract to
Canterbury Fruit Company.


In Frederick Street, Reverend Cunliffe cultivates a tree and shrub nursery
specialising in New Zealand natives. He first established the nursery as a
hobby on his retirement from the Anglican ministry of Te Ngawai Parish.


Tradesmen operating in Pleasant Point today include builders N. Gould, R.
Earl, M. Beynon and L. Hardie; bricklayer J. Egan, electrician P. Clemens
and joiner K. Wills leasing D. Carter’s joinery business, all of whom
contribute to the self-sufficiency of the local building industry.



      
        
  Religion




In the pioneering days, families longed for the consolation of the Church
and, to meet this need, services were held ‘wherever two or three were gathered
together’; in home, woolshed, hotel or in the open air. Later, the school
became the centre for church services of varied denominations.


As early as 1838, Bishop Harper is recorded as having conducted church
services at the Levels sheep station and by 30 December, 1866 a meeting had
been called in Pleasant Point to discuss the erection of a building suitable for
divine worship and also a school. By the end of the meeting, subscriptions
amounted to fifty pounds and, within a short time, increased to sixty pounds.


Within six months, a twenty-eight by fourteen foot building situated on the
corner of Nikau Street and 60 Te Ngawai Road was opened for public
worship. It is reported in the Timaru Herald that the Right Reverend Lord
Bishop of Christchurch delivered an excellent sermon taking for his text,
Psalm 109, verse 1.


“The service was held in the evening and attendance was large. He stated
that, if promised subscriptions were paid promptly, the building would shortly
be painted and finished.”


As communities developed, separate denominations were established, each
with a clergyman given charge of the whole of South Canterbury. Anglicans
led the way.


On 9th January 1860. Rev. George Foster was licensed on behalf of the
Anglican Church to the curacy of the Pastoral District of South Canterbury,
an area extending from the Rangitata to Waitaki rivers and inland to the
Southern Alps.


In 1865, Rev. George Barclay was ordained as Presbyterian Minister for
Timaru and surrounding districts. It was he who was responsible for founding
the majority of the parishes now making up the South Canterbury Presbytery.


The stories of his adventures are legend. He travelled on horseback or by
buggy to every part of his parish and was once forced to watch one of his
horses drown in the Opihi river when his vehicle overturned. Yet he
unharnessed the other and rode on.


On another occasion, he leapt out of his gig as it was swept away with the
horse by flood waters and yet again, he was found unconscious in a paddock
whilst his horse grazed quietly at a distance. It is said that Barclay often
preached in torn garments with bleeding hands and the water squelching from
his boots.


Other denominations were also active in the early days. In the Timaru
Herald, mention is made in 1884 of the Salvation Army “having secured a
local habitation in the shape of a large building once used as a blacksmith’s
shop which they have fitted up as Barracks, steadily prosecuting their works
with some success.”


In the same article, reference is made to “the periodical Wesleyan services in
the school room being well attended."


The article also states: “If we cannot claim to be a highly religious
community, we can at least boast of about as many samples as our
neighbours.”!!


About that time, the Roman Catholic Church was also becoming established
in South Canterbury.


The Presbyterian Church


When Rev. Barclay began to conduct services in Pleasant Point, the village
consisted of a smithy, an accommodation house and one or two necessary
adjuncts. Services were at first held only on the rare occasions when Mr
Barclay had the opportunity to conduct them. They were held in the
schoolhouse or school.


Within ten years, the growth in population led to more regular services and
the congregation began to see the need for a permanent church. So, when Rev.
Barclay was made minister of Temuka, it was decided to join in with the rest of the
parish in engaging Rev. Murray for six months as Rev. Barclay’s assistant. Pleasant
Point was to contribute twenty-five pounds towards his salary. However, at the end
of the six months, it was decided to do without this assistance.


In November 1874, less than two years after Pleasant Point had become part
of a Temuka based parish, the township's Presbyterians opened a subscription
list towards their proposed church.


A site on the hill was offered by Mr. James Gammie, free of any charges. It
was situated next to his residence in what is now the western corner of the
church grounds. After careful consideration, this offer was accepted in
preference to one made by Mr McLellan of Timaru.


Plans were prepared gratis by Frank Wilson, a Timaru architect and such
was the progress of the undertaking that construction began in early 1875 and
was finished before the year was out. The church was built of wood and had
seating for 120. The opening day services were conducted by Rev. Barclay on
21st November 1875.


In the ensuing years, the arrival in South Canterbury of more and more
settlers increased the work of the church and the interest in it. Proposals were
being made for further division of the pastoral areas and, within two years, the
possibility of having a resident minister in Pleasant Point as the result of such
division, was being investigated.


In 1878, it was finally decided that the Pleasant Point district should form a
separate parish extending to the proposed Geraldine boundary in the north
and including Washdyke, Cave, Totara Valley and Pleasant Point.


This proposal was accepted by the Presbytery and the old Temuka Parish
was divided into three — Temuka, Pleasant Point and Geraldine which
included the Mackenzie Country. This became effective on May lst 1879 and,
on ZIst July that year, the Rev. A. Alexander was inducted as the first resident
minister of Pleasant Point.


With the arrival of a full-time minister, it became possible to establish places
of worship at Cannington, Totara Valley, Kakahu and Albury until it became
part of the Mackenzie parish in 1890.


Important milestones in the history of the parish before the turn of the
century included the erection of the first manse in 1881 and substantial
enlargements to it in 1897. This wooden residence, still in good repair, stands
in Manse Road over the crest of the hill from the existing church. In 1890 the
little limestone church of St. Paul was built in Totara Valley.


In the early years of this century, the work of the church expanded further
with the arrival of new families at Rosewill settlement and the sub-division of
Levels Station following its purchase by the Government from the New
Zealand and Australian Land Company. In those days, the parish had ten
preaching places.


With modes of transport being so limited, it was necessary to take the
church to the people in out-lying areas. For a long time, services and Sunday
school sessions were conducted in the local schools. Such an extensive
programme of worship required the minister to take three or four services each
Sunday and to call on the assistance of lay preachers as well.


As early as 1907, the Parish Board of Managers declared the need for a
bigger church in Pleasant Point but it was not until 1910 that a canvas for
financial support was taken.


Hopes were dashed when the lowest tender of two thousand and fifteen
pounds was almost twice the estimate but in June 1911, tenders were again
called for a modified plan. The lowest tender of thirteen hundred and five
pounds from Kennedy and Meecham was then accepted.


Within a month, parishioners had assembled with horse teams, ploughs and
scoops to excavate the site and a start was made on the quarrying of the stone
for the walls which came from the Sutherlands property of Mr Alexander
Sutherland.
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    A view of the Presbyterian church with the original church situated on the
    hilltop and the Manse before being renovated.

  




The foundation stone was laid by Mrs Sutherland on 19th October 1911 and
the new Church of St. John’s was opened on 9th March 1913. The original
wooden church higher on the hill became the Sunday school and continued in
that role until it was demolished in 1954.


It was also used for the many social functions associated with the church
and, in 1923, a kitchen was added to the back of the building. Older residents
today recall the old copper used to boil water for the numerous cups of tea
served at such functions. Concerts, socials and Bible class dances were held
there and school candidates for matriculation have memories of sitting their
examinations to the accompaniment of swarms of buzzing bees in the old bell
tower.


In the late 1950s, the interior of St. John’s was redesigned, the old choir
stalls and pulpit rails being removed. The completion of this work was
marked by a war memorial window in 1959. A second window presented by an
anonymous former parishioner was unveiled to mark the 90th anniversary of
the parish and an electronic organ replaced the little old harmonium of
yesteryears.


When St. John’s was built, one of the cost-reducing modifications to the
plans was to leave out the bell tower. For many years, the bell remained in the
tower of the old church and, following its demolition, a separate bell-stand
was set up by the new church. In 1972, Mrs N. E. Oakley, widow of a former
parish minister, Rev. N. Oakley, provided the nucleus of a belfrey fund as a
memorial to her husband. In 1974, when sufficient money was raised, a belfrey
was added to St. John’s. Significantly, its design was based on a sketch by
Robert Oakley, architect son of Rev. Oakley.


Parish boundaries have changed over the years. For instance, Albury,
originally part of Pleasant Point Parish, was transferred to Mackenzie in 1890
and then, in 1909, was established as a separate parish. It continued so for
sixty-three years until, in 1972, it was again linked with Pleasant Point.


The more recent history of the parish includes the building of a new manse
in front of the church in 1941. Originally a single storey structure in the flat-
roofed, Spanish style popular at the time, its appearance has since altered
completely.


Because of acute shortage of space for a family, the building of a new manse
was, at first, considered. However, as the building was structurally sound, the
problem was solved by the addition of an upper storey for bedrooms. Work
began on this project in February 1977 and was completed a year later.
Many men and women of the parish gave innumerable hours of voluntary
work to this project.


The present Church Hall was built in 1954 to replace the old church when it
was demolished.


The life of the parish today is centred mainly at St. John‘s with twice monthly
services at Totara Valley, Albury and St. David’s, Cave. It remains an integral part
of the lives of those whose forbears first established the Presbyterian church in the
district more than a hundred years ago.


Ministers of the Pleasant Point Parish have been as follows:



  
    
      	Rev A. Alexander
      	1879–1880
    

    
      	Rev D. McLennan
      	1880–1885
    

    
      	Rev W. White
      	1885–1890
    

    
      	Rev J. White
      	1892–1908
    

    
      	Rev G.S. King
      	1909–1918
    

    
      	Rev J.T. Gunn
      	June 25–July 20 1919
    

    
      	Rev G. Falconer
      	1919–1926
    

    
      	Rev W. McNeur
      	1926–1939
    

    
      	Rev I. Dixon
      	1939–1944
    

    
      	Rev N. Oakley
      	1945–1953
    

    
      	Rev I. Powell
      	1953–1964
    

    
      	Rev J. Van Royen
      	1965–1975
    

    
      	Rev W. Marshall
      	1975–1982
    

    
      	Rev B. Ayres
      	1982–1989
    

  



The Anglican Church


The Anglican Church, like the Presbyterian, had its beginnings as part of
the wide South Canterbury curacy until the growth of small townships made its
division necessary.


The Parish of Temuka and Geraldine was established in December 1870 by
the presiding Bishop Harper. It embraced a wide area along the Opihi and Te
Ngawai rivers and extended into the Mackenzie Country.


In those early pioneering days, it was accepted practice to hold Anglican
services in local schools and it is recorded that Bishop Harper ‘conducted
divine service in the school room at The Point on 11th May 1873’.


Even then, a strong bond of friendship and understanding was evident
between the Presbyterians and Anglicans of the district. A year after the
Presbyterian church was built, it was made available to the Anglicans who
regularly held services there.


No doubt this arrangement encouraged the Anglicans to aspire to greater
things and it was not long before they were planning their own church. Within
two years of a meeting at Pleasant Point to discuss the subject, the first
Church of St. Alban became a reality.
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    The original Anglican Church situated on the corner of Acton & Harris Streets.

  




On 2nd October 1879, a little wooden-framed church with plaster walls and
solid totara beams was consecrated by the Bishop. The Diocesan Trust Board
had bought land on the corner of Harris and Acton Streets (where the Play
Centre now stands), from H.J. and F. Le Cren.


The church was built at a cost of five hundred and fifty-seven pounds,
fourteen shillings, of which sixty-eight pounds, eighteen and sixpence was
raised in England by sisters of parishioner William Howell.


In 1881 Rev Chaffers Welch was appointed Vicar of Temuka and he
conducted services at The Point. Throughout 1882, plans were in motion to
create a parish in the district separate from Temuka and, on 13th January 1883
Rev. Welch relinquished his Temuka responsibilities to become vicar of Te
Ngawai parish.


With Pleasant Point as its base, the new parish had boundaries stretching
from Pleasant Point to the Pareora river and beyond Fairlie into the
Mackenzie Country with the Opihi river as its northern boundary a
formidable area for a vicar whose only means of transport was the horse.


After the resignation of Rev. Welch in 1883. Rev. T Hamilton was licensed
as temporary curate for six months until, on 30th December the same year,
Rev. Jasper Smyth was appointed vicar of Te Ngawai.


He became a well known personality as he rode around his extensive parish.
He was described as ‘the sporting parson’ because he owned a number of
greyhounds. The dogs accompanied him on his Sunday travels and enjoyed the
thrill of the chase as they hunted hares amongst the tussocks. Rev. Smith spent
nine years in the parish.


Rev. Hamilton again took up duties for a short period to be followed by
Rev. Stanley Hinson who established a record of thirty-one years as vicar.
During his curacy, a significant change of boundaries occurred. In 1907, the
Fairlie district became a parish in its own right, reducing the Te Ngawai parish
accordingly.


The original Vicarage, situated at 65 Te Ngawai Road and still in good
repair, was built for Rev. Hinson who planted many beautiful trees around it.
A big Wellingtonia still stands in the grounds today.


At the time the Vicarage was built, it was Diocesan policy to set aside ‘a few
acres adjoining the Vicarage to be used by the vicar for grazing the vicar’s cow
and horse.’ This glebe land remains the property of Church Property Trusts
and is the paddock between the old Vicarage (65) and Melody Lodge (101) Te
Ngawai Road. The Church Property Trust still owns other land in that area,
namely, where Read Engineering and Cyclemakers are situated, as well as the
paddock opposite which skirts the creek. Rent from all this ‘Endowment’ land
assists in payment of the vicar’s stipend.


Te Ngawai Parish has been richly endowed with such property. As well as
local land, the parish owned fifty acres in Fernside which was sold in 1959. It
had also been purchased with money raised by friends of Wm. Howell in
England, at a cost of three hundred and fifty pounds. In all, they raised four
hundred and thirty-three pounds twelve shillings in England for the parish ‘as
an endowment for resident clergymen and general Church purposes.’


Throughout the 1920-30s when the country was undergoing an economic
depression, the parish experienced financial difficulties. The problem was so
acute that, in 1932, a decision was taken to reduce the guaranteed stipend from
two hundred to one hundred and sixty-six pounds which the Rev. Oldham
agreed to accept. It was not until five years later that the parish finances had
improved sufficiently to restore the stipend to its former amount.


Rev. Oldham’s was the last of the clergy families to occupy the old Vicarage
in Te Ngawai Road. When he retired, his successor, Rev. Geoffry Schurr took
up residence in the present Vicarage in Harris Street which had been originally
built for the local doctor.


Mid-way through the second World War, the parish was again in financial
trouble and, at one time, its status as a parish came under threat with only
twenty-two pounds between success and failure. Fortunately, the extra funds
were found and the parish survived as such.


With the problems of the 1940s overcome, the next decade began with an air
of confidence and prosperity. When the Rev. Perkins took up duties in 1953,
the building of the new Church of All Saints at Cave was under way. It was not
long before he had plans for the replacement of St. Alban’s at Pleasant Point
to meet the needs of the growing community in the township.


The parish was fortunate in obtaining the site on the corner of Harris and
Munro Streets, directly opposite the Vicarage and Mr T.S. Gillies, who had
built All Saints Church at Cave, tendered successfully for the construction.


At weekends, young and old parishioners selected and carted suitable
boulders from local river beds for the walls of the new church and the
foundation stone was laid by the Rt. Rev. Bishop Warren on 26th May, 1956.


A year later, he returned to dedicate the completed church. It is interesting to
note that the altar rail and vestry doors from the old church were preserved
and reinstalled in the new church.
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    St. Alban's present Anglican Church.

  




Another milestone in the parish was the dedication of the new Parish Hall
on 12th March 1967. This, too, was built by TS. Gillies and fulfilled a great
need in the community. Prior to this, an old wooden building, once the
Albury I.0.0.F. Lodge, had, in 1948, been transported from there to the old
church site to serve as a hall. It was later removed to the present church
property where it remained until construction of the new hall commenced. It is
still in service as the Marchwiel Anglican Church hall.


As well as St. Alban’s in Pleasant Point, the Te Ngawai Parish continues to
embrace St. David’s at Raincliff, St. Martin’s at Albury and All Saints at
Cave.


Clergy of the Te Ngawai Parish



  
    
      	Rev Fynese-Clinton
      	1879–1882
    

    
      	Rev Chaffers-Welch
      	1882
    

    
      	(both above as part of the Temuka Parish)
    

    
      	Rev Jasper Smyth
      	1883–1892
    

    
      	Rev T. Hamilton
      	1892
    

    
      	Rev Stanley Hinson
      	1892–1924
    

    
      	Rev Duncan McPherson
      	1924–1927
    

    
      	Rev Charles Oldham
      	1927–1939
    

    
      	Rev Geoffrey Schurr
      	1939–1946
    

    
      	Rev R. J. Witty
      	1942
    

    
      	(Priest in Charge)
    

    
      	Rev F. L. Allen
      	1946–1952
    

    
      	Rev J. S. Perkins
      	1952–1958
    

    
      	Rev T. A. McKenzie
      	1958–1960
    

    
      	Rev R. Okey
      	1960–1964
    

    
      	Rev C. Clark
      	1964–1968
    

    
      	Rev S. Edwards
      	1968–1973
    

    
      	Rev J. Riley
      	1972
    

    
      	Rev Wm. Cunliffe
      	1974–1980
    

    
      	Rev G. Nicholson
      	1980–1982
    

    
      	Rev T. Alve
      	1982–1989
    

  



The Roman Catholic Church


The first service held in Pleasant Point was about 1885 when Holy Mass was
said in the billiards room of the Railway Hotel. Later services were held in the
school in Harris Street.


The Rev. Father Flauvel was appointed Parish Priest of Temuka in 1876
and, just as the other two denominations had their local beginnings as part of
that parish, so too did the Catholics.


Before long, parishioners were setting their sights on a church of their own
in the township. At that time, the Catholic community owned two acres of
land near the site of the present public school but it was considered unsuitable
for the purpose and disposed of.


Mr Jas. O'Sullivan then donated a central site for a church and school
grounds and fund-raising began in earnest. The foundation stone of St.
Mary’s Church was laid on 30th December 1888 and, next day, the following
report appeared in the Timaru Herald:



  Yesterday afternoon, Rt. Rev. Dr. Grimes, Catholic Bishop of
  Christchurch, assisted by local clergy, laid the foundation stone of a Catholic
  Church at Pleasant Point.


  Advantage was taken of the season and the railway to make the gathering
  for the occasion as large as possible by running a special train from Timaru.
  The afternoon was beautifully fine and about three hundred adults
  accompanied by a good number of children availed themselves of the means
  and opportunity to attend the ceremony. Early in the afternoon, traps of all
  kinds began to arrive and there was a long string of farmers, carts from the
  surrounding district, resting their wheels on a vacant lot nearby, and a good
  many smaller groups hard by.


  The train left Timaru a little after the advertised time, 2.30pm, and ran out
  in forty minutes, picking up a few passengers at Washdyke and Levels. The
  site of the church is immediately behind the railway passenger station,
  separated from it by a roadway only, and arrivals had no difficulty finding it,
  for a gay string of bunting, stretched on tall scaffold poles, was placed all
  round the foundations.”


  The foundations of concrete had all been put down, a vacancy being left at
  one corner to be filled with the formal ‘corner stone’, a small block of dolerite
  bearing the year ‘1888’ and this was slung ready for lowering into place.


  Soon after the arrival of the train, a small procession was formed at Mr T.
  Geaney’s cottage, a hundred yards away, to escort the Bishop and his
  assistants to the site...


  There must have been a thousand people on the ground, old and young, and
  the light summer dresses of the ladies, with bunting flying overhead, made the
  scene a bright one.




Five months after the laying of the foundation stone, St. Mary’s Church was
almost completed and it was decided to hold a concert to raise money for the
building fund.


On Thursday evening, May 16th 1889, the building was filled to capacity,
four hundred people being present to witness a parish concert.


Anticipating wide support for the official opening of the church, an
advertisement in the Timaru Herald and Temuka Leader on 23rd May 1889,
stated that admission was by ticket only, five shillings per ticket, which would
admit a whole family.
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The church was opened by Bishop Grimes on 26th May 1889. At the close of
the ceremony, a collection yielded eighty-five pounds, including money from
ticket sales. The total cost of the church was seven hundred and fifty pounds
approximately and, on opening day, a debt of three hundred pounds was
outstanding.


St. Mary’s was described as “early English” style of architecture known as
‘Perpendicular Catholic”. It is sixty feet long by thirty feet wide with concrete
foundations, brick walls finished with cement compo on the outside and
ordinary plaster on the inside. The open gothic roof is constructed of selected
rimu oiled and varnished.


About twenty yards from the church, Rev. Father Fauvel had built, at his
own expense, a two-room cottage where he could stay on his visitations to
Pleasant Point.


Mr Jas. O‘Sullivan, who had donated the church land, made a gift of bells
and, in 1896, Rev. Father Kerley had a tower added to the church and the bells
mounted.


Some time later, a three-faced clock was installed on the tower. It was made
by a Temuka watchmaker, Mr AB. Gytts in 1913.


It is said that Mrs Nelligan, a local lady of the township and wife of the hotel
proprietor, canvassed the district for money to purchase a ‘town clock’. There
were many irate residents — not of the Catholic faith — when it was
discovered that the clock was to adorn the tower of St. Mary’s but, by then,
she had collected sufficient money!


After seventy-five years as part of Temuka parish, Pleasant Point was
established as a separate Catholic parish in February 1952, Father E.J.
Brosnahan being appointed as the first Parish Priest. He took up residence in
the small, two-roomed cottage built in 1899 by Father Fauvel.


The need for a new Presbytery became apparent and many fund-raising
activities were organised towards this end. On 12th October 1952, Bishop
Joyce laid the foundation stone on the site in Kabul Street and it was followed
by many working bees by the men of the parish to defray the cost of the
building.


Within four months, the building was complete at an estimated cost of five
thousand, one hundred and sixty pounds. However, the many voluntary hours
contributed by parishioners reduced this cost to three thousand eight hundred
pounds.


The church sanctuary was considered too small for the needs of the parish,
especially for ceremonies such as an ordination so the confessional was
removed and a new one built at the rear of the church. A low extension, the
full width of the church by about twelve feet long, was added to the southern
end for a new sacristy. The old one was then removed, making the sanctuary at
least twice its original size.


These alterations were finished just in time for Pleasant Point’s first
ordination on December 18th, 1954. It was that of Father Paul Shirres, a local
boy of the parish.


In 1963, St. Monica’s at Cave became part of the Pleasant Point parish after
fifty years’ membership of Fairlie Parish.


The history of St. Mary’s Parish would not be complete without mention of
Kerrytown which had very strong affiliations with St. Mary’s when the
Kerrytown school and convent existed. In the early days, Mass was said on the
first Friday of each month and on St. Patrick’s day only. Benediction was held
every second Sunday.


In 1984, it was announced that Pleasant Point was to lose its parish Priest,
although still remaining a parish in its own right. It has since been serviced
from Temuka.


The social life of the parish centred around the ‘Cottage Hall’, a building
moved from Waitohi in 1948 at a cost of eighty pounds. Euchre evenings,
social gatherings and meetings were all conducted there. In 1967, “Cottage
Hall” was replaced by ‘Kerry Hall’, shifted from Kerrytown where it had
served as a school for the Catholic community.


Parish Priests


From the time of Rev. Father Fauvel’s appointment as first parish priest of
the district, centred at Temuka, many others served and assisted in St. Mary’s
Church. The following have served since St. Mary’s became separate parish:



  
    
      	Rev Father E.J. Brosnahan
      	1952–1957
    

    
      	Rev Father Daniel Healey
      	1958
    

    
      	Rev Father Joseph Kelly
      	1958
    

    
      	Rev Father Patrick Joyce
      	1959
    

    
      	Rev Father John McHale
      	1960–1961
    

    
      	Rev Father Peter O’Hara
      	1961–1967
    

    
      	Rev Father Kevin Clarke
      	1967–1968
    

    
      	Rev Father Leo O’Connor
      	1968–1973
    

    
      	Rev Father D.K. Sullivan
      	1973–1983
    

    
      	Father Horgan
      	1983
    

    
      	Father Clenaghan
      	1984–1985
    

    
      	Father Middleton
      	1985
    

  



The Convent


The sisters of St. Joseph’s Convent have had a strong influence on the religious life
and education of the parish.


The convent, standing on the corner of Afghan and Khan Streets, was established
in 1927. Originally built for a Mr Butchers, it had been the property of Dr
Patterson, local G.P., when purchased for twelve hundred pounds.


This building served as the convent until 1987 when the sisters moved into
the Presbytery. In its heyday, it accommodated seven sisters and many local
Children received their music tuition there.


Children from the public school came for tuition during their lunch hours
and those living close to the township came after school.


After the departure of the parish priest to Temuka. Sister Bertrand
undertook parish duties in the community. Her work for all in the district after
the March 1986 flood will be remembered.


The old convent is now let but plans are afoot for the property to be
replaced by flats for the elderly of the district under the auspices of the St.
Vincent de Paul Society in association with St. Mary’s Parish Council.


Today, these three denominations are united in the religious life of the
district. Combined services in Nine Lessons and Carols at Christmas time.
World Day of Prayer services and combined activities such as the Wool
Festival, an annual event instigated in 1984, demonstrate the part our local
churches are playing in the ecumenical movement.


The Gospel Hall Brethren


“In 1883 Mr and Mrs James Agnew along with Mr and Mrs William Exell
commenced gathering to the precious name of the Lord Jesus in a little cob
cottage which was the Exell home.”


By that time, James Agnew was a well known figure as he rode from door to
door handing out Gospel tracts. It was easy in those days to knock on the door
with your stick whilst remaining on horseback and, as an Irishman would,
have a chat with the householder before moving on. He had been converted
during the ’39 revival in Ireland and he wanted others to share the experience.


Without doubt, the young widow Elizabeth Exell was equally well known
as, in her capacity of midwife, she Visited the homes of the district and brought
many ‘bonnie bairns' into the world of Pleasant Point.


Soon others joined the assembly. There was James Gliddon, a sailor from
England who had met with the Brethren in Plymouth and Archie Carson from
a similar background in Ireland. Bob Knox, also from Ireland, used to tell
how he had been deeply convicted of sin and converted when working as a
teamster on a Totara Valley farm. He joined the fellowship about 1900.


Some years before that it had become obvious that the Exell cottage was too
small to accommodate the growing congregation and Alex Agnew added a
suitable room to his parents’ limestone house at 110 Te Ngawai Road which
was used until the beginning of this century.


In the meantime, the Oddfellows Hall had been built, offering a central
meeting place which was readily let for Sunday services and other functions
and finally purchased by the Brethren when the new Town Hall was built in
1928.
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In the mid 1890s, Archie Carson married Mary, the Exells‘ only child. This
was one of several weddings solemnized at a Brethren meeting in the
Oddfellows Hall as young People of the district associated with the little
company. Here, the Agnew girls met and married James Gliddon, Richard
Redcliffe, John Crawford, James Esler and Alex Robinson respectively. There
were already a number of third generation Agnews before the turn of the
century from whom Bob Knox chose his bride, Isa.


George and Alex Gliddon had both married and settled in the district so
that, when the Goslings arrived from Bluff and, in 1910, the Lienerts from
Southland, there was a thriving Sunday School.


When the Bob Davie family came to live in the little house on the corner of
Russell and Harris Streets, Alice (Ada) Botherway was their maid. Through
Mrs Davie, she joined the Brethren, was baptised and, before marrying Bill
Pettigrew of Timaru, associated with the local believers. For a number of
years, the baptisms took place in the creek near the Sawmill or at Murphy‘s
Crossing.


In 1912, Mrs Jas. McLeod of Taiko brought young Victor Wilson from
Mosgiel who later married Rona Gliddon. Mrs McLeod expertly supervised
the catering for the annual Easter Conference first held five years after her
arrival. Her efforts also saw the Stratheona girls at Sunday evening meetings
and may have influenced the Plunket Society in the choice of the Hall
cloakrooms for their clinic.


When from about 1900 meetings were held regularly in the ante room of
the Oddfellows Hall suitable furnishings were introduced. A kauri cupboard
was purchased for 2 pound 10 shillings in 1909 and another cheaper one in
1911. A curtain and lamps were also provided and wall decorations in the form
of a large poster about ‘Man's Ruin and God‘s Remedy’ and a small chart of
‘The Two Roads and Two Destinies’.


A street lamp and extra hymn books were purchased to encourage the
singing at Open Air services which were conducted under a big pine tree where
Atkinson and Dossett’s garage now stands. The pine tree provided shelter for
larrikins as well as for singers and preachers!


The company was further swelled when the Cramptons bought a farm at
Sutherlands and the Cecil Smiths moved from Mona Vale to the “White
Elephant” in Te Ngawai Road. Also on that road lived Mr Butler, noted for his
singing. When, during the 1914-18 war, some of the boys went off to the
Front, a Belgium Fund was started.


From time to time, overseas evangelists would visit and hold a series of
meetings at which many would claim to have been converted. Amongst them
was Forbes McLeod from Scotland at whose meeting Mr Wilkin the
gravedigger and his wife were converted. Their daughter married Tom
Monteith who came from Ireland in 1925 and lived in Pleasant Point until the
1986 flood.


Lily Barker who worked at Gosling’s Store, had been saved through Blind
Johnstone at the Presbyterian Church but had learnt of baptism by immersion
from Mr Gosling. Jean Welch of Welch’s Bakery had attended Sunday School
with Olive Knox since 1924 but was saved during a meeting conducted by Mr
Stout of the Shetland Isles in 1929.


As soon as the Oddfellows Hall became Brethren property, they sold a hut,
an outbuilding the carbide plant and two doors for the total sum of 19 pound
2 shillings and sixpence. At the same time 152 pounds 16 shillings and 1 penny
was spent on lawyer's fees, electrical work, carpentry, joinery, painting,
blacksmithing and a Town Board licence. Although everyone lent a hand
responsibility for the work was shouldered by local tradesmen associated with
the Brethren.


Willie Wilson with his apprentice Rowlie Gliddon put in the wall between
the extension and the main hall, thus providing a supper room large enough to
seat 100 at tables as well as a small side room. E.T. Lienert made a substantial
surround of Southland beech wood and an adjustable lectern for the old stage.
Jim MacMillan saw to the painting and Alex Gliddon the smithing. The old
carbide shed became a dry closet for which sanitary fees had to be paid.


Soon, tables and trestles, a railing heater, a new stove, curtains and a sign all
helped to give the hall a new look to match its new name of ‘Gospel Hall’.
Linoleum was laid in 1937 and more electrical work done in 1939. It is not
clear when the copper was set outside the back of the ante room and a
servatory made to receive the boiled potatoes.


It was in 1929 that E.T. Lienert made the first motorised Bible carriage to
replace the old horsedrawn one which had been used for taking ‘the Word’ to
outlying areas. In his enthusiasm, Mr Lienert forgot to take into account the
size of the van and was somewhat nonplussed to find that the finished article
would not go through the door of his workshop!


In 1930 Peggy Smith was commended as missionary to Argentina and, in
1938, to Uruguay with her husband Bill Goodson. This was a Brethren
wedding of note when they were married at the Gospel Hall before leaving for
Uruguay where they still live with their family. The romance, it is said,
originated from a love for the Spanish language.


The second World War brought an interest in Burnham Camp and the
cancellation of the Easter Conference and, when the latter was recommenced,
the catering responsibilities were in the capable hands of Mrs Rowlie Gliddon.
The 1983 Conference became a Centennial with "descendants of some of the
earlier members present and many from all parts of New Zealand who had
previous associations with the assembly".


The demise of the old carbide shed came in 1976 when the sewers were
introduced. Two toilets were built into a front cloakroom by Richard Earl who
had purchased the 2 roods 27 perches of adjoining land.


Mr and Mrs Jim Rogerson came from Southland in 1969 and, in 1986, Mr
and Mrs Gabites arrived from Otago. The Sunday School, which had lapsed
for some years, was revived and the picnics at Pioneer Park again became
memorable occasions even if the tea meetings can hardly be compared with the
early bun fights.


The next major operation came as a result of the 1986 flood which swept
through the entire building. Insurance payments, private gifts and gifts from
other Open Brethren Assemblies brought in a total of $12,000 and more which
made major repairs possible.


The floors of the main hall were covered with hardboard and carpeted, a
removable wood partition replaced the curtain dividing the main hall in two,
the 1897 extension was completely reroofed and part of it was jacked up to
renew the piles. A large Zip water heater, a sink bench and cupboards
revolutionised the ante room and the whole building received a fresh coat of
paint in time for the 1987 Easter Conference.


Well known for its excellent acoustics and uncomfortable seating, the
Gospel Hall has been the venue for the Good Friday meeting since 1917 when
the unaccompanied singing is something to be heard.


Nowadays a caravan with Bibles and other Christian literature is taken to a
number of A and P shows, thus continuing in a small way, the tradition of the
old Bible Van.



      
        
  Education




Pleasant Point Public School


The first reference to the early days of schooling in Pleasant Point is
contained in a report in the Timaru Herald on Saturday, 24th October, 1868,
which published the following:



  On Monday last, a daily school was opened at the Point by Miss Jagger,
    daughter of Mr Jagger of the Timaru School. There were l3 children in
    attendance the first morning and it is anticipated that the number will soon be
    doubled.


  The school is held in the building recently erected by subscription for
    divine worship. Mr Acton Mr Orton and other residents have shown
    considerable interest in the matter and have assisted the opening of the school in a
    most substantial manner.




Among the pupils attending school on that day were: Willie Greig, Mary
Ann Smith, Edith Smith, Sarah Smith, Wm. Halstead, Emma Smith, Jane
Black, Frances Black, Laurison Gerken, Emma Gerken, Mary Ann Kee. Their
ages ranged from 7 to 13.


The appointment of Miss Jagger at the age of 17 would seem rather young
by today's standards but she was the only applicant with experience in
Government methods of teaching, having assisted her father at the Timaru
School.


The school was erected by the Canterbury Provincial Government at a cost
of one hundred and ten pounds, on land given by the New Zealand and
Australian Land Company.


The original site was on the corner of Nikau Street and fronted the Te
Ngawai Road at what is now number 60. This area was then known as Morton
Township.


The school was an aided one; the householders within a radius of three miles
paid a yearly tax of one pound; the children attending school paid one shilling
and sixpence weekly while the Provincial Government contributed the balance.


As the original building soon proved too small, another meeting was called
on 2nd February, 1870, to consider the manner and conditions on which an
assisted school could be established. In a report in the Timaru Herald on 5th
February, 1870, it stated that:



  One acre of land had to be ‘conveyed’ with the school and twenty pounds
    had to be given to the Board as a book fund and a quarter of the price of the
    school would be accepted for this. The Board would pay three quarters of the
    salary of the teacher, not exceeding seventy-five pounds for a master and
    forty-five pounds for a mistress per annum.




The Board of Education was desirous that the management of the school
should rest principally with the school committee. It reserved its rights to
sanction the appointment and dismissal of teachers.


A committee was then elected with Mr Acton as chairman. It was agreed
that they could get up to one pound per householder to supplement school
funds and to supply ‘Aid’ as required by the Board and to form the Pleasant
Point Educational District and to provide the annual expenses of such a
district.


The original school was then sold in 1871 to Mr Inman Jackson for removal
Parts of it are still standing at The Gables, Te Ngawai Road.


The new school, consisting of two rooms, together with a headmaster’s
residence, was erected in Harris Street on the site where our local swimming
baths and neighbouring residence are situated. Mr Chas. Opie was appointed
Headmaster. As attendance increased, an infant room was added two years
later. Miss Opie, assistant to her brother, was appointed to the infant room.


Under the Education Act of 1876, the South Canterbury Board of
Education assumed control on 1st January, 1887 and decided to enlarge the
master’s room. This room was lengthened again in 1900 in order to
accommodate the steadily increasing number of pupils.


In 1905 the status of the school was raised to that of District High School.
Two local children attending the Timaru Girls' High School at that time, left
to attend Pleasant Point District High School to entitle the school to reach the
required roll number of twenty.


In July of the following year, technical classes were begun at the school at a
cost of one shilling and sixpence a night.


Overcrowding soon made it necessary to consider purchasing a larger
property on which to build a bigger school. In August 1907 it was decided to
buy five acres of Mr McKibbin’s land in Halstead Road.


The Board agreed to pay forty-five pounds an acre for this property, plus
one acre bought by the Committee.
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In 1908 a substantial, up-to-date brick building was erected containing five
school rooms, two seven-foot corridors with two front entrances, a
headmaster’s office (11ft x 8ft) and a store room.


This building was described by the architect to the Board as being ‘of good
appearance without any waste of money and adventitious ornament, with all
modern methods of lighting and ventilation’.


The contract for the school was let at one thousand nine hundred and twelve
pounds, the cost being met out of ordinary maintenance grant. The
Department gave two hundred and fifty pounds for the cost of removing the
old Harris Street School to the site of the lawn skirting the silver birches facing
Halstead Road.


Most of this building became the Technical School and the contract for its
establishment was two hundred and twenty pounds plus an additional twenty
pounds met by the school committee. The rest of it was made into a shelter
shed on the eastern side of the brick building.


In a ‘Herald‘ report of the opening of this school on 5th October, 1908, it
was stated to be ‘the model school of the district - a brick and concrete
building in natural colours, ninety-four feet long with a central gable to a
width of fifty-six feet.‘


It was formally opened by Mr John Jackson, Chairman of the Board of
Education, who stated that Pleasant Point had nearly exhausted the Board’s
treasury.


Dr H.C. Barclay addressed the gathering in place of his father and former
Chairman, the Rev. Geo. Barclay who had been invited to perform the
opening ceremony but had recently died. Mr Crozier, Chairman of the
Committee, said that ‘the School Committee, as well as the people of the
district generally, were delighted to see the successful consummation of their
long and arduous efforts to secure for the Point, a school commensurate with
its requirements.’


To celebrate the opening, a bazaar was held, lasting for three days. Stalls of
all descriptions were available and one hundred and fifty pounds and seven
pence was raised. The newspaper report of this function read:



  While the first rush of the bazaar was at its height, the School Committee
  adjourned to the shelter shed at the back of the school where, over a bottle of
  wine and some light refreshments, they entertained the speakers of the
  afternoon and a few other visitors.




In the July following, it was decided to buy an extra acre of land at fifty
pounds and the headmaster‘s residence was not completed till March, 1914.


In 1911, woodwork, cooking and dressmaking classes were established in
the Technical Block and an agricultural course was set up under the Board’s
instructor, Mr J. Brown. By 1914, the instructor was urging extension of the
school grounds for agricultural purposes and so another acre was purchased
from Mr McKibbin for seventy pounds. In that same year, outside schools
were granted the use of the technical instruction.


In August 1915, a grant of twenty-five pounds was made by the Board for a
science room in the school and this was set up in the technical building.


Growth of roll numbers, bringing increased staffing also brought with it
more varied courses available in the Secondary Department. Commercial
classes were commenced in 1929, the headmaster’s office being used for a
typing room. A commercial display of work was set up at the school flower
show of that year to draw parents’ attention to the work being done in this
field.


Woolclassing courses under Mr Ellis Halstead were commenced in 1931.
These were held in the wool store opposite the main school gates. At this stage
the shelter shed was fitted out as an extra classroom for the secondary
department.


In 1938 Mr B.L. Elphick commenced duties as an agricultural instructor on
a full time basis on the staff. During this time, itinerant teachers of woodwork
and cooking were responsible for instruction in Fairlie, Temuka, Geraldine
and Pleasant Point, one and a half days a week being spent here for
instruction. Dressmaking and cooking instruction had both been undertaken
by the homecraft teacher but, owing to pressure of work in cooking
instruction, Miss MacAteer was appointed dressmaking instructress to the
secondary department in 1936.


Fire destroyed the old Technical School on 10th September, 1932 and
application was made for a new building. Plans were drawn up by the Board
for an open air block of three classrooms at an estimated cost of one thousand
nine hundred and fifty pounds.


This building was opened by Mr TD. Burnett (the local M.P.) on 6th July,
1933. It accommodated infants and standards one to four.


During the interim period of conversion of the brick building, woodwork
classes were conducted in the blue garage until a woodwork room was set up
on a temporary basis in the old shelter shed which overlooked the creek on the
eastern side. Cooking classes were conducted in the supper room of the Town
Hall and a dental clinic was set up in what was once the local Maternity
Hospital.


The infant room of the main building was converted into a cookery room and
the Secondary Department, having risen to the status of a two teacher
Seconday School, occupied two classrooms. Standards 5 and 6 occupied the
southwest room and Standard 2 room was converted to a science room.


These were the depression years and staffing problems arose throughout the
country. Dunedin Training College had been closed and only limited numbers
of students were being trained for the teaching profession. As a result, five-
year-olds were debarred from attending school from 1933 to 1936. This,
however, had little effect on the school roll.


Consolidation had been discussed as early as 1925 but it was not till 1930
that a meeting was held to consider its possibilities. However, it took until
1936, when the Opihi school was destroyed by fire, for consolidation to begin.
In the following year, Cave joined and in February 1938, Sutherlands,
Kakahu, Totara Valley, Rockwood and Hazelburn pupils were all transported
to Pleasant Point by bus.
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This sudden increase in roll numbers brought with it accommodation
problems. The Secondary Department had risen to a three teacher status. As a
result, three marquees had to be set up (one for secondary and two for
primary) to accommodate pupils until the completion of the second open air
block of two classrooms which was first occupied on 31st October, 1938.
Another classroom together with staff room and store room were added to this
building the following year.


Consolidation was not the only reason for increased roll numbers. At this
time, a considerable settlement known as Mazetown had developed on Mr
Maze’s property, this being the headquarters of the men engaged in the
establishment of the Downlands Water Scheme in the district.


With the growth of school buildings and roll numbers, application was
made for an additional playing area of two and a half acres from the School
Farm Board.


In February 1939, consolidation extended to Rosewill School pupils and
again in 1942 when Waitohi pupils transferred.


As the need for more buildings and greater playing areas had grown and, at
the same time, the change in the means of transport to school, so the format of
the school grounds had changed. No longer did fifteen to twenty gigs, etc. line
the outside of the horse paddock and so, the horse paddock was ploughed up
and turned into agricultural plots for pupils’ practical work. About this time,
the Public Works Department was engaged to drain the football playing area.


For the interest of today's readers, the horse paddock skirted the creek on
the north eastern side of the brick building. It flowed close to where the
swimming baths are now situated. Horses grazed on either side of it and a
bridge was fitted across it.


The war years brought staffing problems to the school. Male members of
the staff joined the forces and local married women returned to teaching to
relieve the shortage. Children were leaving school at a younger age, boys being
required to help on the family farms whilst older brothers were overseas on
active service. As a result, the secondary roll fell and in 1944, the secondary
staff was reduced to two teachers.


After a struggle of forty years‘ duration for school swimming baths, the
Committee's dream was at last realised in 1943 and the shelter shed was
converted into dressing sheds.


Post war years again brought increased roll numbers. In 1948 the last sole
charge school in the district, Taiko, was closed and its pupils transferred to
Pleasant Point.


Accommodation became so acute that the Standard 2 class had to use a
cloakroom for a classroom. Two years later the first prefabricated room was
set up to relieve the congestion. Another two followed soon after.


At this stage the Committee was pressing the Board for further
accommodation, namely the building of a new High School block, additional
Primary class rooms and the conversion of the brick school into a Manual
Training Centre. But still, in 1957, Committee minutes read: ‘that the
Secretary write to the Board saying that they desire that their hopes of the last
ten years will soon be realised.‘


At the same time, the Committee was seeking more land in view of the
desirability of obtaining an Assembly Hall. They set the building of this hall as
the 90th jubilee project. It was constructed by Farrell and Gould for a tender
of five thousand, three hundred and fifty-one pounds and many hours of
voluntary work were given by parents in assisting with painting, etc. As a
tribute to the chairman of the School Committee, who had been so vital in
pressing for this building, it was declared the Victor Wilson Hall and officially
opened on 12th August, 1960.


In 1958 an administrative block was added to the second open air block.
This included an adequate store room, Headmaster’s office, secretary’s office
and staff room. The original staff room was converted into a sick bay.


In June, 1959, the new Secondary Block was opened by the Prime Minister,
the late R. Hon. Walter Nash. This building consisted of a Secondary Library,
science laboratory, three class rooms, a small typing bay and a small secondary
staff room.


Within two years, the building proved inadequate and classes were being
taught in two ‘prefabs’ and, later, in the horticultural room known to pupils as
the ‘Potting Shed’.


Accommodation in the primary department was, likewise, an acute
problem. Classes had to be taught in the woodwork room as well as the old
Anglican Sunday School hall.


After so many years of requests for conversion of the Brick School into a
manual block, the Department completely changed all previously mooted
plans and, in August 1962, an attractive manual block for cooking,
dressmaking, woodwork and metal work classes was constructed on the
southern end of the grounds in close proximity to the secondary block.


At the same time, renovations were made to the old brick school and once
again, the infant classes were transferred to it in February, 1963. The old
corridors and entrances disappeared and were replaced by store rooms.
Windows were fitted in the northern and southern rooms to give more light —
something committees had been pressing for for fifty years. Cloakrooms
replaced the former science lab, and a staff room, toilets and adjoining central
heating unit were added.


In 1963, the pine trees at the bottom of the playground — so familiar to
pupils of former years — were removed and in 1966 a further four acres were
added to this eastern end of the playing field from previous farm school
property. In 1967, a staff hostel was built on property adjoining the school.


At long last, ‘make-shift’ accommodation began to disappear when three
classes moved into an up-to-date brick building overlooking the swimming pool
in October, 1967. Extensions to the Secondary block consisting of two classrooms,
more storage facilities, a staff room and conversion of an existing
room into a corridor and excellent library, were completed for the beginning
of the school year in 1968. An extra classroom was also added to the senior
primary block for the use of the secondary department.


The 26th October, 1969 opened the celebration of one hundred years of education
in the Pleasant Point district. To mark the centenary of the School, the
Centennial Committee undertook to finance the building of a permanent
library for the School. The contract was let to TS. Gillies Ltd. and this most
attractive Reading Room was built adjoining the western side of the new three-roomed
brick classroom.


It is interesting to read the special report made at the opening function by
Mr W.J. Cartwright, an ex-pupil who was representing the Canterbury
Education Board. In this report, he said:



  Pleasant Point District High School is a delightful rural school from
  Primers to Form VI, serving enthusiastically the education needs of a widely
  scattered farming district. It is perhaps our largest consolidated school.
  Consolidation here has been most successful and the co-operation and
  enthusiasm of parents of this wide district have been the means of unifying the
  whole area, the nucleus being the school.




At the time of the Centennial, the school roll numbered five hundred
primary pupils (up to Form II), and one hundred and forty secondary pupils
(Forms III - VII).


The School Centennial also marked the end of an era in the history of
education in the district. The following year brought the announcement of the
translation of the District High School to two separate schools —— a Primary
School of Primers to Standard IV and a Secondary School of pupils from
Forms I to VII.


February 1971 brought about the commencement of this scheme. Both
schools continued to function on the same premises. Children in Forms I and
II from Cannington School and those from the local Convent who wished to
continue their secondary education at Pleasant Point High School, transferred
to the new school but the Convent still retained its Form I and 11 classes.


The High School commenced with approximately three hundred pupils with
Mr D.F. Waugh as principal, assisted by fourteen permanent staff members.
Four part-time staff attended to such subjects as typing, horticulture, music
and remedial reading. Ancillary staff were appointed for office and library
duties.
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    Aerial view of the two schools showing the original D.H.S. in the lefthand
      side of picture taken 1982.

  




Translation to a separate High School brought many extensions to what was
the secondary department of the sixties. Extensive alterations were made to
existing buildings. The headmaster’s residence of District High School days —
built in 1914 — was demolished to make way for a new administration block
for the High School. A new library and art block were also built while
classrooms and buildings were upgraded.


The ex-D.H.S. administration section was shifted to the primary school site
and a new general purpose building plus other additions and alterations were
provided.


About that time, the Department of Education purchased a further seven
acres of land (at the eastern end of the ground) from the School Farm Trust,
making a total of twenty-one acres occupied by the two schools.


Since its promotion to full High School status, the school has been in the
forefront of innovation in education. There has been a wide range of
equipment and education aids added to the facilities, including video
equipment, computers and musical instruments. Additional facilities include a
gymnasium, bulk chemical store, guidance counsellor’s suite, a reading room,
audio visual store and a music room.


In 1982, through the enthusiasm of the Board of Governors and the co-operation
of the Farm School Trust, an agreement was drawn up to get a
horticultural scheme under way. (In former D.H.S. years, the school
agricultural course had been very popular and successful.)


In 1985, sixty pupils embarked on this horticultural programme. Forestry
and the economics of horticulture were included in the study as well as the
practical aspects of land use, water supply, seeds and marketing. Senior pupils
have the option of sitting external examinations in horticulture and third
formers learn a wide range of garden skills working on their experimental
plots.


As part of this programme, a tree-planting scheme was begun on the land
purchased from the Farm Trust. In spite of the set-backs caused by the 1986
flood, the Horticultural Scheme continues to be a study that is met with
enthusiasm by staff and pupils.


High School roll numbers at February 1989 amounted to 348 pupils, a staff
of 26 teachers, four part-time staff and five ancillary workers.


Following the translation of the D.H.S., Mr W.J. Keating was appointed
Principal of the Primary School in Term 2 of 1971. It continued to function in
the three blocks used by infants to Standard IV in the old D.H.S. days. As the
Victor Wilson Hall was in constant use by the High School, a new, multi-purpose
hall was built for the Primary School.


In 1982, age and earthquake risk led to the demolition of the original
D.H.S. brick building which had stood since 1908. It has been replaced by
wooden relocatable buildings occupied by the Infant Department. A similar
building has been set up as a library and the Centennial Library has been
converted into another classroom.


The Primary School Roll in February 1989 numbered two hundred and fifty
pupils, ten teachers and three ancillary staff — a far cry from the roll of
thirteen when the first school was established in 1868.



  Principals of Pleasant Point District High School




  
    
      
        
          	1868—1870
          	Miss Catherine Jagger
        

        
          	1871—1877
          	Mr Charles Opie
        

        
          	1877—1879
          	Mr A. Henry
        

        
          	1879—1892
          	Mr James Thompson
        

        
          	1892—1896
          	Mr C.A. Stack
        

        
          	1896—1906
          	Mr G. Dalglish
        

        
          	1906—1909
          	Mr W. Thomas
        

        
          	1910—1913
          	Mr G.T. Palmer
        

        
          	1913—1915
          	Mr James Methven
        

        
          	1915—1918
          	Mr R.B.Clarke
        

        
          	1918—1920
          	Mr J.A. Wickes
        

        
          	1920—1924
          	Mr W.W. Garton
        

        
          	1924—1927
          	Mr T.J.C. Wilkins
        

      
    

  

  
    
      
        
          	1928—1933
          	Mr A.S. de Montalk
        

        
          	1933—1936
          	Mr J.J. McGuigan
        

        
          	1936—1943
          	Mr S.C. Gibb
        

        
          	1943
          	Mr J. McRae
        

        
          	1944—1950
          	Mr W.J. Bennette
        

        
          	1950—1955
          	Mr E.M. Todd
        

        
          	1955—1960
          	Mr J. Forbes
        

        
          	1960—1970
          	Mr J. Crossan
        

      
    

  





  Principals of Pleasant Point High School




  
    
      
        
          	1970—1976
          	Mr D.F. Waugh
        

        
          	1976—1989
          	Mr E. Feasey
        

      
    

  

  
    
      
        
          	1989—
          	Mr W. Jones
        

      
    

  





  Principals of Pleasant Point Primary School




  
    
      
        
          	1970—1976
          	Mr W.J. Keating
        

      
    

  

  
    
      
        
          	1977—1989
          	Mr A. Hawes
        

      
    

  





  [image: Ch7 4]
  
    The S.C. Huntmaster’s visit to St. Joseph’s School 1960 showing the original building.

  





  St. Joseph's Convent



On 23rd October, 1927 the foundation stone of St. Joseph’s Convent in
Pleasant Point was laid by the Late Bishop M.J. Brodie and on 29th January,
1928 he returned to solemnly open and bless the fine new building.


Built of brick, the school comprised two classrooms with a spacious corridor
and store room. The architect was H.G. Broadhead and the builder, W.A.
Petrie of Timaru. The cost of the building was one thousand six hundred and
sixty pounds.


It is interesting to record that on opening day, a debt of only four hundred
pounds remained. Funds had increased through donations, sales and bazaars.
Euchre evenings were held following the opening to further reduce the debt.


The two classrooms were divided by folding doors, the panels of which
served as extra blackboards. The patent window system, operated by a single
crank-handle admitted a maximum of light and was an innovation in its time.


The Catholic community certainly appreciated this new school as,
previously, some children had travelled to the Kerrytown Convent in order to
have a Catholic Education. Others had attended the Pleasant Point D.H.S.


Forty-two pupils attended when the school opened on 1st February, 1928.
This was the commencement of a successful chapter of Catholic education in
Pleasant Point.


Following the closure of out lying country schools more Catholic pupils
were enrolled in the ensuing years. In March 1937, the Kerrytown Convent
was burnt down and until such time as tht school could be replaced, these
pupils had to attend St. Joseph’s. By 1946 the Kerrytown roll had dropped to
five necessitating the closure of that school and its pupils were transported to
St. Joseph’s by bus.


By 1961—62 the roll at St Joseph's had peaked to one hundred and fifty
pupils which made it necessary to build an additional room including corridor
teachers room and sick bay. This was built in 1963 by the local contractor
T.S. Gillies Ltd. for a cost of three thousand three hundred pounds, including
furnishings.


The money was raised by such methods as farmers donating stock, Tug o‘
Wars, raffles and the continued practice of altering at stock sales.


At this time, a fourth teaching sister was added to the staff. At the end of
the decade roll numbers were high and Bishop Ashby decided that no primer
children could be accepted and the Sisters should teach Standards I — VI
pupils only. Consequently, all primer children were educated at the Public
School for the next two years.


Since fewer women have become teaching sisters, it has been necessary to
employ lay teachers in Convent schools and Pleasant Point has been no
exception, having employed lay teachers since the 1970s.


In 1982, St. Joseph’s became one of four Catholic primary schools in South
Canterbury to integrate into the State system, thus relieving the financial
burden of paying teacher‘s salaries. Had the school not integrated at that time,
it would have been forced to close down as the Parish could not afford to pay
its teachers. At the time of integration, the school had a staff of one Sister and
two lay teachers.


Although the school is required to meet State requirements, religious
instruction is still an important part of the curriculum.


Since then, the school has seen further structural changes. Earthquake
regulations declared the original brick building unsafe. This part was,
therefore, demolished and replaced by a wooden structure comprising classroom,
library and toilet and adjoining the brick section built in 1963.


Today the roll numbers over fifty pupils with Sister Stephanie in charge and two
lay teachers assisting.



  Pre-School Education



The 1960s brought increasing emphasis on the merits of preschool
education. In February, 1961 a few parents in the township met with leaders in
this field to discuss the possibility of establishing a local play centre. Sufficient
interest among parents was apparent and a committee was formed.
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    Christmas Break-up Party at the first Play Centre in the old Scout Den.

  




The old Scout Den (originally a small cottage on Harris Street) was
considered a suitable venue for a Play Centre and, with the approval of the
Scout Committee, the Play Centre Committee set about renovating it so that
the Group could meet there once a week.


Parents donated 10 pound each to provide a fund for purchasing the necessary
equipment and in June 1961, about twenty children began attendance under
the supervision of Mrs Dorothy Esler. It was an arduous task, storing all the
equipment, after each session, into a little back room.


As the popularity of the venture grew, membership increased. The Scout
Den became too small and inconvenient until, six years later, with the approval
of the Vestry of the Anglican Church, they were granted the use of St. Alban’s
Hall. By this time, Play Centre was running two sessions a week.


With membership growing, the Play Centre then established two groups
with a roll of twenty in each. Each group had a morning and afternoon session
weekly.


As early as 1963, the Group was bequeathed a section in Te Ngawai Road
but when, a few years later, the area was zoned ‘industrial’, it was decided to
sell it.


After on-going fund raising efforts and assistance from the Department of
Education, the Committee was able to purchase the section on the corner of
Harris and Acton Streets A the site where the first St. Alban’s Church stood.
On to this site, a thousand square foot building was transported from Timaru,
it had originally been built for the South Canterbury Community College and
used for training apprentice carpenters.


It is now artistically landscaped with interesting outdoor equipment such as
sandpit, wooden forts, swing, etc, and has become a popular and happy centre for
fifty preschoolers.



  Adult Education




  Workers’ Educational Association



As a result of a visit to Pleasant Point by Mr George Manning, organising
secretary for the Workers’ Educational Association, a meeting was held in P.J.
Bowman’s tearooms on 7th April, 1927 for the purpose of ascertaining what
support was likely to be forthcoming should a class be organised in Pleasant
Point. All present at the meeting enrolled as members and a class was formed
immediately. Dr. Benham was appointed leader and Mr W.T. Taylor the
honorary secretary.


The class commenced on 27 April, 1927 and met every Wednesday night
throughout the winter months. The roll at first numbered twenty but soon
increased. Its studies comprised a course of music, art and literature of the
eighteenth century.


With its roll reaching thirty-six, this class was recognised as one of the
keenest and most active of its kind in South Canterbury.


Such classes continued intermittently throughout the next few decades with
various topics being discussed.


In the fifties, evening classes started at the District High School, woodwork,
dressmaking and handicrafts being very popular.


Since the establishment of the High School with its well equipped facilities, a
wider choice of subjects has become available. They include cookery,
dressmaking, pottery, woodwork, welding, typing, computer studies and keep
fit classes.


In addition, the Aoraki Polytechnic runs one or two-day classes and
weekend schools in a wide variety of subjects, particularly those of interest to
women.


Over the past decade, it has not been unusual for the High School to have
one or two adults in its senior classes — people wishing to study subjects of
particular interest which were not available in their childhood education.



  The Farm School



To Mr T.D. Burnett, M.P., we owe the formation of the Farm School. In
August, 1932, he secured a five year lease of the property adjoining the school,
approximately 34 acres, which he offered to the Committee free of all cost for
that period.


A committee of interested and practical farmers was formed to manage the
farm in conjunction with the School Committee. A management committee
comprising Messrs F. Agnew, H. Wooffindin, T. Kelliher, M. Maze and AH.
Roberts was set up with Mr Roberts acting as chairman.


The school was brought into close contact with the farm and kept in touch
with the experimental work. All research and calculation work was carried out
by the boys under the supervision of the school staff in order to give them an
introduction to scientific farming.


As extensions to the farm course, pupils were given lectures by experts at the
Sale Yards, shown practical demonstrations at various farms, enjoyed Field
Days at Rangiora and at Lincoln College and benefited from the practical
experience of local farmers.


Prizes were donated annually by the Pleasant Point branch of the Farmers’
Union and boys were orally tested by members of the Committee on work
carried out on the farm during the year. As a result, marks in the matriculation
examinations improved greatly — evidence that a good foundation of practical
knowledge was being laid by the work at the Farm School.


At first, it was the practice for boys to give lecturettes at the monthly
meetings on their experimental work on the Farm. The Department of Agriculture
End the Canterbury Schools‘ Agriculture Instructor gave freely of their advice to the
boys.


The need for a farm supervisor was realised and a visit from the Minister of
Education, Hon. P. Fraser and the Director of Education resulted in the
appointment of Mr B.L. Elphick as agriculture instructor to the school in
1938.


In the same year, the establishment of ‘Stratheona‘, purchased by Mr T.D.
Burnett, brought a new development to the Farm School. ‘Stratheona' was to
be run in conjunction with the Farm School and, under the guidance of Mr
Elphick. Agricultural Clubs in Calves, poultry, flowers and vegetables were
formed for interested pupils.


In hopes of more extensive development, Mr Burnett offered to lease the
farm land to the Education Department. As the offer was not acknowledged,
he withdrew it and the farm then became a private enterprise for the benefit of
Stratheona Hostel, a school for domestic trainees.


The last meeting of the Committee was held in September, 1942, when it was
decided to transfer the balance of the Farm School Committee funds to the
National Savings account. At the expiry of the period, it was to be given
towards the school baths or any object in connection with the school of which
the trustees approved.


When the Womens’ Division of Federated Farmers relinquished Stratheona
as a home training hostel. Mr V. Wilson conceived the idea of a farm training
school to be available for fourth year pupils of surrounding district high
schools. Stratheona would be extended and used as a Monday to Friday hostel.
He visualised the land being used for training, using Department of
Agriculture personnel and visiting tutors from Lincoln College with other
lessons linked with the school.


Mr Wilson gained approval from Lincoln College, Department of
Agriculture. Forestry Service, Education Board and Department but the
Government would not provide the money. Soon afterwards, Telford Farm
School was opened — the obvious explanation for the rejection of Mr
Wilson‘s scheme.


In 1965, the Stratheona land adjoining the school came on the market. A
trust was formed by seven local farmers and 26 acres, on the north and east
sides of the school was purchased for $7,400.


This land was cropped for several years in the hope that profits from the
venture would pay off the debt incurred.


The seven acres on the east side of the school was sold to the Department of
Education in April 1970 following the translation of the District High School
to separate schools.


Prior to this, the Trust had purchased a section adjoining the property
fronting Horton Street which gave access from that street to the seven acres
below the school grounds. This area, including the access section was later sold
to the Ministry of Works for approximately $3000 — a sufficient amount to
pay off the mortgage owed by the Trustees.


The Trustees continued to farm nineteen acres with assistance from
Ravensdown Fertiliser Company who supplied free fertiliser for research
projects. Very dry seasons spoiled this venture.


In 1983 Dalgety Agricultural Research leased the property for five years to
carry out research work. However, further dry seasons culminating in the flood
of 13th March 1986, which washed away a large part of the soil and deposited
quantities of shingle, spoiled this project also.


The forward thinking of several High School Board members in 1982
brought to fruition the establishment of a horticultural unit on the area of land
facing Halstead Road where the Trust agreed to lease one and a half acres to
the Pleasant Point High School.


Recently, the Trust has made another small plot available for trial planting
of various trees on the different types of soil deposited by the flood.


In 1979 when the Pleasant Point Saleyards closed, the School Farm Trust
purchased Saleyards’ property on the creek side of Grieg Street. The old
building was leased for several years to the Lands and Survey Department as
an operations base for their reserves in South Canterbury. This was terminated
after the 1986 flood devastation. The adjoining land was farmed in
conjunction with the main block of land across the road near the school.


In 1985, a portion of this saleyards property skirting the creek was sold for
the construction of squash courts for the district.


The remaining land continues to be farmed and the profits support the
Pleasant Point School Memorial Bursary.



  Pleasant Point School Memorial Bursary



At the end of the 1939-45 World War the Headmaster, Mr W.J. Bennett,
founded a bursary to be known as a Memorial Bursary in memory of pupils of
the school who had made the supreme sacrifice. The bursary was to be a cash
grant of twenty-five pounds to ex-pupils studying at Lincoln or Massey
Agricultural Colleges.


To start the fund, he compiled and published an arithmetic text book,
‘Every Day Farming Problems’, for use in rural courses at post primary
schools. Donations were also received from local farmers. This established the
fund and, on his retirement, Mr Bennett handed over the running of the
bursary to J.G. Munro, secretary of the School Committee.


A committee was then formed comprising Messrs V.W. Wilson, R.
Blakemore, the headmaster and J.G. Munro. This committee functioned till
1959 when Messrs M.F. Maze and F.W. Agnew as trustees of the Farm School
account, intimated that they were prepared to pay two hundred and forty-six
pounds into the bursary fund. This, added to the bursary account balance,
would enable the fund to pay bursaries out of income instead of depleting
capital as in the past. Five hundred pounds invested at five per cent yielded the
annual bursary.


More recently, the control of the bursary fund was transferred to the Board
of Governors of the High School. Over the past twenty years, with a buildup
in capital, many bursaries have been paid to students attending agricultural
colleges or similar educational establishments.



  Stratheona Home Training School




  A hundred men make an encampment, one woman makes a home.



This was the inscription on the gateway of the Stratheona Training School in
Home Arts at Pleasant Point which, in its lifetime, had a unique place in
women’s affairs.


Built in 1910 for local Storekeeper W. McKibbin, ownership later passed to
W. Arnott and eventually to TD. Burnett, M.F., a man prominent in the
district’s progress.


In 1938 Stratheona was gifted to the women of South Canterbury by Mr
Burnett. In the hands of a committee, the training school began with the aim
of equipping young women with the ability to manage a home and family in a
farming situation.
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    Students and Matron at Stratheona Training Hostel.

  




In 1951 the Stratheona Board of managers decided that the whole of New
Zealand should share the benefit of Mr Burnett‘s generosity and the Women’s
Division of Federated Farmers was invited to shoulder the responsibility of the
centre. The organisation agreed and with funds from the Burnett estate,
renovations to the cottage and hostel were carried out. The next year, its doors
opened to eight trainees with Mrs Mayo as principal. Trainees came from all
over New Zealand and, after the year-long course, received a first or second
class certificate. They were trained free of charge.


Training was comprehensive including home skills, child care, milking cows
and cleaning poultry runs. Trainees also provided a service to the farmers’
wives that was invaluable in times of stress.


Running expenses were as much a fact of life then as now and girls worked
towards this during training. Pleasant Point school children of that time well
remember the dinners available to them at a small cost. Lunches were made for
travelling groups and proceeds from produce from the fourteen acres were
retained by the centre for livestock. Donations and gifts through WDFF and
CWI groups were readily forthcoming and bequests from the Burnett Trust
were also granted.


The decision to close Stratheona came in 1961, based mainly on financial
grounds. This, however, was subject to some questioning as, for several years,
the centre had been self-supporting.


The following year the doors were closed on the only training school of its
kind in the country. It then became home to the Casey family for many years.


In 1980 Mr Dave Allnut became the new owner, his aim being to restore the
once gracious home to its original charm. This hope was shattered by the
March 1986 flood and it now stands a derelict reminder of that terrible day.


However, the home has since been sold and the new owners live in hope of
being able to restore it to its former glory.



      
        
  Local Government




Pleasant Point was originally administered conjointly by the Geraldine
County Council and the Levels Roads Board, rates being levied by each body.
The County Council looked after the bridges and the Roads Board concerned
itself with the roads.


The minutes of those meetings make interesting reading when one compares
the basic needs of the pioneers with the demands of today’s ratepayers.


In 1868, one of the immediate requirements was the reservation of land
suitable for a cemetery. About 35 acres was set aside on the hill and its
perimeters soon planted with attractive trees. The area not yet required for
plots was leased out for grazing and, in later years, has served as a car-park for
funerals.


With the absence of fencing in the district, wandering stock were a constant
worry to the Board so that the need for a Pound at Pleasant Point was the next
priority. Land was purchased in Te Ngawai Road near the creek, (now access
road to the sawmill), for ten pounds and a Pound was established in 1870 with
T. Watkins in charge of the stockyard. John Worthington was then appointed
Pound Keeper but it was not until 1874 that tenders were called for the erection
of a public Pound as such. Three years later, permission was granted for the
Pound to be used for holding stock sales.


The lot of the local Pound Keeper does not appear to have been a very
happy one! Pound Keepers seem to have been for ever changing. “There was
no money in it”, or they were dismissed for incompetence. Often, they were
accused of picking up stock from its rightful grazing area and deliberately
impounding it.


It would appear that the Pound Keeper leased the Public Pound and
collected the fines from owners before their stock was released. This often
resulted in unpleasant disputes.


In 1876, Henry Kee tendered successfully to build a Town Board Office at
Pleasant Point for the sum of fifty-seven pounds five shillings. It was situated
on Te Ngawai Road in front of the Pound.


Disputes over road and bridge building were common. Each farmer
maintained that a road to his farm was a pressing priority so that a great deal
of diplomacy was required from the Roads Board and the Geraldine County
Council in order to try and please everyone.


In 1879 tenders were accepted for the Te Ngawai Bridge and then, in 1882,
residents were demanding a road to the railway station which had been moved
to the far side of the line.


Flocks of exotic birds, finding no predators, swarmed the district and played
havoc with crops, causing constant worry to farmers. In attempts to lessen the
destruction, the Board distributed poisoned wheat to farmers and a bounty
was paid for birds’ heads and eggs. This was a welcome source of pocket
money to local children and, as early as 1883, the overseer reported having
collected 3,694 dozen birds’ eggs and 881 dozen young birds at a cost of fifty
six pounds.


By 1904, the bounty was one shilling a dozen for blackbird and thrush heads
and threepence a dozen for their eggs. Sparrows, linnets and larks brought
four shillings a dozen for heads and twopence a dozen for eggs. Birds were
described as being as destructive on arable farms as rabbits were on pastoral
runs. This scheme continued until the mid 1930s.


In 1890, when two or three children died from diphtheria, water pollution
and insanitary conditions caused concern in the township.


Complaints about a gravel pit being dug on a vacant section were made to
the Board in 1891. It was between Harris Street and the Main Road near
Russell Street and was described as “a great disfigurement to the area and
injuring adjacent sections”. E. Acton of the School Committee stated that it
would ultimately become a dangerous pit of stagnant water and a depot for
refuse. The Board replied that they could not abandon the pit but would plant
its surrounds with trees. This pit remained a source of complaint right up to
1954 when the Council sold it and it was filled with sawdust.


As the demands on the Board increased, it was found necessary to change
the method of administration by separating from the Geraldine County and
creating the Levels County Council to attend to the needs of the area.


The first meeting of the Council was held with A.E. Saunders as clerk and
Wm. Annand as overseer and its concerns were much the same as those of its
predecessor, roads and bridges being the major priority.


In 1895, they were asked to “lay planks over the creek on the Main Road
near the park to enable sheep to be crossed with less difficulty”.


The siting of the bridge over the Opihi at the end of Halstead Road caused
much heated discussion and the farmers on Waitohi Flat were accused of
pressing for a bridge for their own financial gain. Their reason for wanting the
bridge was to get stock to the Pleasant Point sales which were the biggest in
South Canterbury and where sheep made a shilling a head more than
elsewhere. It took until 1903 before the Levels and Geraldine County Councils
could agree on its location. It was eventually built by Wm. Hopkinson of
Temuka for 4328 pound 19 shillings, Levels C.C. paying a half share.


As the township was growing rapidly, a request for three kerosene lamps to
be located in the village was approved in 1906.


Even in those days, the desire to live in attractive surroundings was evident.
Residents in the Morton zone applied to have the portion of the road fronting
the Creek set aside for beautifying purposes. This was, presumably, the area
skirting Kumara and Runa Terraces.


By 1908 the township had grown to such an extent that it was gazetted as a
Town District. John Crawford, local bootmaker, was elected first Chairman
of the Town Board and members were B. Butcher, E. Halstead, F. Dossett,
W.B. Oborn, Wm. McKibben, Wm. Halstead, Frank Nelligan and C. Smith,
clerk.


It became the Town Board‘s responsibility to attend to the welfare of the
township with boundaries extending from the Domain to the Police station, to
the end of Te Ngawai Road and just beyond the northern saleyards boundary.
As with the Council, roadworks and footpaths seem to have been one of the
first priorities of the Town Board.


When it took over from the council, the Main Road, then known as
Dominion Street, was a rough track on either side of an ugly gully. In wet
weather, the gully filled with water and the street and footpath became almost
impassable with pedestrians ‘up to their knees in mud’.


It is said that Mary Lambert from the Chemist’s would throw pennies into
the gully when the water level was high, for boys to dive after and claim for
themselves. Thousands of tons of metal were carted from the shingle pit at
Sutherlands and railed to Pleasant Point where it was dumped by the railway
to be scooped into the gully by Town Board employees and railwaymen.


As happens with all such elected bodies, the Town Board received its share
of criticism from the ratepayers. The following ‘Letter to the Editor” of 1914 is
an amusing example:



  To the Editor Timaru Herald, “Sir The annual
  election of the Pleasant Point Town Board Commissioners drawing near I beg
  through the medium of your valuable paper to urge the ratepayers of this
  township to ‘wake up’ and look around for some intelligent and progressive
  minded citizens to fill the coming vacant seats on the Board. We all know that
  some of our esteemed residents love to imagine themselves as living in an
  English village that their cup of joy would be filled if only the working men
  would go round in smocks pulling their forelocks and their womenfolk bob-
  courtseying in cotton gowns and sun bonnets, and that these good people have
  no wish to see the town advance and laugh at all suggested improvements. But
  surely we have a sufficient number of intelligent and independent members in
  our community to outnumber the voting powers of these antediluvians.
  Therefore, I say ‘Pleasant Point, wake up!’ and make your town worthy of its
  name.


  The following matters need urgent attention:

  (1) The efficient and punctual lighting of the Lux Monument Lamp. (2) the
  efficient and punctual lighting of existing street lamps and the procuring and
  erecting of a dozen more. (3) The clearing of ground round the Coronation
  Memorial and fencing in of the same. (4) The opening of all closed roads in the
  Town Borough. (5) The demolition of several rotting and dilapidated empty
  shanties which are hideous eyesores and a menace to the public health. (6) The
  completing and forming and asphalting certain footpaths undertaken but not
  finished by the late contractor. (7) The appointment of a local sanitary
  inspector. — I am. etc..


  PROGRESS. 27th March 1914.”




Sanitation was a major concern of the Town Board. Most local residents
had a ‘privy’ down the garden path and relied on the ‘night cart’ to empty the
bucket at a fee set by the Board. This task and the rating for same were
constantly under discussion.


In 1932 at the height of the depression it was proposed that the Sanitary
Scheme be discontinued as owing to many ratepayers defaulting on payments,
the Board was unable to carry on. Consequently, the duties of the ‘night man’
were confined to the inner area of the township and the outskirts were made
voluntary.


Payment of Board employees became so difficult that one man was
dispensed with and the sanitary and road works were combined at 14/6 per
day.


At that time, unemployment was rife and the Board was constantly being
asked to create work of a development nature. At one time, there were as
many as twenty-six men seeking jobs with the Board. Poverty was so severe
that rates were reduced to 7/8d in the pound,general funds, and 1/4d in the
pound for special Hall rate to try and alleviate the financial problems of the
ratepayers.


As a consequence, the Board was limited in the amount of men they could
afford to employ under any scheme they might undertake. Under the Scheme
in 1938, ten men were allocated to maintaining the footpaths, the Creek and
drains, screening shingle for side streets, gardening, fencing and control of
noxious weeds.


Another responsibility befalling the Town Board was the annual
appointment of a Dog Tax Collector whose duty it was to go from house to
house registering dogs at the set fee and issuing collars made under contract by
the local saddler.


The appointment of an ‘examiner’ for traffic licences was also made by the
Town Board and for many years, the office was held by the proprietor of
Pleasant Point Motors, C. Smith and, later, H. Blissett. The Board was so
irate when, in 1936, it was notified that, in future, the Transport Department
would take over the task, that an objection was lodged with the Department.
In expressing their disapproval, the Board stated that Local Bodies would suffer
a serious loss of revenue as a result of this move. They had issued 180 traffic
licences that year.


Speed limits in the township were set by the Town Board. A prosecution in
1920 reads: 



  The Inspector under the By-laws for the Pleasant Point Town Board has
    had a good deal of trouble in prosecuting motorists for exceeding the speed
    limit of 12 miles per hour on the Main Street. Tests were made on a stretch of
    190 yards, including the most dangerous spots, by stop-watch! The marks were
    a gutter at the Railway Goods Shed and a dip in the Creek west of all the
    buildings. Apparently the test car’s speedometer or the stopwatch were not
    functioning accurately and there were many irate motorists as a result!




For some considerable time, the Board paid Mr Williams 5/- per week to
wind the Town Clock. In those days it was weighted similar to a grandfather
clock.


The Public Pound was also the responsibility of the Board and it would
seem that the Poundekeepers’s job remained unpopular. Impounded stock not
only included horses, cattle and sheep but also, on one occasion, a flock of
ducks was seized following complaints from their owner’s neighbour that they
were forever fouling his garden and the Creek Reserve.


Setting the day for the statutory half-closing day for the shops in the
township was a constant headache for the Board in the 1930s. For many years,
Thursday afternoon had been the customary half day but, in 1934, it was
retained only by the casting vote of the chairman. From then on, it became a
hot issue with the business men who even suggested that a poll be taken at the
next Town Board election.


1936 brought two petitions to the Board from the business men. One asked for
Saturday afternoon to be the weekly half holiday and the other “prayed that the
Board see fit to still observe Thursday as the statutory half holiday”. The Thursday
supporters won and that continued to be so until 1939 when closing time was
changed to Saturday afternoon. At this, five local businessmen were so angry they
asked the Board to write to the Minister of Labour to rescind the motion. But the
battle was lost. The Minister replied that “nothing could be done”.


The main thoroughfare of Pleasant Point became a matter for concern in
the 1930s because of the “tremendous amount of travelling over the area”.
Application was made to the Highways Board in 1932 for a 300—Pound grant
for roads maintenance and, in 1934, approval was given for the tar sealing of
1 1/2 miles of highway within the township, in 1934, fifteen chains of the
highway was sealed for the full width but completion of the tar sealing of all
roads in the township was a long, slow process continuing into the 1960s.


The war years brought added concerns to the Town Board. Fears of
Japanese invasion in 1941 prompted the enforcement of ‘black-out’
regulations everywhere. Temporary extinction of street lights was enforced, all
household lights had to be shrouded and wardens were appointed to see that
this was carried out and adhered to.


Hall maintenance and water supply were other major concerns of the Town
Board which are dealt with elsewhere in this book.


The suggestion that it should amalgamate with the Levels County Council,
was put to the Board as early as 1937 but there was strong objection to this
notion so that it did not eventuate until 1954. Since then, control of the
township has been the responsibility of the County Council.


The development of a complete sewerage system throughout the township
would be the biggest scheme undertaken by the County Council since it took
control. The scheme was started in 1968 and was extended to cover the western
side of the township in 1985. The project had a profound effect on Pleasant
Point’s development as it stimulated a demand for building sections and more
houses and permitted the subdivision of large sections.


In 1977 a Community Council of seven members was formed under the
chairmanship of R. Malthus, to assist the County Council in the planning and
control of the township Although not having complete autonomy, the
Community Council is given a measure of freedom to estimate its own level of
rating and authorise its own works within the approved estimates of the
County Council. Generally, all money raised in the community is spent for its
benefit.


A cost sharing arrangement does exist with respect to some facilities, e.g.
Recreational reserves the Cemetery, Beck Road rubbish tip are met on a 50/50
basis and the Baths on a 30 per cent basis by the County Council, the balance
being met by the Community Council.


The Community Council is levied by the County Council for administration
charges as follows:



  	20 per cent of general rate expenditure net of any loan charges.

  	10 per cent of sewer scheme expenditure net of any loan charges.

  	20 per cent of refuse collection expenditure.




The basis of rating in the Strathallan County, including the community, is
capital value. In addition, uniform charges are levied for water, sewers and
refuse.


The current rateable capital value of the community is $31,544,900. It is
interesting to compare the rates and charges levied for the current financial
year with that of earlier times, viz:



  
    
      	1989/90 General Rate
      	$114,846.68
    

    
      	Water Supply charges
      	$72,335.64
    

    
      	Sewer charges
      	$50,571.07
    

    
      	Refuse charges
      	$21,949.01
    

  



1932/33 Rates: 400 pound from general rate at 1—1/8d in the pound.

Special Hall rate 100 pound from 14d in the pound.

Sanitary fees 200 pound.


Under the reorganisation of local government, the Community Council will
go out of existence on 31 October, 1989. In its place will be the Pleasant Point
Community Board with similar functions but covering a large rural district as
well as the township.



      
        
  The Farming Community




Throughout its history, Pleasant Point township has been extremely
dependent on the rural community that encompasses it. In the pioneering
days, the accommodation house was established as a ‘stop-over’ to meet the
needs of the up-country waggoners; the blacksmith, wheelwright and saddler
to maintain the horses and waggons; the grocer and the baker to provide
sustenance.


In the early days of farming, the land was grazed. Each large valley
constituted a ‘Run’ in contrast to the many farms that make up the same area
today. The Opuha valley was owned by Wigley, the Opihi by Acton, Totara
Valley by Howell, Raincliff by Burke, Levels by Rhodes.


Then came the era of exploitation as agricultural farming was pursued and
the virgin soil broken in. Wheat and barley were popular crops and as early as
1863, Acton reported that 15,000 bushels of grain had been grown in the
district. By this time, the Walton flour mill was functioning at Mill Road.


Legislation in 1893 brought about sub-division of land on a large scale. Sales
were forced by the Govemment’s new enterprise in opening up land. The New
Zealand Land Company was ‘prepared to sell farms on its estates’ which were
slowly being reduced in area.


This drastically reduced the area of the Levels Run and resulted in close
settlement of the region. Men who had worked hard as shearers, musterers,
roadmen, etc and had saved sufficient money to buy a small holding of forty
acres as a beginning to life on the land, became the ‘small farmers.’


The advent of the meat freezing industry caused a revolution in small
farming. Farmers began to breed sheep for the fat lamb trade, and alternated
cropping to return fertility to the land. As more land was developed, root
crops such as turnips and potatoes were grown. The local saleyards flourished
with the increasing sheep population.


Throughout the years, market fluctuations have influenced the farming
scene. The end of the 1914—18 war brought with it pressing demands for land
settlement. Production could scarcely keep pace with the corresponding rise in
land values and years of economic stress followed.


Most farmers in the district practised ‘Mixed Farming’ with sheep and
cropping and many supported a small dairy factory.


The cream van had a regular beat on collection day and one or two cans at
each farm gate was a familiar scene. To supplement the income or help pay the
grocer, the farmer’s wife would sell surplus butter and eggs to the grocer when
he called on his delivery round.


Following the Second World War, there was again urgent demand for land
settlement. This brought about an even greater increase in prices with the
corresponding rise in wages. The use of lime improved the fertility of the land
and this, in conjunction with irrigation and the Downlands Water Scheme,
markedly increased the carrying capacity of the farms.


Small seed production of grasses and clover became lucrative cash crops as
well as helping to improve soil fertility. Mechanisation led to a complete
revolution in the farming world.


The reaper and binder with their teams of horses, the traction engine towing
the threshing plant from farm to farm, all became scenes of the past. Combine
harvesters reduced weeks of hard labour to a few days’ work as did tractors
and havebalers and shearing machines.
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    Harvest time - early 1930's.
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Progress continued with silos for bulk grain storage replacing the bagging of
the earlier ‘header’ days and double decker road transporters moving vast
numbers of stock direct from farm to freezing works.


In recent years, the fall in demand on world markets combined with
increasingly high costs of production has rendered many farms uneconomic.
As a result, some are being purchased by more established neighbours, thus
increasing the size of the holdings.


Yet again, some have been subdivided into 20-40 acres blocks and sold as
‘hobby farms’ whence the owners commute to city employment during the
week and become weekend farmers.


The farming scene continues to change as markets demand. When wool and
meat prices slumped, farmers began to diversify. Deer farming for velvet and
goat farming for mohair are familiar scenes in the district. Even llamas have
been experimentally introduced. Small fruit, pip and stone fruit orchards are
recent ventures as farmers try to ‘catch’ the right markets.


One thing is certain. No matter what the farming scene may be, Pleasant
Point township remains dependent on the large rural area it serves.



      
        
  Pleasant Point Saleyards




From very early days Pleasant Point was recognised as a stock-raising centre
and it very soon became a centre for buying and selling stock.


The first attempt at a stock market in South Canterbury was held at
Pleasant Point on 8th December 1871. Horses sold from low figures up to
thirty pounds. A small lot of pigs, eight weeks old, made five to six shillings
and lambs four shillings. No cattle were sold and, on the whole, the fair was a
failure but things changed in the ensuing years.


The local Pound, then situated close to the creek in Te Ngawai Road, (now
access to the saw-mill) was the venue for the first stock sales in the district. Use
of the Pound was granted in 1877 and McLean Bros, auctioneers, journeyed
there periodically to wield the hammer. It soon became evident that more up-to-date
facilities were required for the penning and disposal of stock than the
Pound had to offer.


Land was purchased from Mr Wm. Halstead and the yards were put up at a
daily rate under the supervision of Mr E. Acton, the first chairman of the
company. In 1881, extensive additions were made to the yards by the late
Messrs Dossett and Drake. Others holding office in this company were H.C.
Verity, Jas. Stewart and J. Murphy.


A report in the Timaru Herald on 2nd November 1881 read as follows:



  On Monday, the yards erected by the Pleasant Point Saleyards Company
  were opened. The capacity of the cattle yards was fully tested by an entry of
  four hundred head and the opinion was freely expressed that the Company will
  require to complete their original design. This they have been unable to do
  through the want of support by a number of persons who entered cordially
  into the preliminary arrangements and have not taken up shares so freely as
  the management was led to anticipate.


  The commodious sheep pens were not greatly patronised, the present season
  not being favourable for large sales of sheep but this department is pretty
  certain to be a prominent feature in future sales.


  Having secured a site of four acres, the Directors have provided for ample
  development which may be fairly predicted for the business of a centre
  commanding such a large and agriculturally thriving district. The Levels Road
  Board have lately removed a very narrow bridge in the immediate vicinity and
  erected a substantial structure giving free access to the Company‘s grounds.


  The auctioneers were Jones, Wildie, Allan and Stumbles and Maclean and
  Stewart and, with the very large attendance, the day's proceedings were
  probably satisfactory. The Directors have arranged a very liberal scale of
  charges for travelling stock, drafting purposes, etc., and there is no doubt
  shareholders will be handsomely paid for their enterprises.




As early as 1896, the sales at Pleasant Point were rated the largest in South
Canterbury. By 1903, the Company could foresee the need for access to the
saleyards from Te Ngawai Road to avoid the driving of sheep and cattle from
the west through the township.


Application was made to the Levels County Council for the necessary
roading. It took much haggling with the property owner, Mr Greig, to
persuade him to sell the required land, even though the Church Property
Trustees were prepared to accept the offer of thirty pounds an acre for their
part of the land. An agreement was finally reached at forty-five pounds an
acre and the ‘Saleyards Road’ was opened up. On 29th April, 1905, the
Salesyards Company was officially registered as such.


The Articles of Association of the company provided very wide terms of
reference but its main activity was in the provision of facilities for the
reception, sale and despatch of all classes of live and dead stock. With the
passage of time, the Pleasant Point yards became well known for the sale of
livestock and did become the second largest facility in Canterbury after the
Addington yards near Christchurch.
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    Early scene of local Saleyards with pig pens in foreground.

  




Saleday became the regular meeting place for many farmers and others from
a wide area and, apart from the opportunity for them to keep abreast of the
market value of their stock, the day also provided a great chance for them to
discuss and argue about everything from the weather to politics.


Church councils and other local organisations frequently set their meeting
days to coincide with sale days.


For many years, fat and store sheep and cattle were catered for as well as
pigs and horses but, as more and more farmers replaced their teams of horses
with tractors, the sale of horses dwindled and finally ceased. Similarly, the
number of pigs being offered diminished and eventually ceased to be a feature
of the sales. At the same time, with the increased demand for beef and the
subsequent increase in cattle being offered for sale, it became necessary to
expand the facilities for the display and sale of store cattle.


The continual good attendance of farmers, stock agents, dealers, butchers
and interested onlookers made apparent the need for catering arrangements so
the Saleyards Company made their modest facilities available for this purpose.
Various organisations such as Church groups. Women’s organisations, Red
Cross, Library Committee, Fire Service and others served countless lunches
and teas at a reasonable price over many years. Arranged by roster on a
voluntary basis, this activity provided a worthwhile boost to the funds of these
various groups while, at the same time, providing a great opportunity for
fellowship among the ladies of the district.


The resources of the company were always stretched to the limit with the
need to maintain and upgrade the yards continually on its modest income.


The company was first registered with a capital of five hundred one pound
shares of which fifty-seven were unallotted. No further infusion of share
capital was ever made. Annual maintenance and improvements were all
carried out from revenue. In the year ended 30 June, 1930, total yard fees,
when converted to decimal currency, amounted to only $482.33 and this figure
increased to a maximum of $10,901.55 in the year ended 30 June, 1973. The
return from yard fees varied markedly from year to year and appears to have
been very dependent on prevailing climatic conditions.


Originally, the company had purchased four acres of land fronting onto
Greig Street and Halstead Road but, because of the increasing number of
stock being offered and the need for more sheep pens, a further acre of
adjoining land, fronting on to Greig Street, was bought in 1946.


As the number of stock being yarded increased, so did the demand for
improved facilities. Steel cattle pens were erected, yards were concreted, toilets
installed and catering facilities upgraded. Another three acres was bought in
1973 with a view to expanding the cattle yards.
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    Full sheep pens on a busy sale day.

  




At the same time competition increased from other regional districts with
Temuka, in particular, vying for fat stock. Federated Farmers were actively
campaigning for centralised markets with covered selling areas. It became
apparent that buyers of fat stock, in particular, showed a clear preference for
the market to be centralised at Temuka.


Subsequently the Pleasant Point directors entered into an agreement with
Temuka whereby that company accepted responsibility for providing the
facilities for all sheep and fat cattle whilst Pleasant Point would concentrate
on servicing the store cattle market. Sheep sales finished at Pleasant Point in
1973 and cattle sales in 1977.


Extensive investigations into the most suitable selling facilities for cattle
revealed that there would have to be an infusion of capital into the company to
meet the cost involved. The number of user shareholders had diminished over
the years - so it was felt desirable to alter the share capital structure and
introduce fresh vendor capital A postal survey of the region however,
disclosed that there was not a consensus of opinion as to the location of selling
facilities but most favoured one centralised venue.


The Pleasant Point directors then approached the directors of the Temuka
Saleyards Company with the suggestion that the two companies amalgamate,
thus avoiding the duplication of facilities and leading, eventually, to the
establishment of one central saleyards at a suitable site. This, however, was
not acceptable to the Temuka shareholders and the proposal lapsed.


The Pleasant Point directors then decided that, as their first responsibility
was to the shareholders, a substantial number of whom were no longer using the
facilities the company provided, their interests could best be served by the
return to them of the current value of their investment.


The company was subsequently wound up in 1979 and thus ended an era in
the history of Pleasant Point.
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    A fleet of transport trucks lined up in Halstead Road at a Ewe Fair at the Saleyards.

  





      
        
  Transport




Railways


Suggestions of a tramway or railway to The Point probably started to
surface soon after Julius Vogel’s now-famous ‘Immigration and Public Works
Act, 1870’ was passed by the General Assembly in September 1870. This Act,
coupled with the ‘Railways Act, 1870,’ amongst other things set in motion the
construction of certain railways in both the North and South Islands to open
up new tracts of land which had previously been inaccessible to all but the
bravest settlers. One of the railways scheduled under the 1870 Railways Act
was that section between Timaru and Temuka, and in 1871 construction was
started. A railway system promised fast (by 1870s standards) and reliable
means of transport, both for passengers and goods, and no doubt the early
settlers of The Point were very quick to realise the potential benefits to the
township should such a system be brought there.


While the General Government was undertaking the construction of the
‘trunk’ lines, the Provincial Governments were largely responsible for the
construction of any branch lines they saw fit to make, with the proviso that the
General Government would ultimately take them over. In this way the
Canterbury Provincial Government was providing money to build its own
railway system fanning from Christchurch, and other branch lines that were
from time to time proposed.


As far as public works in South Canterbury were concerned a Board entitled
the Timaru and Gladstone Board of Works was created in 1867; being
answerable and very much under the authority of the Canterbury Provincial
Government. Therefore, any works that required attention in this region were
generally delegated to the Board or Works to look after. This Board ceased to
exist when the Provincial Governments were abolished in 1876.


In early 1872 the Provincial Council allocated, amongst other things, the
sum of 5,000 Pound for the construction of a railway between Washdyke and
Pleasant Point. In July of that year the Timaru Herald published a
memorandum sent to Mr W. Rolleston (Superintendent of Canterbury) and
the Hon. E.W. Stafford, M.H.R., which stated: ‘We the undersigned
members of the Pleasant Point Farmer’s Club, and other residents interested
in this district, desire to represent to you that the Provincial Government has
voted the sum of 5,000 Pound towards a branch tramway, 8 miles in length,
from the Washdyke Railway junction to Pleasant Point, on the grounds that
the grain and wool products which would be thus carried, fully justify the
undertaking. Also that a very large area of agricultural land not now within a
days drayage (and absolute need for success in farming) would then become
available for farmers and permanent settlement. And we wish to represent to
you that the geographical position of this line of road, will necessitate its being
the only means of exit for a large extent of back country. We therefore hope
that in the furtherance of the interests of the district, you will think it proper to
urge on the General Government, the advisability of including this branch line
in the contracts now being arranged for railway works from The Washdyke to
The Orari, this utilising the Provincial Government’s vote, and prompting the
settlement and prosperity of this district.’


According to the Herald this memorandum had about 100 signatures.
Although the memorandum sought the General Government’s assistance, it
was the Provincial Government which would ultimately be dealing with the
Washdyke to Pleasant Point Railway.


In October 1872 the Timaru and Gladstone Board of Works discussed the
various monies that had been allocated to individual public works, finding that
it did not have sufficient funds in any one project to get any of them off the
ground. The Board forwarded their concerns on this subject to the Provincial
Government and in due course the Board was informed: ‘That the Provincial
Government would be glad to receive from the Board, any recommendations
(accompanied with estimates of costs) they may consider fit to make with
reference to the Public works in the district south of the Rangitata, either in
connection with those already under charge of the Board, or such others as the
Board may deem advantageous to the interests of the district.’ Naturally the
Board members were more than happy to do this and at the November 1872
meeting drafted a list which included 17,600 Pound for the Point-Washdyke
Railway. This sum was duly placed on the Estimates of the Provincial
Government in December 1872 for the year ended 30th September 1873.


Following the allocation of funds and further communication with the
Canterbury Provincial hierarchy the Board called for tenders for building the
branch railway on 3lst March 1873, using plans and specifications drawn up
by the Board’s Engineer, Mr G.M. Babington. However, due to the fact that
negotiations were not completed with the landowner at Washdyke - over
whose land the railway would cross - the contract was limited to the railway
starting from the western side of the Main North Road, thus making it
necessary to bring in all materials for the job by road!


The contract for the construction of the branch line was let by the Board,
subject to the usual approval of the Provincial Government, on 8th May 1873
to Mr William White Jnr.; his tender price being 22,040 Pound 1/6d. At the
time only 17,600 Pound had been allocated for this work, so another sum, this
time 5,500 Pound, was appropriated by the Provincial Government on 12th
June 1873. The Board of Works was advised of this by letter dated 19th June
at their meeting of the 26th instant. However at this meeting a problem arose.
Mr Babington had resigned as Engineer to the Board, and his successor, Mr T.
Roberts, recommended that an alternation should be made in the plan from
which the contractor had based his calculations so as to alter the site of the
station at the township of Piko (Pleasant Point), and also the line of railway
there so that a greater distance of road could be provided between certain town
sectors and the railway line, as by Mr Babington’s plan only about 13 or 15
feet of roadway would be left. Unfortunately Babington’s plans have not
survived so it is not possible to positively identify where he had planned to
place the Pleasant Point railway station. Roberts also stated at the meeting
that a fresh survey would be necessary for the Point Railway, which would
take another six weeks to complete. Therefore the Board had to request Mr
White to sign his contract with changes still to be made to the plans and
specifications.


In September 1873 the General Assembly passed through Parliament ‘The
Washdyke and Pleasant Point Railway Act, 1873,‘ which was, to quote the
title: ‘An act to enable the Superintendent of the Province of Canterbury to
construct a railway between the Washdyke on that portion of the Southern
Trunk Line between the town of Timaru and Temuka and Pleasant Point, in
the Levels Road District.’


After much delay and correspondence the contract was finally signed in
December 1873 and Mr White’s men started work on 18th February 1874. On
13th March it was noted that about 45 chains of formation had been done
from the Main North Road westwards.


In June 1874 the Canterbury and Otago Land Association offered the Board
of Works a piece of land. near where the Police Station is today, for the
railway station, suggesting that this site would be more suitable for the
purpose of station accommodation than that currently envisaged. Of course,
the offer was made with more than generosity in mind. as the Association
had land near the offered site, and in the 1870's a railway station near land
increased the land’s value considerably and made it more saleable. Naturally,
the settlers who had already purchased land near the station site as set down by
Mr Roberts in 1873 were not at all amused by the offer and started a petition
requesting the Board to stick to its current plans. After taking all relevant
matters into consideration the Board members on 13th August 1874 decided to
leave things as they were and declined the Association’s offer. By this stage
monies for the railway extension to Opawa (Albury) had been placed on the
Provincial Government Estimates. The extension was therefore certain to
proceed and the need for a bigger station site diminished with the knowledge
that Pleasant Point would not be the terminus of the line as originally
envisaged.


By early 1875 the contractor’s progress was beginning to be unsatisfactory
a point brought before the Board on several occasions by the new Engineer.
Mr John Rochfort. Tenders were called on 19th February 1875 for the
connection contract at Washdyke; the contract being awarded on 3rd March
1875 to Messrs Allan and Stumbles for 816 Pound 16s.6d.


While progress was slow on the main contract, sufficient work had been
done to allow tenders to be called on 23rd July 1875 for the construction of
station buildings at Pleasant Point, Waitohi Road (Waitawa) and Levels.
Although Mr Rochfort had estimated the increase in the price required to build
the Pleasant Point station and goods shed of stone, no doubt the Provincial
Government would not have agreed to such additional expenditure, and all
tenders received were for wooden structures. On 4th August 1875 the Board
accepted Messrs Ashton and Peter‘s tender for the construction of a 4th Class
station building and a goods shed at Pleasant Point at 1,268 Pound 12s. No
doubt this contract included provision for the completion of the platform as
well.


Finally, after all the problems and delays, a train consisting of Canterbury
Railways engine No. 21 (later N.Z.R. ‘C’ 53) and a carriage travelled on the
Point Branch Railway for the first time on Monday, 25th October 1875,
conveying some of the General Government and Provincial Government
authorities and Mr Rochfort. According to the local press the authorities
referred to, expressed themselves highly pleased with the efficiency of the line.
The whole line, including buildings and fencing, was finished about 10th
December 1875 and was opened for traffic, surprisingly without public
ceremony, on 24th December 1875, with the following time-table, which
allowed for two trips each way per day: TIMARU, departing 8.50am and 4
pm, arriving PLEASANT POINT at 9.15am and 4.45pm respectively,
and returning from PLEASANT POINT at 9.45am and 5.15pm, arriving at
TIMARU at 10.30am and 6pm respectively.


The line was later extended to Albury (opened 1st January 1877),
Winscombe (opened 22nd August 1883) and lastly Fairlie Creek and Eversley
(opened 28th )anuary 1884). Grandiose schemes to extend the line on to
Silverstream and through Burke's Pass into the MacKenzie Country were
devised and discussed, but these schemes never eventuated.


So for only a short time Pleasant Point was the terminus; quickly becoming
just another station on the Opawa (Albury) Extension and later the Fairlie
Branch Line. However the arrival of the railway did bring great improvements
in transport for the settlers, and land values generally increased about the
township. Settlers now had a reliable means by which to send and receive their
produce and supplies, and could also travel to Timaru in comfort six days a
week.
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    A very early scene at the Railway Station. Note the Catholic Church without its tower.

  




In 1881 the Telegraph Department decided to implement a telegraph service
to Albury. While this was being established some prominent citizens of
Pleasant Point again brought up the subject of the site of the local station.
From the letters and articles in the Timaru Herald it transpired that
memorandums were sent to; and private consultations held with, political
representatives to get the station removed to a site further west. Around this
time, railway carpenters arrived to make the necessary additions to the station
building to accommodate the telegraphic equipment. After stripping the
boards off one end of the station they received instructions to stop all work in
this regard until the site problem was resolved. Of course, as often happens,
the subject dragged on from weeks to months, and at least one correspondent
to the Timaru Herald decried the deplorable and tatty condition of the
Pleasant Point railway station! To make matters worse the telegraph system
which had been completed to Albury;but which had no connection at Pleasant
Point, promulgated the ludicrous situation whereby residents wishing to
telegraph messages to Timaru would have to travel to Albury to do so! Finally
the station was removed westwards to its present site over July and August
1882 and the telegraph office built; telegraphic communication being started in
the township on 23rd October 1882. Further additions and alterations were
made to the station in 1900, when on 26th July 1900 the Temuka Leader noted:



  Some important and much needed alterations have recently been made at
  the Pleasant Point railway station. Twelve feet have been added to the eastern
  end of the station, which will be used exclusively for postal and telegraphic
  work. Entering this addition from the platform on the left is a long desk
  extending the breadth of the building, subdivided so as to give privacy to the
  public in writing telegrams and other postal work. On the right is the postal
  delivery counter, divided from the office proper by sliding glass windows.


  There are also let into the wall twelve private letter boxes, which should prove
  a great convenience to the public. The roof of the old station has been raised
  about two feet, and all painted throughout; also the waiting room. The ladies”
  waiting room has received special attention, and is carpeted and furnished
  throughout in a very comfortable style.




The railway station also served from an early date (probably soon after 1875)
as the Post Office until the new (and now closed) Post Office building was
opened in 1913.


For many years the station acted as a training station for railway
telegraphers. Staff were being trained there in 1917 and the training facilities
may well have been provided up until the 1940s.
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    Grain being unloaded at the Railway Station.

  




From the day it opened, The Point’s main traffic was wool, grain and
livestock, although obviously passengers and mail contributed to the line’s
profitability. At times the goods shed would be full to overflowing with bags
of wheat and grain, so much so that a shortage of railway trucks meant that
the Railways Department could not always clear the produce within a
reasonable time — a long-standing problem that no doubt annoyed those
involved no end. In later years the local area sent timber away from Cook’s
Sawmill and brought in equipment and supplies for the Downlands Water
Supply project. The Pleasant Point saleyards also provided the station with
revenue as livestock was transported in and out.


In many ways the railway station was a very important place in its hey-day
and the local Station-master held a place of respect in the community. When a
Stationmaster, and even in many cases a lower ranked officer, was transferred
out of the district, a farewell dinner or gathering would be held and a public
subscription raised to buy the departing officer a gift with a token of the
community’s esteem, invariably the local newspaper would cover the
gathering word for word. Two very popular Station-masters farewelled in this
way were Mr M.L. Bracefield in 1918 and Mr B. Felton in 1927.
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    Timber from Cook's Mill waiting to be transported by rail.

  




Apart from the alterations to the Pleasant Point station already mentioned,
occasional changes were made to the yards and facilities, and even more
requests for the same. In 1906 the sole loading bank was altered following
local representations, and in 1923 a second loading bank was requested and
approved; it being noted as being complete by September of that year. A third
loading bank was asked for in 1944 but because of the war raging at the time it
was politely declined, and in fact by 1951 questions were being asked by
Railways Head Office as to whether two loading banks were required.
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    A typical train load at the Railway Station when Railway Transport was at its peak.

  




Supposedly Pleasant Point had stock yards by 1876, and at a later stage new
yards were erected near the location of the former station site. Alterations or
renewal of the stockyards were discussed in 1911, and additions were noted as
having been made in 1915 and 1926. In 1911 and 1923 plans were drawn up to
extend the cattle yard siding, which was eventually done. With the advent of
bigger locomotives and longer trains, larger capacity water vats were installed,
which in turn showed up weaknesses in the windmill’s capacity to pump
sufficient water to meet demand. In 1924 the Station-master suggested in
correspondence to the District Traffic Manager, Christchurch, that a small oil
engine be supplied to do the necessary pumping of water when the windmill
was unable to fulfil its work. It was stated that to the year ended 31st March
1924 the sum of 26 Pound 6s 9d had been expended by the Railways
Department for casual labour employed on pumping water at The Point! The
request for an oil engine was declined on the basis that it was expected that
electric current would be available shortly and Pleasant Point would be one
of the stations where an electrically operated pump should be installed.
Whether the electric pump was supplied is not recorded but on 10th September
1941 the Station-master of the day was advised that the Department was
considering a proposal to eliminate the windmill in favour of connecting the
water system to the Downlands Water Scheme.



As time went by the motor car and motor lorry started to appear in greater
numbers, and those with foresight would probably have seen the writing on the
wall for branch lines such as that to Fairlie as early as the 1920s. On 2nd June
1932 the District Traffic Manager, Dunedin, wrote to the General Manager of
Railways, Wellington, stating that:



  For the year ended 27th February 1932 the
  loss in the operation of this line was 1,566 Pound, with a feeder value of 1487
  Pound, and in view of the satisfactory position disclosed, it obviously would
  not be an economical proposition to close this portion of the line. At the
  present time road motor competition is particularly keen in this area, one
  regular service and four irregular services running between Fairlie and Timaru,
  and one regular service and five irregular services running between Pleasant
  Point and Timaru. The volume of business handled on the Branch is not
  sufficient to justify the two competitive forms of transportation, and the
  regulating of the road transport would eliminate the loss incurred in operating
  this Branch. With a view to reducing the operating costs on this line the train
  service has been overhauled from time to time and the present service which
  comprises one mixed train each way daily is found to be the minimum service
  that will adequately handle the traffic and combat the keen road competition.
  The question of abandoning the passenger traffic and running a restricted
  goods service on this line was gone into in March last but it was found that
  such action would divert a considerable portion of our goods traffic to the
  road and would result in a loss of over 1,000 Pound per annum in passenger
  traffic. In areas where keen road competition is in operation, our experience
  has been that with any less frequent service than a daily one, consignors will
  not hold back consignments when a daily service is available by road.




Obviously from the questions asked by the General Manager’s Office, the
Railways were looking at cutting costs as the Great Depression deepened, and
the closure of the Fairlie Branch, along with other branches, was obviously
considered in 1932. The motor car was reducing passenger numbers, and with
the influx of motor trucks into the district, especially after the Second World
War, the gradual decline in freight traffic slowly but surely continued to take
its toll on the profitability of the Fairlie Branch Line. The system of transport
which had so successfully replaced the earlier forms of road carriers was itself
being worn down by more modern methods of road mobility. There were
times, even after the last war, when the Branch was exceedingly busy, but these
were more than outweighed by times when a train to Fairlie was little more
than an engine, a few trucks, and a guardsvan. In the late 1950s and early
1960s stations on the Branch were closed and the buildings sold off, until
finally, on 10th August 1967 the Minister of Railways, the Hon. J.B. Gordon
announced that the 35 mile Washdyke—Fairlie branch line would be closed as it
was losing $43,000 a year.


Despite the actions of a group calling itself the Fairlie Railway Retention
Committee in taking the Minister of Railways to Court to try and stop the
closure, the Branch was closed to all traffic, officially on the lst March 1968,
although this was extended by one day to allow a special passenger train to run
from Timaru to Fairlie and back. The last run of the Fairlie Flyer had arrived!
While the Retention Committee was challenging the Minister’s authority to
close the railway, another group, aptly named the Fairlie Flyer Committee,
was making plans to run a farewell trip and to create a lasting memorial to the
Fairlie Branch Railway. The first stage involved a massive eighteen carriage
‘last’ train hauled by ‘Ab’s 718 and 798 travelling to Fairlie on 2nd March
1968. There were special events held at most of the stations along the way, and
those fortunate enough to be amongst the 1,000 plus passengers who packed
the train on that day will long remember the trip. A special souvenir booklet
titled ‘Farewell To The Fairlie Flyer’ was published for sale on board, and
local radio personality Bill Timmings wrote a ballad called ‘The Fairlie Flyer’
which was sung by the Picasso Trio during the trip.


The second part of the Fairlie Flyer Committee’s objectives centred initially
on the placing of a railway locomotive in the Fairlie township. However there
was some local opposition to this scheme, and following discussion with the
Pleasant Point Businessman’s Association a meeting was convened on 5th
February 1970 to form a committee to place an ‘Ab’ class locomotive and to
form a Historical Society and Museum at Pleasant Point. From this meeting the
Pleasant Point Railway and Historical Society was launched. Following
successful fund-raising which included a vintage machinery ‘Extravaganza’ on
2nd and 3rd May 1970 sufficient monies were in hand by May/June 1970 to
purchase steam locomotive ‘Ab’ 699 from the New Zealand Railways for $600.
The engine was towed from Ashburton to Timaru where it was externally
restored to display standards while negotiations continued over the acquisition
of the Pleasant Point railway station for a local museum. Once the station site
had been secured the engine had to be shifted quickly as the contractors lifting
the Branch were nearing Pleasant Point and did not want to be held up waiting
at that station indefinitely. On 28th November 1970 ‘Ab’ 699 was brought to
Pleasant Point and placed outside the station. As the speeches took place the
contractors started to lift the line towards Washdyke. Such was the speed of
progress! However, by the fact that the engine was sitting on several sections
of track, Pleasant Point did not lose its railway completely, and can honestly
boast having continuous railway facilities for near on 115 years.


Since 1970 the Pleasant Point Railway and Historical Society has grown
from a small local and railway museum to a nationally respected tourist
attraction. During the first four years the Society demolished the Pleasant
Point goods shed, restored the station, erected a verandah over the engine,
relaid a small section of track and successfully steamed its prize asset.
However, an engine of 699's size needs more than eighty yards of track to
operate realistically on, so the railway line eastwards, which had been ripped
up in 1970, was relaid in sections over several years from 1977. When the line
was finished it was one mile long and finished at Keanes Crossing where a new
railway complex was designed and built, including a storage, restoration, and
display shed, passenger platform, water vat, windmill, turntable, and storage
paddock. Rolling stock was purchased, transported by road to Pleasant Point,
and restored, including New Zealand’s only restored half-birdcage carriage
(‘A’ 421) and New Zealand’s only fully operational ‘D’ class steam engine (‘D’
16).


Since 1975 visitors to the museum have been able to enjoy a ride behind a
steam locomotive in a variety of carriages and appliances. Ultimately the
Society will create the scene where a typical mixed train (engine, goods
wagons, a carriage or two and a guardsvan); synonymous with the old Fairlie
Branch Line, will be run occasionally for the benefit of those too young to
remember or too old to forget — a truly remarkable memorial to the Fairlie
Branch Railway, and one which will fulfil admirably the ambitions of the
original Fairlie Flyer Committee.


It appears that the railway at Pleasant Point has turned a full circle in its 115
year history; being firstly a much needed asset in the early days to a run-down
and unprofitable liability in its latter days and finally back to an asset since
1970 which enhances the township and surrounding district. It would be
interesting to know what the early settlers of Pleasant Point, who so
vigorously fought for their railway facilities then, would think of their railway
today?!


Pleasant Point Traction Engine Rallies


The name of Pleasant Point has been synonymous with traction engine and
vintage machinery rallies for two decades; and probably not surprisingly, as
the township is in the middle of and is a service centre for a district which saw
extensive use of the traction engine and all varieties of machinery for
threshing, hauling and farming use.


The first rally, aptly named an ‘Extravaganza’, was held on 2nd and 3rd
May 1970 on Maze’s property to the west of Pleasant Point, and boasted
eleven traction engines, and a large number of vintage cars, tractors,
stationary motors, and vintage farming machinery, as well as Sid Lister’s 1928
Hermes Spartan aeroplane. The proceeds from this rally paid for the purchase
of ‘Ab’ 699, which now sits proudly in the centre of Pleasant Point.


Ten years were to pass before another rally was to take place; this time on
Don Clarke’s property near Smart Munro Road, from 5th to 7th April 1980.
This was the first of the highly successful and eagerly awaited Pleasant Point
Easter Steam Rally and Country Fairs, and was organised by an independent
committee of members from the South Canterbury Traction Engine and
Vintage Steam Club and the Pleasant Point Railway and Historical Society.
The inclusion of craft displays and stalls added greatly to the attractions
available for family members. The 1982 and 1984 Pleasant Point Easter Steam
Rally and Country Fairs were held on the property of the Late Mr R.R.
Jordan, and again were resounding successes, the 1984 event topping the lists
with thirty-two traction engines, fifty-four vintage tractors, and thirty-three
stationary engines, and a huge collection of stalls and display stands.


The 1986 Rally and Country Fair was cancelled just before the event was due
to be held, because of the disastrous 1986 Pleasant Point flood. However, not
to be outdone by the weather, the Rally Committee picked up the pieces and
ran what has since been called the best Pleasant Point rally ever —— the 1987
Pleasant Point Easter Steam Rally and Country Fair. The crowds that
attended this event made the whole effort of re-running the rally worthwhile
and made Saturday to Monday, 18th to 20th April 1987, days to remember for
a very long time.


These rallies have played a major part in bringing together, for the general
public and enthusiasts alike, a collection of machinery and crafts not normally
available for viewing in any one area, and in doing so have hopefully generated
sufficient interest to ensure that the district’s fascinating history is preserved
for the future.


The Transport Operators


In the very early days, the full burden of cartage was borne by the bullock
waggons which brought the wool from the back country. Theirs was a slow
and tedious journey and, before long, bullocks were replaced by Clydesdale
horses which were already being used for short distance road transport.


Teams of horses remained the main source of haulage power until traction
engines were introduced about the turn of the century.


The revolutionary development of the motor vehicle resulted in substantial
changes in the public transport business. It has possibly been the cause of the
biggest changes in the life of the district, e.g: loss of our railway, our saleyards
and trades like blacksmith and saddler.


The first passenger coach service, three times a week to Timaru, was
operated by Wm Warne before the advent of the railway. Later, Carl
Rollinson held a haulage licence in Pleasant Point.


A Mr Green owned the very first trucking business in the township and
Humphrey Friel, who bought his business from R. Knox in the 1920s, held a
licence to operate a daily freight return service to Timaru. On Saturdays, he
would fit out the truck deck with seats to transport the local footballers to
their matches around the countryside.


In 1928, Alex Davison started business as a cartage contractor with two
Republic trucks. This business which was situated on the corner of Main Road
and Russell Street, was eventually sold to Richmond Bros.


Another carrying business was set up by Doug Brown about 1934 with one
truck and a licence for cartage in the Levels County. Grain carrying was his
major task in the harvest season, and off season, he carried and sowed lime
from the Cave Limeworks which was opposite the township, and from a
portable plant stationed near Rockwood.


He was the first operator to have a lime sower fitted to his truck and also the
first to have a sheep crate. In 1937 he bought out the local coal merchant, Lex
Borrell and, from then on, operated two trucks for general cartage.


About that time, farmers began to appreciate the influence of lime on the
land and Doug Brown, with George Frame as his assistant, had a busy season
spreading the first lime on Rockwood, Langley Downs and Raincliff Stations.


During World War II when Doug Brown was called up for military service,
he sold his business to H. Gould and Company. The business was then based
where the new shopping mall is now situated (they ultimately amalgamated
with Mount Cook Freight Company).


Porter’s Motors of Timaru also had a depot at Pleasant Point which
operated from a base opposite the Presbyterian Church on Manse Road.
General and stock cartage was their main line of business.


Frame’s Carrying Company started in 1956 as a Bulk Lime Carrier with one
truck owned by Ruby and George Frame. Two years later they purchased 2
G.M.C. bulk Spreaders from Rollinson Motors of Albury thus extending their
lime spreading business from Albury to the coast. A front end loader and tip
truck were duly added to the fleet and, in 1963, the firm took over Richmond
Bros’ business.


Their buildings were then shifted to Horton Street where Frames’ Carrying
Company continued to be based while its fleet expanded to eleven vehicles as
well as double-decker stock trailers.


About that time, baled hay cartage became big business besides being very
demanding. The men had to work all hours of the day and night. Also, at that
stage, there was a heavy demand for freight to be put on rail so that no matter
how many waggons were ordered, there were never enough to meet the
demand.


During the harvest season, the Railways had to run a special freight train
just to remove grain carted to the sidings by Frames and, after the big ewe fairs
at the saleyards, the situation was much the same.


Once the grain harvest was over, acres and acres of potatoes were waiting to
be carted. The thousands of sacks of potatoes had to be in the sheds by
nightfall as a safeguard against frost, then they had to be moved to the rail or
wharf.


In the mangold picking season, the men had to be at work while the frost
was still on the ground so that the trucks could get out of the paddocks before
the thaw set in.


Closure of the railway station, bulk heading of crops and centralisation of
the saleyards at Temuka has brought even greater demands on the transport
business.


In 1973 Frames’ Carrying Company was sold to H. McPherson and, some
three years later, the business was again sold to Mount Cook Freightlines
which continues to operate it from the base in Horton Street and serves a wide
area in the carrying of stock, grain, hay and general freight.



      
        
  Health




The Plunket Society


As reported in the Timaru Herald:



  A sub branch of the Plunket Society was formed at Pleasant Point on 15th
  July 1920 after an appeal had been made in the Technical School by Mrs
  Armitage of Temuka and Plunket Nurse Cameron of Timaru who were
  supported by Mrs Gray, Timaru and Mrs Morris, Temuka. After short but
  instructive addresses to a good attendance of ladies, a Committee was elected
  consisting of the following: Mrs Milne, President, Miss Maze Sec/treas,
  Mesdames Chisholm, Curson, Dollimore, Falconer, Gosling, Tozer, Wright,
  Wicks and Miss Bishop. Mrs Dollimore offered the use of a room to the Nurse
  for her work from 2 - 3.30 pm every alternate Thursday.




This was then a sub branch of Timaru and it was thought that the work was
going to be difficult because many were opposed to a young nurse telling
mothers how to look after their babies. However, it was not long before Nurse
Cameron had won her way into the hearts and homes of the mothers.


Work increased so much that an extra eight members were added to the
committee to assist the organisation in the fund raising. The Nurse’s salary
and car expenses for such a vast area were very high and, ultimately, it was
decided to solicit subscriptions in each locality. The results surpassed all
expectations.


In 1921, reorganisation took place resulting in Pleasant Point joining with
Geraldine sub branch and with Temuka as the centre. This meant better
services from the nurse and reduced expenditure. TD. Burnett M.P. gave
substantial donations to the society, thereby placing it in a sound financial
position.


Demands on the nurse became so great that, throughout 1923-24, Nurse
Flight was appointed as assistant.


The venue for the Plunket Clinic has varied over the years, a private
residence being used for nearly twenty years. Then the Gospel Hall allowed the
nurse to use a ‘front room’ free of charge except for a shilling a time for
heating. Mrs Rose, in the house opposite, took messages for the nurse for
many years.


In 1944, the Garrick Trust donated a hundred pounds which was set aside as
a nucleus for a building fund for Plunket Rooms and, later, another hundred
pounds was added. The Plunket Committee elected their President, Mrs
Clarkson, as their representative on the War Memorial building committee set
up for the Town Hall extensions project. Plunket rooms were incorporated in
the plans and, after years of fund raising, this became a reality on 4 March
1954. The Plunket Committee equipped the rooms to cater for the nurse’s
needs and it is now an up-to-date clinic with modern equipment.


Ever increasing costs means that fund raising must be an ongoing activity
and the Plunket Committee has undertaken many such pursuits. The Annual
collection helps to ensure financial stability and further assistance is gained
from donations from the Gymkhana Committee and the Trust Bank. The
Garrick Trust has also been a source of financial help.


Since the closure of the Karitane Hospitals in 1979 the Plunket Society has
set up the Plunket—Karitane Units to cater for a much greater number of
anothers. Such units have given invaluable advice and support to many in this
district.


Accident prevention is another concern of the Plunket Society and the
district has its own Safety Officer, Mrs S. Burt, who works in liaison with the
National Safety Officer at Plunket Headquarters to keep mothers informed of
measures for accident prevention. Funds raised through ‘Telethon’ have
enabled the Local Plunket Branch to finance a successful car seat hire scheme.


Help in the home for busy mothers of young children has been made
possible through collaboration with Women’s Division Home Help Schemes
and, more recently, a polytechnic course in Homecraft for girls has been a help
to young mothers.


The Plunket Mothers’ Club formed in 1962 as a social organisation has also
been supportive of the Plunket Society in the district.


Life membership of the Society has been bestowed on five ladies: Miss A.
Maze, Mesd. Molly Clarkson, Phyllis Chapman, Jean Clarke (Snr.) and Jean
Stewart.


While acknowledging the sterling services of these ladies, it is fitting that
special mention be made of Miss Aggie Maze who was Secretary/Treasurer for
forty-eight years. This must be a record for any organisation. All minutes of
meetings were meticulously recorded and, in 1945, she wrote: “Now that the
war is over, the birthrate must increase if we are to remain free from attack
from the Yellow Peril!” Miss Maze’s interest in the babies of the district was
paramount. Many a new Plunket Nurse had reason to be grateful for her
company as a personal guide on home visiting occasions. She was aware of the
arrival of every new babe in the district.


Plunket Nurses who have served this district are as follows:



  
    
      	Nurse Cameron
      	1920–1927
    

    
      	Nurse Allen
      	1927–1930
    

    
      	Nurse McClurg
      	1930–1934
    

    
      	Nurse Brown
      	1934–1939
    

    
      	Nurse Huddleston
      	1939–1953
    

    
      	Nurse Strachan
      	1954–1981
    

    
      	Nurse J. Clarke
      	1981–1983
    

    
      	Nurse McLean
      	1983–1986
    

    
      	Nurse Hewitt
      	1986–1988
    

    
      	Nurse Moore
      	1988
    

  



Medical Services


Since the time that Lovegrove and Hammond held surgery hours in the
Chemist's shop, several doctors have come and gone in the district.


The Timaru Herald of 25 March 1886 reports:



  The greatest sensation of
  the hour is the near advent of a medical man to the district. Dr Britten, who is
  commencing practice, has secured a most desirable residence and intends
  practising in April.




Where this desirable residence was is a matter for conjecture. Old identities
have spoken of a doctor residing at 108 Main Road whilst others recall doctors
practising in a residence on the corner of Totara and Matai Streets.


An ex ‘ship’s surgeon’ who boarded at Mrs Lyall’s Boarding House, 13
Afghan Street, was often called upon to minister to the sick even though he
was not practising as a doctor in Pleasant Point.


Dr Dryden practised in the township in the latter part of last century and he,
too, conducted his surgery in the building that was once the Chemist’s shop
but, at that stage, it was occupied by a dressmaker. One of the Miss Crawfords
was the doctor’s nurse there.


Others who served the district in a medical capacity were Drs McIntyre
Morris and Thomas. Dr Morris lived at 108 Main Road and seems best
remembered for a monkey he owned. Dr Thomas’s name is associated with that
of H.C.L. Dossett who earned the nickname ‘Doc’. Apparently, as a boy, ht
always travelled with the doctor on his rounds and it was his job to mind tht
horse and trap whilst Dr Thomas was inside attending to his patient.
Consequently, he was referred to as the ‘little doctor with the big doctor' and
the nick-name ‘Doc‘ stuck with him all his life.


Dr Burns took up practice at the corner of Matai and Totara Streets about
the turn of the century. In those days of horse transport, rough tracks and no
telephones, contacting the doctor in emergencies was difficult. Infant
mortality was high. Bronchitis, pneumonia and tuberculosis were prevalent as
were many other complaints which are readily cured by modern drugs.


Medical benefits were not available until many years later so that families
with limited means hesitated to consult a doctor. Home births were common
practice, confinements being attended by a midwife.


Mrs Exell was a well-known midwife in the very early days, travelling long
distances to isolated homes. Her daughter, Mrs Carson, as a young widow,
followed in her mother’s footsteps bringing many local babies into the world.


During Dr Burn’s time, a Nurse Doig had a small maternity home in Matai
Street and, later, at 12 Main Road.


Dr Burns was succeeded by Dr Patterson who was responsible for
establishing the local General Hospital at 13 Main Road. In the Timaru Herald
of 3 January 1911 it was reported that Dr Patterson “has taken into his
partnership, Dr Margaret McCahon of Timaru from January 1st. The
partnership are erecting a nursing home to be opened about the middle of
March and Dr McCahon will take up residence there.” (Whether or not Dr
McCahon did take up residence here is uncertain as no-one interviewed could
recollect it.)
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    Pleasant Point Hospital at 13 Main Road.

  




The value of the half-acre section on which the hospital was built was
twenty-four pounds and the hospital itself, seven hundred pounds. When
established, it was not just a nursing home but a general hospital
accommodating up to eight patients. Operations were performed there and
some older residents recall having appendectomies, tonsillectomies and
fractures set. Also many babies were born there.


Nurse Lyall, daughter of the Boarding House proprietor, was Sister-in—
charge when the hospital opened and Nurses Olive Norton, Mary McCormick
and Hamilton followed.


It was a General Hospital until 1930 when it became a Maternity Hospital
only but it was closed in 1931 and leased as a private residence. For an interim
period in 1932, the surgery was converted into a School Dental Clinic when the
existing clinic was destroyed by fire. The building continues as a private
residence today.


Dr Patterson moved from Totara Street to a house on the corner of Khan
and Afghan Street which, later, became the Convent and held his
consultations there. He was also practising doctor at the hospital until he sold
his practice to Dr Milne and moved to Timaru. Dr Milne continued in the
practice until 1925 when he was succeeded by Dr Benham who built a new
house on the corner of Harris and Munro Streets which is now the Vicarage.


Following Dr Benham’s departure for Wellington in 1937, Pleasant Point
was without a resident doctor for many years. Residents had to travel to
Timaru or Temuka for medical attention. In cases of urgency, this was a
serious state of affairs and requests were often made to the Town Board to
take action in obtaining a doctor.


Following the war in 1946, Dr Melville Brookfield opened a practice in
Jopp’s Buildings although he resided in Timaru. He held surgery in Pleasant
Point three times a week and, afterwards, did his home visiting which, when
travelling to Waitohi, Cannington and back to Timaru, involved as much as
100 miles travel in a day.


Dr Spencer took over the practice in 1964 and carried on in the same way
until Dr Yee took up practice in 1968. He holds his surgery in the Plunket
Rooms of the Memorial Lounge two days a week.


Continued concern about the lack of a resident doctor prompted the
Community Council to call a meeting in 1983 to test the demand for a medical
centre in the township. A committee was elected to promote such a centre but,
so far, it has not eventuated. Increased building costs have caused any plans to
be shelved.


Meanwhile, Dr Kerry Neilson, resident in Kerrytown, began her practice in
the unoccupied building completed by Noel Guthrie as an appendage to
Lienert’s factory. She holds consultations there on a regular four days a week
basis.


The district still lives in hope that, one day, Pleasant Point will have the
proposed Medical Centre to meet the needs of the community.



      
        
  Community Services




The Oddfellows Hall (later Gospel Hall)


Can you imagine a bazaar in the Gospel Hall? In 1899, the Library
organised a bazaar there with stall holders in period costume and the special
drawcard of a Gipsy fortune teller. Bran dips were an attraction for the
children and refreshments and confectionery were in abundance. Shooting
gallery, fancy work stall, flower stall, art gallery collection and curios filled
every corner and what a din there must have been with livestock being
auctioned to the accompaniment of a new-fangled gramophone. It is to be
hoped that the three large ventilators in the roof proved ‘effectual in
equalising the temperatures’ and that the ‘large Rochester lamps’ rendered
yeoman service during the dance that followed.


At that time the hall was almost brand new and revelling in its pristine glory.
It had been built in early 1897 by members of the Oddfellows Lodge and
opened with a grand concert and ball on 8 April of that year.


Surprisingly, the Oddfellows did not purchase the land until 22 April when
Lot 26 containing 21 perches was acquired. The five adjoining lots were
bought on 3 December 1898. Whilst in the course of building, it was decided to
increase the width of the hall by 23ft, thus giving Harry Dossett the builder a
bigger job than he’d bargained for.


The extension was less elaborate than the original which had boasted ‘a
handsome dado of red and white pine, the colour panels alternating, 4ft in
height’ topped with ‘a very pretty diagonal pattern which gives an artistic
appearance to the whole interior.’


The Presbyterian Church was quick to make use of the hall for its Sunday
School Soiree on 30 April 1898 and, in October the same year, St Alban’s
Church ran an evening of entertainment to raise funds for repairs. Soon it was
fulfilling the Oddfellows’ hopes in functioning as a public hall.


Hire charges were 5/6d per night for the main room and 2/6d for the ante
room. The Brethren were not slow to take advantage of the special low charge
of one shilling for Sundays. By March 1900 they were holding G05 61 meetings
in the main hall and may, by then, have permanently changed their meeting
place from James Agnew’s home to the Oddfellows Hall ante room.


By the turn of the century the hall had become a popular centre. During the
Boer War, patriotism was strong so that, as well as library meetings, school
concerts, inaugural meeting of the Caledonian Society and a grand ‘Vocal,
Instrumental and Minstrel’ event, there was ‘an entertainment run for the
Patriotic’. In 1901 a reception for Troopers was held there.


School concerts were later patrons and, from 1912 to 1931, St Martin’s
Lodge held their banquets there. The Plunket Society found the cloakroom a
suitable place for mothers to visit the nurse with their babies from 1938 to
1953. Wedding receptions were also held in the Hall, two notable ones being
Manson-Carson and Goodson-Smith.


For many years, the weekly dances and picture shows brought regular
crowds to the hall — the two mysterious pillars still stand as a monument to
the dancers. The movie pictures, every Saturday night, were the highlight of
the week for the locals. Quite different from today’s cinema, they were at first,
silent movies with an accompanying pianist creating ‘atmosphere’ with
suitable background music. The reels were wound manually and an evening’s
programme could consist of up to twelve short reels. This meant frequent
intervals for reel changing but it did give the pianist a welcome break and Fred
Foley, the projectionist, often entertained with light hearted stories during
these interruptions.


Power failures were common as carbide lighting was fitted in the hall. A tin
shed beside the hall housed an inverted drum of water and two trays of
carbide, bought in airtight tins from Bob Knox’s bike shop. The acetylene gas
produced was conveyed through a pipe to the double sets of jets in the lamps
suspended from the ceiling. The system was not always reliable.


For the pictures, Fred Foley brought his own mobile generator and parked it
outside the hall. He took it by train to all the stops along the line for their
weekly entertainment. He established a tradition of film evenings, the
harbinger of which may have been the Grand Limelight lecture by Rev CE.
Woodward on Friday 28 July 1898, showing scenes from London life. Silent
movies continued for some years, even after the new Town Hall opened when
Ernie Crawford was the accompanist.


Although electricity proper came to the township in 1925, the Oddfellows
Hall does not appear to have benefited fully until bought by the Brethren in
1928. Certainly carbide and kerosene were still being purchased but in the last
quarter of 1928, electrical work cost seventeen pounds sixteen shillings and
Sixpence. By 1929, Power Board bills for 10/-, 11/4d and 1 Pound 0/6d were
paid.


Billy Andrews was caretaker of the hall when the Oddfellows Chapter in
Pleasant Point ceased to be and he continued as such until the hall was sold to
Harry Elms, water race ranger, in 1920.


In 1928, the Brethren bought the hall from him for 400 Pound and big
changes followed.


The Town Hall


Up until 1928, the Oddfellows’ Hall in Maitland Street (now known as
Gospel Hall) was used for most local public functions. When this hall was
bought by a religious group the need for a town hall became imperative.


In March 1928, a poll of district ratepayers was taken by the Town Board on
a proposal to raise a loan to 3250 Pound for the erection of Town Board
offices, a public library and a hall. Seventy-seven voted in favour and twenty-one
against. The Board also announced the issue of debentures to the value of
1750 Pound for a term of twenty years at five and a half per cent towards the
building loan.


With the ratepayers’ approval, the Board set about advertising for a suitable
site. Six sections were offered and that of R. Knox was chosen, it being part of
the property on the corner of Halstead and Main Roads where he had a
drapery.


Tenders were soon called for the building and that of Geo. Dawson with
A.E. Lewis as architect was accepted at the quotation of 2620 Pound. The Hall
was completed by the end of the year.


On declaring the building open on 20 December 1928, TD. Burnett, M.P.
stated that this was: “the reddest letter day in the history of Pleasant Point”.
He went on to say:



  The supreme need of the Pleasant Point district is that of
  more residents. People could then share one-another’s burdens and pleasures.
  The tendency nowadays seems to be for people to drift to larger centres for
  their amusement but this should not be so. Residents should all make an effort
  to make their own township as attractive as possible.




The official party was piped to the stage by pipers O. Bain and J. Munro. A
musical evening was followed by a dance which went on into the early hours.
Mr T.B. Garrick, chairman of the Levels County Council, made a gift of a
piano to the new Town Hall.


Very soon, the hall was in frequent use. ].W. Hill tendered successfully at 2
Pound 10/- per week for a once weekly film show. School functions were
charged 2 Pound, dances 2 Pound 5/- till midnight and 3 Pound 10/» till 2
a.m. Flower shows were 3 Pound 10/-. The supper room was let for small
functions such as meetings, euchre, etc. and a miniature rifle range was set up
under the stage for target shooting. The Town Board met regularly in the
Board Room and the Office was opened once a week for ratepayers’ business.


The Memorial Lounge


On 24 May 1945, a public meeting was held in the Supper Room to discuss
ideas for a War Memorial for the district. The president of the R.S.A. said
that his association was not in favour of any more stone monuments. He
proposed an extension to the north side of the Town Hall to accommodate a
lounge for the benefit of the public in which a scroll bearing the names of the
fallen should be displayed.


Mrs Clarkson and Miss Maze, on behalf of the Plunket Society, expressed a
wish that Plunket Rooms should be included in the proposed extension and,
subject to the possibility of purchasing the adjoining section, a Women’s Rest
Room was also proposed.


A War Memorial Committee, chaired by the Town Board chairman, M.
Maze, was formed to proceed with these proposals. It was agreed to canvass
the district from Raincliff to Kerrytown and from Sutherlands to Waitohi for
donations. Areas outside these were asked to co-operate and the building
section was donated by the R.S.A. A target of 2500 Pound was set to form a
nucleus of the War Memorial fund.


Local organisations willingly co-operated with fund raising ventures such as
a Gala in the Domain, Drama performances and Tug 0’ War contests. Fat
lamb buyers and stock agents canvassed for gifts of stock and produce to boost the
fund.


As a Grande Finale to the fund-raising drive, a Queen Carnival was held.
Each district sponsored a local girl in a variety of fundraising pursuits and the
one who raised the greatest amount of money was proclaimed Queen of the
Carnival. Miss Jane Campbell was the winner.


With 4589 Pound raised and a pound for pound subsidy as well, tenders
were called in April 1953. Mr T.S. Gillies’ tender of 6309 Pound 15/- was
successful and the official opening took place on 17 March 1954. A grand ball
was held that evening to celebrate the occasion.


The use of the Town Hall has declined considerably over the years. This can
be attributed to the fact that, in the boom years of the 1950—60s, the schools,
churches and surrounding settlements all built halls of their own. Also, the
advent of television led to the decline of audiences and eventual cessation of
the once popular twice-weekly cinema shows in the Town Hall.


The Board Room fell into disuse with the termination of the Town Board in
1954 and the Office was closed in the 1970s when it was considered no longer
economic to employ a Town Clerk.


Modern youth with ready access to motor vehicles sought their
entertainment in Timaru and did not support the local Saturday night dances.
Similarly, local organisations no longer considered the once popular balls a
worth while venture.


All these things have combined to bring about the decline in use of this once
very necessary public amenity.


The Library continues to be well supported and the Women’s Institute and
Miniature Rifle Club still use the Hall on a regular basis but no longer is it a
popular venue for wedding breakfasts. Lack of facilities in the kitchen have
been blamed for this but the cost of updating it has been deemed unwarranted
by the Council owing to the lack of public support.


T.D. Burnett’s comments at the opening ceremony in 1928 would have been
more applicable in this day and age: “There is a tendency for people to drift to
larger centres for their amusement ..... ”!!


The Post Office


On 1 April 1868, the first Post Office Service commenced at James
Gammie’s smithy. In 1873 the agency was taken over by J. Strachan, general
Storekeeper and, three years later, it was transferred to the opposition store of
I.L. Morris. Then, shortly after the opening of the Washdyke-Pleasant Point
section of the railway on 24 December 1875, Post Office business was
conducted at the Railway Station by Mr Pilkington, Station Master—
Postmaster.


In 1910, residents asked for the separation of the Post Office from the
Railway Station and, after due consideration, the department decided to build
a Post Office. In October of that year, a one eighth acre section was purchased
from Mr Ellis Halstead who lived on the adjoining property in Afghan Street.
There was a four-roomed dwelling (the original Chemist’s shop) already on the
site and it was proposed to convert it into a post office at an estimated cost of
70 Pound.


However, a petition signed by John Crawford, Robert Knox and others
urging that a new building should be erected, was presented to the Rt. Hon. Sir
Joseph Ward through the local MP. T. Buxton and, following a departmental
inspection of the existing building, approval was given for a new office. It was
officially opened by Mr Buxton on 23 December 1912 although it had been
open for business transactions a month earlier. Mr E. Dollimore of the Post
and Telegraph’s permanent staff was appointed the first Postmaster at
Pleasant Point.


A telephone exchange was opened on 14 June 1913 at which time seventeen
subscribers were connected. By 1938 there were 140 and, in that year, six
officers were employed on the staff of the Pleasant Point Post Office and
Telephone Exchange.


As the years went by, most homes in the district had a telephone installed
and this made heavy demands on the staff at the exchange. Almost half the
subscribers were on heavily loaded party lines with as many as eight or nine to
a line. At busy times it was extremely difficult to make an outward call
especially as, in those days, every call outside the district was a toll call.


This led to the opening, on 10 December 1965, of the first automatic
exchange which was sited next door to the Post Office. Pleasant Point then
became part of Timaru free-calling network which was of great benefit to the
district from both business and social points of view. There was also the
advantage of the 111 emergency services.


In today’s atmosphere of ‘user pays’, it is interesting to note the comments
of an official speaker at the opening ceremony of the Automatic Exchange.


He said that profit was not a primary consideration of the Post Office
organisation but it was conducted according to the best standards of business
efficiency with a careful eye kept on relationship between revenue and
expenditure.


The introduction of the Automatic Exchange did mean that the services of
eight of the staff who had manned the old exchange were no longer required.
In latter years they had provided a twenty-four hour service on the manual
exchange. The Post Office staff was now reduced to the Postmaster, an
assistant and a postman.


The building boom over the following years into the eighties rendered the
exchange board quite inadequate and a bigger and more up-to-date one had to
be built at the end of Afghan Street opposite the hotel. It was designed to meet
the needs of a growing township and became operational in April 1982.


As everyone knows, Government policy of the late 1980s has revolutionised
Post Office organisation throughout New Zealand. Three separate enterprises,
NZ. Post, Telecom and Postbank, have been created, each responsible for its
own finances and organisation. Consequently, as happened in many parts of
the country, our local Post Office was closed in June 1989 and an agency for
handling postal services was let to Atkinson and Dossett’s Garage on the Main
Road.


Since the Pleasant Point Post Office was established, the following have
served as Postmaster:



  
    
      	1912–1921
      	E. Dolimore
    

    
      	1921–1927
      	G.W. McCarthy
    

    
      	1927–1931
      	L.S.R. King
    

    
      	1931–1941
      	H. Grocott
    

    
      	1941–1946
      	F.A. Taylor
    

    
      	1946–1952
      	H.L. Wilkinson
    

    
      	1952–1960
      	W.M. Wade
    

    
      	1960–1964
      	E. Southward
    

    
      	1967–1969
      	S. Richardson
    

    
      	1969–1976
      	H. Hinchcliffe
    

    
      	1976–1984
      	RM. Walker
    

    
      	1984–1989
      	Mrs D. Bray
    

  



Police


The first police officer to take charge of Pleasant Point district was Sergeant
Ross who operated from Timaru. The first Police Station was opened in 1875.
At that time, the policeman, Constable Joseph Stanley, lived in the Burke
Street vicinity and it would appear that, even though the population was small,
the policeman’s ‘lot’ was a busy one.


According to a report in the Timaru Herald, there was a good deal of illicit
‘still’ work being carried on in the district at that time. Contraband liquor was
being disposed of through various channels and police had reason to believe
that the bulk of it was passing through Pleasant Point on its way to Timaru.


Sergeant Ross was given the task of locating these illicit stills but the culprits
were skilful in eluding the police. On one occasion, a clue led to the Hazelburn
district where a plant was unearthed but, to the disappointment of the police,
the ‘worm’ had quickly been disposed of at first sight of them. A prosecution
followed but was unsuccessful owing to absence of the necessary ‘worm’ as
evidence.


Later, a 50 Pound reward was offered for information leading to the
location of illicit stills and an ‘informer’ supplied the clues that lead them to a
fully equipped plant in the Waitohi district which resulted in a conviction. On
his discharge from prison, the convict was met by a delegation of friends and
presented with a sum of money to enable him to set up in business again. A
syndicate had been running the enterprise and this man, far from ‘squealing’
had ‘carried the can’ for his accomplices.


Bootleggers had several ruses to mislead the police, such as moving the stills
from gully to gully and lighting fires all over the place to confuse informers.


It is recorded in the Timaru Herald of July 1896 that the government had
purchased a residence for a police officer in Pleasant Point on two and a half
acres of land on the corner of Main Road and Rimu Street.


Concern was expressed at there being no lock-up and that it would be
difficult for the policeman to do his duty under such circumstances. Peace
loving residents thought it was time something was done “to ensure safe
lodgement for such as are not of the same mind. The police, as Public
Officers, are narrowly watched and should have facilities provided for the
proper discharge of their duties.”


The Police Station built in 1896 was, as reported by the Commissioner of
Police in 1937, “very old, insanitary without conveniences — is full of T.B.
germs and not fit for habitation.” (The policeman’s wife and daughters had
contracted T.B.) It was considered a menace to health and unfit for
renovation.


In January 1938 a sketch plan was produced and cost estimates for the
demolition of the old and erection of a new building were set at 1850 Pound. A
contract was let and, by June 1939, Constable Adam Kerse was installed in the
new Police Station which had one of its rooms designated as an office.


Although the report on the old police station was condemning, it was seen
fit to move it. It became a dwelling in George Street and is still occupied there.


Policemen who have served the Pleasant Point district are as follows:



  
    
      	Constable Stanley
      	1875–1896
    

    
      	Constable Madden
      	18.2.1897
    

    
      	Constable Thos Barrett
      	19.11.1901
    

    
      	Constable Tom Hammond
      	18.1.07
    

    
      	Constable Valentine Pemeskie
      	5.8.09
    

    
      	Constable Pont
      	1.6.34
    

    
      	Constable John Home
      	22.2.58
    

    
      	Constable Adam Kerse
      	8.5.39
    

    
      	Constable Thos Parkhill
      	4.9.45
    

    
      	Constable Walter Ward
      	1955
    

    
      	Constable Stuart Wallace
      	1960
    

    
      	Constable Alfred Gregory
      	11.8.71
    

    
      	Constable Alister Barker
      	30.10.73
    

    
      	Constable Geoff Smith
      	1985
    

  



Constable Pemeskie, there for 25 years, was the longest serving policeman
in Pleasant Point. Everyone was aware of his presence. A now elderly
gentleman tells of spending two hours in the lock-up as a young boy for having
thought the apples on the other side of the fence greener than those at home!
The neighbour happened to be the policeman who apprehended the boy in his
orchard and duly detained by him. That punishment was not sufficient for, when
taken home by the policeman, the boy was given ‘a daddy of a hiding’ by his
father as well!


The public have always welcomed the presence of their own policeman at
local functions and he was expected to do more than just keep law and order.
The Town Board minutes of the 1930s record the constable being asked to see
that the ‘no smoking’ rule was adhered to at the Town Hall dances.


Many stories can be told of hasty exits from the hotel by patrons who
lingered after the six o’clock closing hour.


As against the ‘bobby on his beat’ of yesteryear, the Police Car of today
reminds the public that their Constable is upholding law and order in the
district. Added to that is the reassuring knowledge that his help is at hand
whenever needed.


The Fire Brigade


In the beginning, the ‘Bucket Brigade” was the only means of fire control in
Pleasant Point. In 1928. PJ. Bowman purchased a hand drawn chemical fire
extinguisher for ten pounds from the New Brighton Council. This appliance
was purchased by the Town Board and, although its use was limited, it served
the township for many years.
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    The hand-drawn chemical fire extinguisher purchase by the Town Board in 1928.

  




C. Knight, who ran a weekly picture show in the Town Hall, happened to be
superintendent of the Geraldine Fire Brigade and saw the need for some form
of fire protection in Pleasant Point. With the help of P.J. Bowman, enough
support was gained locally to call the first meeting of the Pleasant Point
Volunteer Fire Brigade which was held in the Public Library on 3 August 1944.


At that meeting F. Agnew moved that a fire brigade be formed in Pleasant
Point. A list was then taken of men who agreed to become members, nineteen
offering their services. At the next meeting P.J. Bowman was appointed
Superintendent. (He had been a member of London Metropolitan Fire
Brigade). Mr Knight demonstrated the necessary equipment for a newly
formed brigade and it was agreed to have practices twice a month.


Much financial assistance was required to establish a brigade and
representatives of local organisations formed a Dance Committee to run
dances every Saturday night. This enabled the purchase of a Chevrolet truck
for 70 Pound and assisted the Town Board to buy a suitable building for a fire
station plus a siren (50 Pound), hose, stand pipe and other equipment.
Uniforms were obtained from the War Assets Board, including old army tin
hats.


A Ladies’ Committee was also formed to assist with fund raising and one of
their projects was catering at the Saleyards on a roster system.


By 1955 the fire-fighting equipment had been updated to a 1952 Ford V8
with a front mounted pump, sixty gallon first aid water tank, hose reel, hose
and equipment, lockers and an extension ladder. In 1961 a Ford V8 trailer
pump was bought from Timaru Fire Brigade and, later, an Austin truck for
250 Pound which was converted into the first tanker unit. After a few years’
use, another vehicle was converted in 1968.


In 1974, after much research and planning, final approval was granted by
the Fire Service Council to purchase another appliance at a cost of $20,220. A
fund-raising appeal was launched over the whole of the district, (the first in the
Brigade’s history), and the sum of $5478 was raised. This enabled the Brigade
to acquire more firefighting equipment.


In 1980 application was made to the Strathallan County Council for
replacement of the Ford Thames Trader chassis which had been purchased in
1968 and, in 1981, the Brigade took delivery of a five ton short wheel-base
Ford D750 chassis.


This started one of the most ambitious projects undertaken by the Fire
Brigade members. After six months of trial and error and hundreds of man
hours, the unit proved to be above expectations with a 1200 gallon oval tank
(supplied by council), a 400 gallon-a-minute pump (supplied by Civil Aviation)
driven by power takeoff operated from the cab plus all the other necessary
fittings.


The Fire Station


The first building used by the Fire Brigade was a corrugated iron shed next
to the Town Hall and owned by R. Knox. Later, it moved to a more suitable
building in Te Ngawai Road, owned by the Thoreau family.


In 1947 the sum of 199 Pound 8/9d was paid for a building on the Main
Road, formally occupied by W. Oborn, bootmaker. After much voluntary
work was done to the interior, it became the first official Fire Station.


The purchase of the new appliance in 1955 necessitated more interior
alterations in order to accommodate the vehicle.


In that year the Levels County Council bought a section in Halstead Road
for the purpose of building a new Fire Station. In 1961 tenders were called and
the Mallett Bros.’ tender of 695 Pound 9/9d was successful. The building was
officially opened on 1 December 1961 by Mr C. Knight. The building was
extended in 1965 and major improvements were made to the social room in
1971. Fire Brigade members contributed all the labour and also raised the extra
$939 required above the County Council grant of $1000. Since then,
improvements have included a new workshop bay and remodelling of the
social room, toilets and canteen.


Since its inception, all Brigade administration, maintenance and financial
matters have had to be approved by the Fire Committee, i.e. the Town Board
until 1954, thereafter by the Levels County Council and, finally by the Fire
Service Council (later known as NZ. Fire Commission).


Not only do members of the Fire Brigade give many hours of their time
answering emergency calls at all hours of the day and night but much time is
also given to regular training on their permanent practice ground in Kumara
Terrace which the Council gave to the Brigade in 1961. Here, too, members
have worked hard to equip the area for training exercises.


The Brigade has fought many serious fires in its time and had many anxious
moments. One that will never be forgotten was when fire broke out in the Cave
Plantation during the 1975 gale with great danger to the township.


They have also had their lighter moments such as the time when the Chief
Fire Officer, on turning out to a call one Saturday afternoon, found that the
tanker unit had already left for an incident at Sutherlands. He Proceeded in his
own vehicle, overtook the appliance at the Police Station and, seeing smoke
coming from the riverbed, opened the gates and guided the tanker to the fire.
The firemen were somewhat baffled to find that, instead of the whole river
bed, only a few clumps of gorse were on fire. However, with true efficiency,
they set to work with their 500 gallons of water and made a good save only to
be confronted by an irate farmer who had spent the entire afternoon with a
flame thrower trying to burn out the gorse.


Apparently, the fire to which the Brigade had originally responded had been
brought under control by the owners and the message cancelling the emergency
had been received on the unit’s R.T. just before the C.F.O. had directed them
to the river bed. A very useful lesson learnt by the Chief — ‘verify your call
before responding’!


Competitions with other voluntary fire brigades have been keenly pursued
since first instigated by Pleasant Point members in 1956. To create more
enthusiasm, Pleasant Point presented a shield for the team with the most
aggregate points for the day and the Bowman family presented a cup for the
winners of the under twenty-one event.


Six members have been awarded the treasured Gold Star of the United Fire
Brigades Association of New Zealand in recognition of twenty-five years of
valued service to the Fire Brigade and the Community.



  
    
      	A.L. Thoreau
    

    
      	G.C. Howey
    

    
      	A.J. Walden
    

    
      	R.C. Lienert
    

    
      	R.H. Malthus
    

    
      	W.J. Dockerty
    

  



The Library


Pleasant Point could boast of a library as early as 1875 but, unfortunately,
no record of it has been filed and the only evidential proof is the library stamp.
However, the following extract from the Timaru Herald of 21 December 1884
is proof of its early existence:



  The most striking social item in the village is the decided success of our
  Reading Room. In fear and trembling, the Library Committee decided to hire
  a convenient cottage, fit it up comfortably and throw it open daily from 10
  am to 10 pm. As a sort of special providence, Captain Sutter’s handsome
  donation of 20 pound dropped into their hands immediately afterwards and
  the promised Government grant will enable the management to make ends
  meet comfortably. The donation is to be spent only on books. An order was
  sent to London about three months ago and the new volumes should be in
  circulation shortly. Every evening the little room is crowded. At first, draughts
  monopolised attention but we have become ambitious and there are now to be
  found confronting one another, amateur chess players of all grades and some
  fearful and wonderful exhibitions are to be witnessed nightly.




Captain Sutter was a political candidate who had addressed township
residents in November 1883. Whether or not the ‘Library’ was in a private
home up to 1884 remains a matter for conjecture.


The Reading Room described above was situated in Te Ngawai Road on
part of the site where Stowell’s Engineering shop is now situated. While
excavating for his new building in October 1982, Mr Stowell uncovered the
foundation bricks of the Library facing Te Ngawai Road next to Mr Dossett’s
property.


Following the purchase of this ‘Reading Room’, an active committee
became involved in fund-raising to augment Library funds. A Timaru Herald
report of 17 July 1894 states:



  The bitterly cold weather and muddy roads
  somewhat militated against the attendance at the Library concert last week.
  The programme was an excellent one being varied, instructive and pleasing.
  The audience was most appreciative and performers met with hearty reception.
  The Chairman, Mr Grieg, explained the objects of the concert and referred to
  the great efforts made by the Library Committee and the Sports Committee in
  endeavouring to provide books and papers, etc. for the Institute. He was
  pleased with the aims of the young people in the district and he hoped that
  those that were not members would come and join the Library and so have the
  opportunity of reading in their young days what they would never regret in
  their old age.




May 4th 1896 reports “a sports meeting held in Mr Cookes’ paddock and, in
consequence of fine weather, there was a large attendance.” It was a
programme of horse races and athletic events. Funds of the Library were
‘greatly augmented’. Mr Morris, Secretary of the Committee for six or seven
years was given all credit for the success of the meeting.



  [image: Ch13 2]
  
    The original Library in Te Ngawai Road.

  




Mrs Kathleen Muller has vivid memories of the old Town Library. She
recalls very clearly her childhood days when her mother, the late Mrs Harry
Dossett, was caretaker and librarian.


In those days, the Library handled up to six newspapers a day, a tremendous
supply of books and even sported a billiards room as an extra. It was a time
when the Christchurch Press, Temuka Leader, Ashburton Guardian, The
Timaru Herald and Timaru Post were all part of daily life. The Auckland
Weekly and the Free Lance were there too and, once or twice a week, the
Otago Daily Times.


The old building contained an entrance lobby, three rooms and a small
room that housed the kerosene for the lamps. Mrs Muller recalls helping her
mother sweep out with a straw broom and, in particular, the big, hanging
kerosene lamps which had to be trimmed and filled each day. She says there
was shiny brown lino on the floors and big open fires heated the reading room
and the library itself.


Cards and billiards were played there and the excitement of the year was the
annual challenge played with the Waitohi district.


Newspapers were pinned to the long tables in the Reading Room and the
Library room was well stocked with great rows of books. As few people
purchased newspapers in those days, it was not unusual to find people
queueing up to read the news there.


The Library was also a great gathering place. Elderly citizens spent a lot of
their time there —— in fact, some who lived alone filled most of their days at the
Reading Room. '


How long this building served the community is, again, a matter for
conjecture. It is believed there was a period when the Library was in recess
some time before it was relocated in the Town Hall although the building itself
was not demolished until 1942. According to the minutes of Town Board
meetings, it appears that the room set aside for a Library was not used as such
until six years after the Town Hall was opened in 1928. For a time, it was let to
the W.E.A. for their meetings at 2/6d a night and to the Plunket Society at the
same charge on a fortnightly basis.


In October 1933, a public meeting was called to consider the formation of a
Public Library and, a year later, the Library Committee made application for
the use of the Town Hall Library Room. F.]. Dossett and J. Medlicott as
trustees of the old Te Ngawai Road Library expressed approval for the
transfer of the old Library to the Town Hall.


The room was then equipped with shelves towards which the Town Board
granted 5 Pound and the Library was opened three times a week.
Responsibility for the Library was undertaken by the late Miss M. Price,
infant mistress at the P.P.D.H.S. and the late Mrs J. Liston. When they
resigned about 1942, Mrs M. Archer undertook the duties of Librarian besides
acting as Town Clerk each Wednesday at the office in the Town Hall. Mrs
Archer worked hard for the welfare of the library for many years.


For some years now, the Library has been administered by an incorporated
society which meets once a year to elect its officers. The main source of income
is the annual subscription of $10 paid by some fifty members of the society. As
this entitles everyone in the members’s family to borrow books, it is really only
a token fee.


Other funds are derived from rental books, donations from individuals and
organisations such as the Gymkhana Committee and, as a rule an annual grant
from the County Council. Sometimes, applications for grants from charitable
trust, etc meet with success and serve to augment the fund.


The Library is fortunate in that overhead costs are negligible, there being no
rent or electricity charges. Also, every minute of time given by members is
voluntary so that the work involved in keeping the books in order and opening
twice weekly requires no financial outlay.


At one time it was suggested that the Library should become part of the
Country Library Service but it was found that, in order to qualify, a new
building with a paid librarian would be necessary. Moreover, the librarian
must have some qualifications and be employed for at least fifteen hours a
week. This was considered quite beyond the County’s and the Library’s
resources and so the idea was soon quashed.


In 1986 a pilot scheme was set up at the High School to allow the public the
use of the school library on an experimental basis. The public was given access
for one evening a week over a trial period of many weeks but the anticipated
support was not forthcoming and the scheme was abandoned. The
Community Council had received requests from residents for a better library
service for the township but their attempt to provide it met with this poor
response.


Now, thanks to the Lions Club, many years of hoping for extensions to the
Library room has come to fruition. An inner wall has been removed to
incorporate what was the ladies’ cloak room, thus giving twice as much floor
space and room for more book shelves.


The committee works hard to keep the library up to date, buying in books
whenever funds allow. Their aim is to acquire 250 to 300 new books each year.


Town Lighting


Pleasant Point’s first town lights were kerosene lamps but, in 1921, the
Town Board had electric lights installed for which the power was generated
locally. The generating plant was housed in the original ‘Blue Garage’ building
where the Education Department bus depot now stands.


Mr Sid Gray was the pioneer of this device in which he converted an old gas
engine to petrol, linked it up with a generator and powered two street lights —
the very first in the township —— which shone nightly until 11 pm.


When a disastrous fire destroyed the building and left the town in darkness
for some months, the Town Board decided to ask the South Canterbury Power
Board to provide future illumination.


August 2nd 1926 when the electricity was switched on, was described by the
Town Board as a ‘Red Letter Day’. To mark the occasion, Board members
organised a ‘Switching on’ ceremony for 8 o’clock that night and a special
demonstration of ‘Cooking by Electricity’ was given by Miss Kennedy.


When arranging the function, M.F. Maze, Chairman, said “only fine
weather is now required to make the gathering one of the largest and most
momentous in the history of the township. Owing to the length of the
programme, it will be necessary to start punctually at 8 pm.”


Admission to the ceremony was one shilling with supper and dance to follow
at a charge of two shillings and Sixpence for gents and one shilling and
Sixpence for ladies.


Water Supply


In the pioneering days, establishment of townships was very much
dependent upon ready access to water. In an early Timaru Herald of 1866, an
article concerning the development of Pleasant Point stated: “There is a never
failing stream close to the town and the Opihi River is only about half a mile
distant. In addition to these advantages, water can be obtained from the ground
at a depth of a few feet.”


But a later report tells quite a different story. Residents were complaining to
the Council that the underground water was “contaminated by cess pits,
piggeries and household sewage. Something ought to be done or the
inhabitants of Pleasant Point must change the name of their township or have
it changed for them.”


Suggestions were made to ‘tap’ water from outisde the township and lead it
down by a water race to the village. Sampling of the pure water below the
porous shingle on which the township was built, was also mooted. However, it
appears that residents had to rely on these underground wells or stored rain
water for many years to come.


In 1884, a scheme was devised for cutting open races from an outlet on the
Opihi River to carry water for stock to parts of the Levels flats. It was not until
1937 that the irrigation of the Levels Plains was undertaken by drawing water
from the Opihi.


Farmers on the Downs, however, had to rely solely on rainwater. They
dreaded the dry seasons when creeks and dams dried up and household tanks
contained less and less water. They would then be faced with having to cart
water from some permanent source, often some distance away, besides driving
stock to water at regular intervals.


Water proved the limiting factor to the carrying capacity of farms and stock
frequently had to be sold to conserve water for the essential animals. Farmers
soon realised that a system of watering their farms by conserving rainwater in
tanks and dams was unsatisfactory for the South Canterbury climate.


Healthwise, the household tanks were far from ideal as they became fouled
by refuse washed off roofs and spoutings. Downlands farmers began to press
for better water supplies. T.D. Burnett, M.P. for Temuka in the 1930s saw
that water was the limiting factor to production in these areas and to him must
all credit be given for the establishment of the Downlands Water Supply.


In 1933, a committee was set up to propound the merits of such a scheme
that would carry water to farms and houses in underground pipes instead of
open races. It was proposed not only to supply stock but also domestic users.
The committee was chaired by A]. Davey and had as its members, the
chairmen of Levels, Geraldine and Mackenzie County Councils, the Pleasant
Point Town Board and a number of interested ratepayers. Whilst Mr Burnett
emphasised to Cabinet the urgency of the scheme, Mr Davey gained the
interest and support of local ratepayers.


Investigations were begun in 1934 by T.G. Beck of the Public Works
Department who practically designed the whole scheme and was eventually
designated ‘irrigation engineer’. Construction began in 1938 under the
supervision of Public Works’ engineers.


The cost was estimated at two hundred and three thousand, one hundred
and sixty-five pounds but increased to two hundred and seventy thousand
when additional areas of Levels County and part of Waimate County were
included in the scheme.


Water for the scheme came, from a dam at the mouth of the Te Ngawai Gorge six
miles beyond Albury and one thousand and sixty-four feet above sea-level. The water
now comes from a pumping station 1 1/2 miles below the dam site. Mains from the
intake had a capacity of 856,000 gallons a day and fed six reservoirs with a total
holding capacity of more than three million gallons.


From these, water was piped to farms scattered over more than 140,000
acres. Each homestead was connected and water was piped free to one stock
trough in every hundred acres. A land-owner could have additional troughs by
paying the costs of material and labour.
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    Hundreds of bitumen pipes in readiness for Downlands Water Scheme at Mazetown.

  




The headquarters of the Downlands scheme was set up on the Maze
property just west of the Pleasant Point township. This large settlement of
workshops, men’s quarters and dwellings became known as Mazetown. Stock
troughs were manufactured in the workshops on the site as were the specially
reinforced concrete components used in the scheme.


By August 1940, the first water was available and by 1941, the scheme was
almost complete. The township was supplied by its own reservoir on the
Downs by Manse Road above the township. It had a capacity of 250,000
gallons.


The Town Board’s share of the cost was six hundred and thirty pounds
which aroused strong objection at the time; but the establishment of the
scheme brought a changing scene in the township. The many windmills which
had been the driving force for pumping water to the houses quickly
disappeared. Those who had motor pumps fitted to outside wells dispensed
with them and rainwater tanks were no longer required.


By 1950, the Downlands Scheme was supplying 150 houses in the township,
75 fire hydrants were installed and several high pressure outlets for garden
watering were functioning. Numerous troughs and an ingenious system which
delivered a fine spray to cool pigs in hot weather, were installed at the
saleyards.
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An agreement was reached with the Ministry of Works whereby a uniform
charge of nine pence an acre and seventy-five shillings per house was levied over
the whole area of the Downlands Water Supply.


At the time the scheme was considered adequate for the needs of Pleasant
Point but, by 1960, residents were again expressing concern. “Pleasant Point”
it was pronounced “will continue to be a town without a future unless an
adequate water supply can be provided. Expansion is being curbed by lack of
water and yet the Opihi and Te Ngawai rivers flow past our back door”.


At this stage, the Downlands system had become so overloaded that the
Ministry of Works had refused all new applications for water connection after
October 1958 and those already served by the scheme could use the water for
domestic purposes only. Builders of new houses had to make provision for
wells or rain water tanks if they were building within the boundary. Even
established homes were putting down bores or, where possible, resurrecting
disused wells to provide water for parched gardens to avoid shortages.


By 1961 the County Council realised that the Downlands scheme would have
to be improved. This involved two new reservoirs, one at Claremont and one
at Sutherlands, and a duplication of several pipelines. A special pumping
station near Stratheona in Halstead road was also necessary to meet increasing
demands in the township. The cost of all this was estimated at 200,000 Pound.


In recent years, improvements have been made to the rural supply such as
renewed pipelines of wider guage and each farm having a monitored tank
supply to farm troughs.


Several options have been suggested for the township supply and the
Community Council has approached the Downlands Water Board with a view
to taking charge of the town’s water reticulation. In its plans, it has proposed
to up-grade the present pumping operations to cope with the increasing
demands of the whole township.


Ratepayers have been given options in meeting the costs of such
improvements and it is hoped that within the next few years, all residences in
the township will be fitted with a high pressure water supply and that the days
of restrictions will be a thing of the past.


At the same time, a feasibility study is in progress on the possibility of
providing water from Lake Tekapo to augment flows in the Opihi so that
farmers could still irrigate their land in times of drought. Irrigation of 27,000
hectares of South Canterbury farmland and improved fishing and recreational
opportunities are the projected benefits of this proposed Opihi River Scheme.


Swimming Baths


A report in the Timaru Herald on 4th October 1967 attributed the building
of an Olympic-size swimming pool in Pleasant Point to tenacity, single-
minded purpose and whole-hearted community support.


The Pool project began in 1960 with the object of improving swimming
facilities at the District High School and four thousand pounds was raised in
the district for the purpose. An Olympic sized pool was mooted but the cost of
building and maintenance proved far beyond the scope of the School
Committee.


Nevertheless, determined to aim for the best, the Committee wrote to all
previous donors asking for their support to provide a larger, more
comprehensive pool. Little knowing that seven years would elapse before the
project was completed, the district gave its full support.


Much credit must be given to Mr V.W. Wilson, Chairman of the School
Committee, who was the driving force behind the project. He visited many
parts of New Zealand at his own expense to inspect other Olympic pools.


In 1963, it was decided to build a short Olympic pool, 110ft long by 42ft
wide, with one metre and 3 metre diving boards of latest design — a pool
which could cater for Provincial championships. A paddling pool was also to
be included. The project was designed by Mr D. Reynolds, M.O.W. engineer
in Christchurch, and plans were drawn by the (then) Levels County Council in
which body the pool was invested. Many organisations held special functions
as a means of fund-raising and all were well patronised.


There was a time, in 1964-5, when shortage of funds caused the Committee
to consider leaving out the diving pool but, not only did they resolve to press
on but also to add a thousand pound observation tower to the original plans.


With future generations in mind, the South boundary was designed to
enable the erection of trusses for a future covered pool and, for the same
reason, no piping was laid in the centre of the concrete concourse.


Long hours of working bees given by local residents assisted the contractors
with excavating, painting, fencing, installing lights and building seating, all to
reduce costs. School children bolted slats on to the stadium seating which will
accommodate 500 onlookers.


The project was planned in two stages:


Stage I: Three pools with concrete concourse and dressing shed worth twenty
thousand pounds.


Stage II: Filtration and heating plants worth twelve thousand pounds. Two
solar weirs, each 6 feet wide, were installed to raise water temperatures by 8
degrees Fahrenheit. An auxiliary diesel heating unit, thermostatically
controlled, was also fitted.


A four to one subsidy from Recreation and Youth Activities assisted greatly
in financing the project. Floodlights, a public address system and recorded
music system brought the pool up to modern standards.


Several costly items have been donated for the pool, namely, a lap-timing
clock by Sockbum Pool Committee, plastic lanes by South Canterbury
Swimming Association, observation tower clock by Motorways of
Christchurch, timber for seating by Cook and Sons and diesel tank by Atlantic
Oil Company.


The official opening in October 1967 was packed with people who had
worked so hard towards the achievement of such an ambitious scheme. It was
fitting that, after the speeches were over, the Chairman, V.W. Wilson should
take the first plunge. He swam the full length of the pool under water!


The Pleasant Point pool soon became a popular training ground for keen
swimmers throughout South Canterbury, it being, at that stage, the only one
of its kind in the region. Since then, other districts have acquired their own
heated pools and Pleasant Point Baths is used mainly by local swimmers.


In later years, the rising cost of Diesel oil made it an uneconomic means of
heating. Efforts were made to reduce consumption by adding more solar
panels but, by 1982, the expense was such that the diesel unit was dispensed
with and further solar panels were installed to make a total number of sixty—
five.


During the last two or three years, both diving boards have been replaced, as
has all seating and, to conserve water temperature, pool covers set on rollers
have been installed. Liquid chlorine is now used to purify the water and new
Peristaltic pumps are being installed for that purpose.


The main pool is now equipped with a water-slide which is very popular with
the children and a shaded area of about 18 square metres is being formed on
the surround.


In the season, all three schools use the pool regularly for swimming
instruction and this is followed up by an active swimming club training on a
competitive basis.


The County Council pays supervisor wages during normal working hours
and volunteers supervise the pool for weekend and evening sessions.


Fund-raising activities are organised by the Pleasant Point Baths Committee
to meet overhead expenses and pay for improvements. Admission fees and the
sale of season tickets also contribute to the general maintenance of the pool.



      
        
  Disasters




Over the years, Pleasant Point has endured many trials arising from fire,
pestilence, flood and drought.


In 1871 a grassfire started at the smithy and, fanned by a strong wind, swept
through the countryside as far as the Walton Mill on Cartwright’s farm. All
farm land in the path of the fire suffered extensive damage with Reginald
Orton’s crops being worst hit. Parr Bros. had sufficient warning to allow time
to plough a fire break in the path of the advancing flames and were thus able
to contain it before it engulfed the mill.


Some years later, a plague of caterpillars destroyed the crops. They
advanced in millions and left desolation in their wake.


Another time, following fires on the West Coast, large flocks of parakeets
descended on the district wreaking havoc to the crops. It is said that the stacks
were green with them and that one blast from a shotgun would kill at least a
score.


Fires were not uncommon in the business community. The first bakehouse
owned by Morris was gutted with loss of life in 1887. When the Railway Hotel
was burnt down on 30 January 1911, it was described as “the like of which has
not been seen in South Canterbury for a long time with 1500 people witnessing
the conflagration". Motor car and taxi cab parties journeyed from Timaru to
view the spectacle. The fire started in Chisholm’s grocery on the ground floor
of the Hotel, spread rapidly through the adjoining buildings completely
destroying the hotel.
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A ‘Bucket Brigade’ fought the fire until an old manual fire engine drawn by
four horses from Glennie s Stables of Timaru, arrived on the scene but, by
that time, all was lost. Fortunately, the Brigade was able to prevent the fire
spreading into the neighbouring McKibben’s store.


On 13 December 1927, fire destroyed Pleasant Point’s oldest landmark —
the Point Hotel, part of which had been the original accommodation house.
The fire began in Frank Birse’s Cyclery on the ground floor. The flow of water
was “so feeble with all the taps turned on” that the Bucket Brigade was
powerless to control the spread of the flames. On this occasion, the Timaru
Fire Brigade declined to come out and assist, deeming it useless if the water
pressure was so low. Stories are told of the ‘locals’ rescuing bottles of whiskey
and planting them amidst the foundations of the ‘Orange Hall’ for future use.


Lienert’s Factory was twice the victim of fire. When disaster struck in 1917,
one of the Lienert children was found to be the culprit. The five-year-old was
sent by the coach painter to fetch some matches and was sidetracked to light a
fire in a pile of tow — a fibre used for stuffing coach cushions. It completely
destroyed the factory and only sterling work by the locals with buckets of
water and wet blankets saved the family home in Maitland Street.


When disaster struck again in 1984, the factory was destroyed and, this
time, there was no recovery. The ‘Blue Garage’ where the Education Bus
Depot is, was destroyed by fire about 1921, putting the town in darkness for
some time. The petrol generator which powered the two street lights was
housed in there. The Station Master’s new car which was garaged there was
also destroyed.


Oborn’s Bootmaker’s shop went up in flames about 1940 while Mr Oborn
was chatting further up the street. He was a heavy smoker and it was suspected
that a cigarette butt had set light to wrapping paper under the counter.


When Burt’s Grocery was destroyed, the shop was vacant but the fire started
in the adjoining residence which was occupied at the time.


The first boarding house, owned by Mrs Geaney, was gutted in the 1960s.
By then, it had become a private residence.


In May 1984 much of the equipment was lost when Cooks’ Sawmill was
severely damaged by fire. Two units from the local Volunteer Fire Brigade and
one from Timaru were called out and firemen fought the blaze for an hour and
a half before it was extinguished.


Rob’s Milk Bar was damaged in 1988 when fire broke out in the roof. This
brought about the closure of the business but it has since been restored and
now operates as Cortez Leather Craft Shop.


In the days before the rivers were bridged, farmers living on the far sides
were often confronted with danger when fording the rivers during a ‘fresh’. A
teacher en route to the Opihi school was drowned when crossing the Te
Ngawai River on horseback. Once, when Mr and Mrs L. McCormack and
family from Waitohi were fording the Opihi at the fork when the river was
high, the trap capsized and the family was swept downstream. One of the
children was drowned.


Mr Reginald Orton was drowned when fording the river on his way home
from Temuka.


Floods have been frequent in the district from very early times. In 1877, a
major flood swept through the district washing away part of the Walton Mill
and adjoining homestead with the loss of four occupants.


In 1928 a report in the Timaru Herald states: “Nowadays the Opihi and Te
Ngawai Rivers are thoroughly controlled by an extensive system of protection
banks and works and the risk of loss through flood is practically nil.” How
wrong!!


February 1945 and April 1951 brought floods described as “the worst ever
to hit the district” with much devastation of farmland and damage to riverside
homes. Bridge approaches were washed away and many people were isolated
by surrounding water and had to be rescued.


Protection work undertaken by the Catchment Board strengthened the
flood banks even more but, again, the power of water proved greater than that
of man. On 13 March 1986 when over 200mm of rain fell in the foothills within
a few hours early in the morning, the worst flood in the history of South
Canterbury resulted.


The School Creek could not contain the flow and homes in Kumera Terrace
were threatened and had to be evacuated. As the rain continued, the water
kept rising and the Opihi River was overflowing at the Saleyards Bridge.
Attempts at sandbagging proved futile.


Then the Te Ngawai River burst its banks above Hammond’s Road and a
torrent of water began to flow across country towards the township. A
helicopter was called in to rescue Roger and Bruce Lundie who were marooned
in a tree. They and their father, David Lundie, had been swept away whilst
trying to move stock. David Lundie fell victim to the deluge and was the only
fatality of the 1986 flood.


People in the western part of Pleasant Point had to be evacuated. Tractors
and four-wheel drive vehicles came to the rescue until the water became too
deep. People then climbed onto roof-tops and, at the peak of the operation
five helicopters were in service ferrying them to the Main Street and dry land.
Rescues continued all day.
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When the water approached the hotel corner, at 11.15 am. Civil Defence
emergency was declared and all on the flat were ordered to evacuate. Because
of the damage to the water and sewerage systems, it was decided to evacuate
the whole population, flooded out or not, to Timaru. The Army was called in
and road blocks were established on the perimeters of the township, manned
by police, volunteer firemen, and soldiers until, three days later, when
Pleasant Point residents were able to return to their homes.


For some, there was no home to return to and for many more, the mess and
destruction was horrific with mud deposited by up to a metre of water which
had raged through the houses ravaging everything in its path.


The ensuing clean-up will for ever remain in the memories of those affected
but so will the community spirit that prevailed throughout. The local
community rallied together with the Red Cross, Civil Defence. Salvation
Army, Police, Fire Brigade, Army to help restore the havoc the flood had
created.


There have been occasional severe snow storms which have brought
disruption and hardship to the district. In 1945, just months after a severe
flood, Pleasant Point was blanketed in snow on 14 July which, in places, was
three feet deep. The resultant loss of communications, electric power and
disruptions to water and transport services remained a problem for months to
come. Frosts which followed exacerbated the water supply difficulties so that
the school had to close. Power cuts sometimes lasted for weeks and housewives
were driven to seek alternative means of cooking and heating.


August lst, 1975 was another disaster day for the district when a Nor’wester
of hurricane velocity left destruction in its wake. Trees that had stood for
decades were uprooted and flattened; roofs in the township and on farms were
lifted and power and telephone lines severed. It was many weeks before
communications were restored to some outlying areas.


In the last decade, severe drought conditions have impoverished the land
and its husbander's. Parched pastures, shortage of feed, restrictions on water
usage, have necessitated drastic reductions in stock numbers. The resultant
economic losses suffered by the farming community has reflected on the
business community in the township.



      
        
  Social and Welfare Organisations




Returned Servicemen's Association


The inaugural meeting of the Pleasant Point Branch of the R.S.A. was held
on 11 September 1931. The first president was the resident Doctor P.D.
Benham; the first secretary A.S. de Montalk, headmaster of the District High
School, and meetings were held at either Of their residences. There were five
members present at that first meeting.


At that time, the country was in the grips of the Great Depression and, to
make matters worse, South Canterbury was suffering from one of its periodic
severe droughts. The R.S.A. Executive was much concerned with the lack of
work and, hence, money for its members.


Relief work was foremost and men frequently cycled to Timaru for
employment. One member permitted unlimited willow wood to be cut on his
property by the R.S.A. Some early minutes illustrate the concern for members
who fell on hard times: “As this member has been in ill health for some time, it
was agreed that he be paid one pound from the funds in hand on condition
that it was worked for later.” And again: “Mr A. to cut two cords of wood
and deliver to Mrs X in repayment of a pound advanced to him previously.”


The third Annual Report records that T.D. Burnett, M.P., had given a very
generous donation of four pounds to be subsidised by the Branch for two
pounds to buy beef for free distribution amongst unemployed R.S.A.
members.


At Christmas time, for some years, orders for goods to the value of two
shillings were given to eligible unemployed returned servicemen to purchase
gifts for their children.


R.S.A. concerts were the social occasions of the district — admission 1/6d,
children 6d, in 1942. In 1945 the highlight of the year was the R.S.A. Ball -
men 3/-, women 2/- The Annual Smoke Concert (men only) was always a
hilarious evening. In recent years, this has been replaced by a dinner and social
with wives and widows invited, at the Club Rooms in Timaru. The occasional
Mystery Coach Trip is also a social event.


The Memorial Lounge in the Town Hall is a fitting tribute to the local men
who made the supreme sacrifice in World War II. Pleasant Point R.S.A.
members purchased the section and were represented on the War Memorial
Committee responsible for the establishment of this building. The lounge with
its Roll of Honour, is the centre for the Anzac Day Remembrance Services.


The Memorial Stone which had been erected on the green at the western end
of Afghan Street, was moved to the playground outside the Memorial Lounge
as it was deemed a more suitable site for it.


By mid 1989, the Branch had only two World War I veterans left — M.J.
Wilson and D. Connell. In 1968 all First World War veterans were granted free
membership. Branch membership peaked in 1962 with 115 members. Now it
stands at 56.


Many members have given sterling service to the organisation. In 1948 R.J.
Esler was awarded a Certificate Of Merit and Gold Star. He is the only member
of the Pleasant Point Branch to have received this award. Today, the Branch’s
immediate past President LW. Blakemore is current President of the South
Canterbury R.S.A. — the first Pleasant Point member to be appointed to that
office.


Save the Children Fund


As Mrs P.D. Roberts had undertaken the organisation of the Annual S.C.F.
collection locally, it was suggested to her that she convene a meeting with the
object of forming a sub branch in Pleasant Point. This she did in 1974 and was
duly elected its first president.


Members of this branch continue in their efforts to raise funds for the aid of
disadvantaged children at home and overseas.


Red Cross


Even though the Pleasant Point sub-centre of the Red Cross is recorded as
having been formed on 6 September 1939, mention of such an organisation is
made in a Timaru Herald of 1915 when a Monster Carnival and Auction Sale
was held at the District High School in aid of the Red Cross.


Obviously, this would have been to raise money for the forces in the First
World War and could have been for a Red Cross central fund.


When the local sub-centre was formed in 1939, Mrs M.F. Maze was
appointed President and Miss Mary Davison Secretary/Treasurer. Members
immediately busied themselves with knitting and making up garments,
supplies of which were regularly sent to various services’ hospitals such as
Burwood and Hanmer Springs.


Other activities centred around fund raising through shop days, saleyards
catering, dances and canvassing. Quantities of goods were also sent to
International Red Cross for inclusion in parcels for prisoners of war and needy
families in Europe, Britain and other areas. Regular donations of cash were
also sent to the Timaru Centre.


Without a doubt, the greatest demand for the peacetime services of the sub-branch
came during and after the flood of 1986 when the resources of the
branch, particularly in terms of man-power, were heavily committed for many
weeks. Hundreds of meals were provided for those working round the clock to
reinstate essential services and food, clothing, furnishings, etc. were supplied
to those who had lost their homes and, in some cases, their livelihood as well.


The Red Cross branch continues to support and render assistance to those in
need in the district. Hospital visiting and transport to and from medical
attention are willingly undertaken by members.


Lions' Club


The Pleasant Point branch of this organisation was formed in 1983 with
about forty members and works towards the welfare of the community.


Amongst projects it has undertaken are: a shade house for the I.H.C. Farm
at Kerrytown, construction of equipment for the Cave Play Centre, providing
a C.P.R. manikin for resuscitation training, restoration of the water-wheel
from Walton’s Mill on Cartwright’s farm, extension to the public library
premises, White Elephant sales for the benefit of the Railway and Historical
Society.


Funds for these projects are raised by such means as hay carting, farm
manure sales. The annual Casino night is always popular, raising as much as
$3,000.


Jaycees


Another organisation working for the welfare of the community is Jaycees,
formed in 1976. It has a membership of up to thirty.


Through fund raising activities such as sales of fertiliser and firewood and
hay carting, it has provided the township with a children’s adventure
playground opposite the school on Halstead Road, and picnic tables for the
green median strip. The information kiosk on the parking area earned them
the N .Z. Jaycee—Insurance Trophy for the best project of 1985.


This kiosk was built at a cost of $5,750. Most of the money was raised by
members and supplemented by grants from the Strathallan County and
Pleasant Point Community Councils. Local tradesmen did the construction
voluntarily.


Masonic Lodge


The Masonic Lodge held its first meeting in 1909 at the Technical School of
the D.H.S. Meetings continued there until October 1909 when the Masonic
Hall was ready for use.


It appears that the section in Harris Street was bought by James Stewart and
Walter Brydon for thirty pounds. The cost of erecting the hall was met by a
loan of three hundred pounds for five years at 6 per cent. It was completed in
December 1909.


In 1910, ownership was transferred to the Trustees of Lodge St. Martin 162.
Some members travelled many miles by horse and gig to attend the monthly
meetings and, during the first year, twenty-one candidates were initiated.


With the growth of membership, the refectory was enlarged in 1953 and, in
1958, the kitchen was added. The building is now completely freehold.


Born of humble origins with twelve members in 1909, the growth of the
Lodge shows that “Peace, Love and Harmony” continue amongst its
members and the community around it.


Federated Farmers (formerly Farmers' Union)


Even though there are no records before 1936, of the Farmers’ Union in
Pleasant Point, such an organisation did exist many years before that.


In “Jubilee History of South Canterbury” it states: ”In the beginning of
1872 there were two Farmers’ Clubs in South Canterbury; one at The Point
formed on 14th July 1870; one at Waihi Crossing working for the good of the
farming community.”


In 1872 the Timaru Herald reported that the Pleasant Point Farmers’ Club
published a memorandum requesting Central Government assistance for a
railway branch line to the township from Washdyke.


Whether or not this Club continued in existence up until the formation of
the first Farmers’ Union in Timaru in 1901 is a matter for speculation.
Nevertheless, Pleasant Point was well represented on that first committee. E.
Acton, J. Chisholm, A. Cleland and W. Shepherd were amongst the elected
members.


Pleasant Point certainly had its own Farmers‘ Union Branch in the early
1920s as reports in the Timaru Herald indicate. After the Second World War
in 1945, the Farmers’ Union changed its name to Federated Farmers and
Pleasant Point Branch has had a strong membership ever since working for the
good of the farming community.


Young Farmers' Club


A Young Farmers’ Club branch was formed in Pleasant Point in 1938 with
Dudley Gardiner as first president and AD. Talbot as secretary. Its aim has
been to develop leadership qualities amongst the farming youth and to educate
them in the advancement of farming methods. Debates and stock judging have
been two of the activities which have been strongly contended for in
competition with other branches of the movement.


Country Girls' Club (later Young Farmers' Ladies Section)


Country Girls’ Club was first formed in 1963 with Heather Munro the first
president and Margaret Porter secretary.


Several members have competed at a National level in stock judging
competitions with considerable success, Miss C. Collett having won the award
more than once. Debating, public speaking and home arts are other activities
for which competitions are held. Mrs Andrea Bailey has been elected to the
National Executive Council.


In 1973, Country Girls’ Club amalgamated with Young Farmers’ Club but,
in Pleasant Point, they continue to meet separately, known as Te Ngawai
Y.F.C.


Women's Division of Federated Farmers


A branch of this movement was formed in Pleasant Point in November 1931
with Mrs C. Ley as president and Mrs Gordon Campbell as secretary. Its aim
was to foster interest in home arts and campaign for rural women’s rights and
welfare.


Much of this work was closely allied to that of Women’s Institute and it was
eventually realised that a more effective group would result if the organisation
disbanded and joined the Women’s Institute. This was done in 1957.


Branches of the Women’s Division of Federated Farmers continue to
function in outlying areas such as Kakahu, Sutherlands and Hazelbum.


Country Women's Institute


The Pleasant Point Women’s Institute was formed in July 1931. Mrs W.T.
Taylor was elected president. It would appear that the Women’s Institute, at
that time, catered for women living the the township whereas the Women’s
Division catered more for farmers’ wives.


Pleasant Point C.W.I. continues to be supported by a dedicated group of
women in the township, meeting on a monthly basis.


Garden Circle


Twenty-five years ago a meeting was convened in Pleasant Point to assess
public interest in forming a Garden Club, Reverend R.]. Okey presiding. The
fifty strong attendance indicated plenty of enthusiasm and the first Garden
Circle was formed. Mrs Ann Fairburn was elected president and Mrs Margaret
Gardiner Secretary.


Meeting once a month, the Circle has a variety of subjects for discussion, all
related to promoting gardening in all its aspects. These include demonstrations
by experts, specialist speakers and the ever popular garden visits. Membership
has grown to over a hundred.


The group is community minded and has given financial assistance towards
many projects for beautifying the township.


Floral Art Group


The Te Ngawai Floral Art Group was formed in 1976 when some members
of the Garden Circle with a special interest in this skill decided that the
formation of a group would further the interest in this field.


Mrs Linda White was elected president and Mrs Ruth Mitchell secretary.


The group caters for wedding and other functions where flowers are in
demand and the artistic skill demonstrated in their floral decorations has
earned them merit enough to enable the project to become a successful fund
raising venture for its thirty-five members.


Pleasant Point Beautifying Committee


In 1988 a committee was elected at a public meeting called to consider ways
and means of improving the environment of the township to make an
attractive scene. Harley Stewart was voted chairman and Lester Chapman
secretary.


The group has devoted many hours of voluntary work to planting three
hundred trees on the median green strip bordering the Main Street and nursing
them through the dry seasons. The project was financed by Strathallan County
Council.


They have also planted the perimeters of the new sports field next to the
Main Road. These pin oak, ash and cherry trees will, in years to come, be a
fitting tribute to those who, in their retirement, helped make the township a
place to be proud of.


Some residents, keen to enhance the appearance of their streets, have
planted trees there at their own expense, thus contributing to the project.


Senior Citizens' Welfare Organisation


In May 1974 a meeting was convened under the leadership of Mrs P. Scott,
to consider the formation of this body as a means of providing entertainment
for senior citizens of the district.


With support from local organisations, it was decided to proceed and Mrs
Scott was elected president. The Club has been active ever since with sporting,
church and social organisations undertaking to provide teas and socials on a
roster system.


This monthly event fulfils a social need for the elderly of the district.


Scouting


The first Pleasant Point Scout Group commenced activities on 8 February
1940 under the mastership of Reverend Schurr, assisted by AS. Watson of
Butlers Road. F.E.G. Malcolmson was the first chairman of the Scout
Committee.


It is interesting to record that this first pack met in the unoccupied shop
which is now the Scout Den. Owing to wartime restrictions, transport was
limited so that only boys within walking or cycling distance were able to attend
and the pack was small in number.


When Rev Schurr left to become an Army Chaplain, H.O. Fort took over as
Scoutmaster and, about three years later, a Cub Pack was formed under the
leadership of Miss Beattie Taylor. The pack numbered fifteen boys.


It would appear that the Scouts went into recess for some time and was
reinstated when Rev Ian Powell undertook the leadership in 1956. An old
cottage was purchased at 27 Harris Street for use as a Scout Den and was used
until 1985 when the present Den was bought from the Pipe Band Committee.


As Scout membership increased, the old cottage became inadequate and the
obsolete Catholic Church hall was acquired and moved on to the site in 1968.


Again, in 1974, the Scouts went into recess through lack of leadership but
resumed in the 1980s and has grown in numbers to a troop of 32 Scouts, four
of whom are about to attain Venturer status. There is a Pack of 27 Cubs and,
in 1988, a new group, Keas, was formed for six to eight year old boys.


Guiding


Early records of this movement are sparse but it is known that a Girl Guide
Company was formed in 1943 if only for a few years. At that stage, they met in
a small, disused cottage in Maitland Street.


In 1957 a Brownie Pack was formed under the leadership of Mrs Jan
Clemens who, apart from a few years when her own family took up all her
time, has continued as leader ever since.


As Brownie members reached the required age, their enthusiasm led to the
formation of a Guide Company in 1969 and, today, the organisation has
grown to two Guide units, a Ranger unit, two Brownie Packs and a Pippin
group which is a recent formation for six to eight year old girls.


Several Pleasant Point Guide members have, over the years, received the
Queen’s Badge, the highest award in Guiding.


St John's Ambulance Brigade


A St. John‘s Ambulance Cadet Group was first formed in 1978 under the
leadership of Mr Haines and, in 1987, a Family Unit was also formed.


The Cadet Group, now led by Mr and Mrs Scott, is given instruction on
many facets of First Aid and proficiency badges are awarded accordingly.


The Family Unit attends local sports matches in order to treat any injuries
which may arise and are also to be seen on duty at the annual Gymkhana and
at the Railway Museum when the train is running.


Pleasant Point Pipe Band


The Band was formed in 1946, primarily by members of the wartime band
of the Levels Battalion of the Home Guard.


The convenor of the meeting to discuss its formation was E.G. Hewitt who
considered it would be an asset to the community. The meeting elected R.
Fraser Snr. of Sterndale as Patron and L.C. Craythorne as President.


To raise money to outfit the players, the band gave afternoon and evening
performances and held shop days. They had received a grant of $400 from the
trustees of the defunct Caledonian Society.


The original uniforms were imported from Lawries of Scotland averaging 48
Found 15/- each —- a total cost of 692 Pound 13/4d. In honour of their
patron, the Fraser Tartan was adopted for the kilts.


For a number of years, the band practised in rented rooms until the
members decided they needed premises of their own for housing of equipment
and rehearsals. They purchased the disused store in Te Ngawai Road in 1953.
In the years that followed, they renovated the building extensively and, in
1967, the Band was equipped with new uniforms and a set of guard drums and
chanters.


The Pipe Band has played a prominent role in the affairs of the district,
always being in evidence at celebrations and ceremonies besides making
numerous appearances at National and Provincial contests where it has met
with some success.


For a period of about ten years, the Band went into recess although an
administrative committee was maintained. In 1985 a move was made by the
committee to revive the Band and it now has sufficient active players to be able
to join with the Temuka Pipe Band in competing in South Canterbury
competitions.


The hall is now the property of the Scouts but the band continues to practise
there.


The Village Players


In years gone by, Pleasant Point had an active drama group which provided
local entertainment besides competing in the South Canterbury Drama
Festivals. It was weakened by the introduction of television and other counter
attractions and eventually collapsed in 1970.


However, recent years have reawakened interest in live performances and, in
1985, the Village Players was formed in the township. This is a music and
drama group with a preference for musical performances. They have presented
successful evenings of lighthearted ‘revue’ and ‘cabaret’ style entertainment
besides a one act play.


Profits made at these performances have assisted other local societies as well
as providing finance for future entertainment.


The Annual Procession


The Christmas Procession is the social highlight of the year for the children
of the district who come to see Santa Claus. For the ‘not so young’, it is a
fitting opportunity for local organisations to join together in the township’s
Christmas celebrations.


Since it began in 1960, there has been a constant increase in the number of
floats taking part and also in the size of the crowds that gather to watch the
procession.


The first procession was conceived when Miss Margaret Winter and Mrs
Betty Bowman decided that Pleasant Point needed livening up at Christmas
time. With a small band of helpers, some of whom are still on the committee,
their idea became a reality.


The pattern of the procession has changed little since then. Floats are
entered by local businesses, sports clubs, charitable organisations and societies
with most of the community being represented in one form or another.
Themes are many and varied, often devised with an eye to local and national
issues.


Led by the Pipe Band and Marching Girls, the Procession proceeds from the
corner of Totara Street via Te Ngawai Road to the Main Street, through the
town to Harris Street, ultimately ariving at the playground next to the Town
Hall. At this point, Santa Claus distributes sweets and listens to children’s
Christmas wishes. The committee, which was formed in 1963, raises enough
money through raffles, etc., to be able to distribute about 500 bags of sweets
free. The Christmas Procession has become an established event looked
forward to by young and old alike.



      
        
  Sport and Recreation




The Domain


As early as 1873 the engineer of the Levels Road Board was asked to prepare
a tracing of a block of land for recreation purposes at The Point. As a result,
the first Domain Board was formed in 1875 with E. Acton as chairman and
Jas. Strachan, Wm. Halstead, Jas. Gammie, H. Jackson, and Wm. Howell as
Board members.


The “Recreation Ground" was landscaped with trees soon afterwards as
recorded in the following report from the “Temuka Leader” on 11th
November 1879:



  The public domain is an eighty acre block around which has been planted a
  belt (1 chain wide) of evergreen trees. Fenced in on both sides is a carriage
  drive bordering the grass centre plot. In a few years, this will be a most
  pleasant retreat for the good folks living in the township.




The seedling trees and seeds originated from Raincliff Station, then owned
by the Hoare family. They were English bankers who sent gardeners out from
England to carry out plantings on the Raincliff Station. The stock of seeds
surplus to their requirements were gifted to the Council for planting in the
domain. It would appear that they were planted by a nurseryman from
Timaru, Michael Fitzgerald.


The original Domain is recreational land vested in the county, which means
that the county has full use and enjoyment of the land but does not own it and
could not, as of right, sell the area and utilise the funds for county purposes,
i.e. it is owned by the Crown.


The “Temuka Leader” is somewhat inaccurate when it states “80 acre
block” as it is actually 66.0 acres (27.09 ha.) It was not officially registered
under the Public Domains Act until 5th December 1882.


Many trees in the original Domain are now well over a hundred years old
and a lot have been damaged over the years and have had to be felled. The
storm on 1st August 1975 funnelled through the park leaving many uprooted
trees in its wake.


Since that time, efforts have been made by the local community, under the
guidance of Mr F. Bartrum, to tend the existing trees, remove dead branches
and plant new species so that the number of trees in the old Domain has
multiplied. A popular walking/jogging track has been formed between the
trees round the perimeter of the park.


In the last decade, the Council has purchased 5.3 ha. of land, adjoining the
Domain, from Mr and Mrs D..J Armstrong, to meet the need for more playing
fields Mr and Mrs Armstrong donated a strip of land from their remaining
property to provide access to the new sports field from George Street.


These grounds were developed in 1980 with the costs being met in part by the
County and in part by a grant from the NZ. Lottery Board.


Another block of 4.5 ha. was purchased from Mr M. Blakemore in 1985.
This is the area fronting the Main Road and the purchase and other cost were
met by a $70,000 loan.


As all the money was not needed for that purpose, $4,000 of it was used for
cabin replacements in the camping area and the surplus of approximately
$3,600 has been set aside for future development.


The New Fields and Blakemore Block are freehold although the County, in
owning the Fee Simple rights has the final say in terms of use, subdivision or
disposal.


The whole Domain is a recreational area which caters for the following:



  	GOLF — The Pleasant Point Golf Club leases the main area of the original
  Domain in which they have nine of their eighteen hole course.


  	TENNIS —— The Pleasant Point Tennis Club has two hard courts and a
  practice area located in the northern corner of the original Domain.


  	TUG O’WAR — The Pleasant Point Tug 0’ War Club has a club house,
  formerly the old golf club house, in the eastern corner of the Domain.


  	GYMKHANA and TROTTING — The Pleasant Point Gymkhana
  Committee holds its annual event in the Domain when races are also run on the
  Trotting track.


  	HOCKEY — The Pleasant Point Hockey Club shares club rooms with the
  Soccer Club and have their playing field at the north-west end of the New
  Playing Fields.


  	SOCCER — The Pleasant Point Soccer Club has its field at the south-west
  corner of the New Fields.


  	RUGBY — The Rugby Club has been established in the Domain for many
  years. Until the New Fields were added, they played on the oval in the old
  Domain but have since acquired two more fields. In conjunction with the
  Tennis Club and the Levels County, the Rugby Club built a new pavilion in the
  late 1970s with social, shower and changing facilities.


  	CRICKET — The Cricket Club operates from a wicket on the New Fields
  and an artificial wicket has already been completed.


  	CAMPING — For many years, the Strathallan County Council has
  operated a camping ground in the northwest corner of the Domain. Camp
  facilities include the shower rooms under the rugby pavilion, cooking and
  toilet blocks, laundry, power points for caravans and a camping area of
  approximately 1.5ha. This camp is very popular during summer but gets
  insufficient use on an annual basis to adequately cover overhead and operating
  costs.




Tennis


Although no early records are available, it would seem, from the following
report, that a Tennis Club existed in Pleasant Point as early as 1895. Timaru
Herald, 18 January 1895 states:



  Pleasant Point Tennis Club met the Victoria Tennis Club (Ballantyne and
  Co.) in friendly games on the Halsteads’ private lawn yesterday afternoon. It
  was a most enjoyable afternoon despite the fact that a strong Nor’wester swept
  the court and made playing very erratic. Mr Halstead, (president) and Mrs
  Halstead (secretary) and the ladies made the visitors most welcome.




This was on Wm. Halstead’s property at 12 Halstead Road.


Some years later, a band of enthusiasts chipped a court on Wm. Halstead’s
son, Ellis’s property at 13 Afghan Street where the game was played for a
period. Later, the school grounds became the venue.


During the Great War, with so many members away on active service, the
Club became defunct but the game received an impetus when, some years
afterwards, the reformed Club had two asphalt courts laid in the Domain.


Largely owing to the efforts of Dr A.M. Patterson, the game had again
become popular in the district and, since that time it has continued, through
varying fortune, to function until today. It is the most popular of Summer
sports and now has three good courts, delightfully situated, in the Domain.


By the late 1930s the Club was competing in both Timaru and Te Ngawai
competitions and, in 1939, won the Te Ngawai Challenge Cup.


Finances were not healthy at that stage. Subscriptions were men 15/-, ladies
7/6d, juniors 5/— but it took several dances and Tug 0’ War to defray the
expense of two new nets.


With the onset of World War II, membership declined and only one team
was available for competitions. Club Championships were held in abeyance
for the duration. In 1942, a team was entered in the South Canterbury
competitions and one in the Temuka sub-competitions but petrol restrictions
eventually forced the club to withdraw from competitive tennis and confine
itself to friendly games.


By 1950, the Club had affiliated with both Timaru and Te Ngawai
Associations and membership had risen to thirty-three. From then on the Club
flourished and enjoyed regular matches as well as friendly games with Aorangi
(Timaru) and Totara Valley. Club Championships were completed for the first
time in ten years.


Membership dropped to only twelve in 1962—63 but had risen to 80 by the
1968-69 season. The Club was able to enter six teams in the Te Ngawai
Association and one in the Timaru competitions. Several members enjoyed
representative honours with Claire Collett being winner of the Ladies’ Singles
in 1969.


Big efforts at fund raising were made to reseal the Domain courts in 1966
and augment club finances. Members were encouraged to attend weekly club
days and play ladder matches as well as participating in friendly matches with
St. Mary’s Club of Timaru. Coaching of juniors helped in developing young
players.


In the 1970-80 decade, membership continued to grow and it became
necessary to hold two club nights weekly for juniors but numbers declined
again in 1976 when Cave and Totara Valley Clubs were revived. An annual
newsletter was introduced to keep members in touch with Club affairs and it
has continued ever since. Players particularly prominent in South Canterbury
teams were Seniors C. Collett and G. Henderson and Juniors A Lyon and G.
Higginbottom.


In 1975, the Tennis Club agreed to join the Rugby Club and the County
Council in funding and constructing new club rooms. Members gave many
hours of their time in fund raising pursuits as well as assisting with the building
and decorating of the pavillion.


The Club has continued with good membership and considerable success in
competitions through the last decade and representative players have gone
forward. Having the use of the Rugby Club rooms during the Summer has
been of great benefit.


The South Canterbury Lawn Tennis Association recently held discussions
with a view to having Timaru, Temuka-Geraldine and the Te Ngawai Clubs
play in one competition over a range of grades for the 1989-90 season.
However, Pleasant Point was the only Club willing to take up the challenge
and, it is hoped, will continue to pursue it.


It should be noted that St. Mary’s Church have their own tennis club in
Pleasant Point and compete in the Te Ngawai competitions.


Badminton


On March 22, 1965, J. Crossan, Headmaster of the District High School,
presided over a meeting in the Town Hall to form a Badminton Club. Those
present were: Messrs L. Hardie, L. Te Koeti, B. Brown, G. Hardy, W. Zwarts,
J. Moore, B. Dykstra, Mesdames P. Holland, J. Henderson, P. Bartrum, D.
Te Koeti, Miss K. Holland.


Mr Crossan offered the use of the Victor Wilson Hall for which it was
decided to give 10/— a night to cover electricity. Subscriptions were set at 10/7 a
year plus 1/- per night.


Miss V. Moore gained Representative honours in the under 18 years team
for South Canterbury and, in 1975, six members gained similar honours in
Junior Division and Gosnell Trophy. Miss Ann Esler represented South
Canterbury in 1975, 1976 and 1978.


Subscriptions are now, Senior Competition players, $45, Senior non-competitive
$15, Juniors $25 and $10. There are twenty-four members in 1989.


Bowls


In 1936 proposals were put forward by a few enthusiasts for a bowling green
in the district but it was another two years before it became a reality. The new
headmaster of the District High School happened to be a keen bowler and his
persistence led to the formation of a Bowling Club.


Fund raising was the first task for the Club. A Queen Carnival to be run as a
joint venture with the Croquet Club was ultimately agreed upon.


With Doris Murphy and Dorothy Chapman as the two Queens, the carnival
created much rivalry between the clubs and 500 Pound was netted from the
event. The Club was now in a position to construct its bowling green.
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The Timaru Employment Office provided the labour and J.T. Hunt of
Timaru agreed to supervise the laying. South Canterbury Bowling Centre
contributed five pounds and A. Woods gave a few sets of bowls to help the
Club along. The pavilion was built by W. Grant and J. Smillie and the final
cost was nearly 1,000 Pound. W. Edyvean gave a set of gold buttons to be
competed for by members.


W. Grant was president of the first committee and others elected were Mrs
W. Taylor, Miss A. McBean, Messrs. S.C. Gibb, H.E.Frew, H. Christie, R.
Turnbull, F. Malcolmson, G. Gray, A. Oborn and J. Hosken.


The Croquet Club committee were Mesdames J. Cunningham (president), J.
South, A. Thomas, J. Smith, R. Halstead, A. Gray, F. Simmons, E. Candy,
A. Davison, Misses H. Kime and 1. Gray.


T.D. Burnett, M.P. was the guest speaker at the official opening which took
place on 26 November 1938. In his speech, he described the opening as a
milestone in the history of Pleasant Point. He went on to say: “The club will
be a great asset as it will bring town and country together in a spirit of
brotherhood. It is only right that they should make contact with fellow men
when the day is over and that the ladies should gather for a little district gossip
whilst the men try their skill at bowls.”!!


At this stage, the women did not play bowls.


Croquet was the ladies’ game and their green was situated where the Fire
Station now stands.


The Croquet Club did not last for many years and, before long, the women
became interested in playing bowls. As three or four women were already
playing in friendly games with the menfolk, it was decided to form a Women’s
Club in October 1955. Mrs P.J. Bowman was the first president and Mrs P.D.
Roberts secretary.


Membership of the Bowling Club has grown through the years to
approximately 90 in 1989. Each group participates in inter-club competition as
well as in social and friendly contests with Fairlie Club. The women compete
for the Roberts Shield and the men for the Hosken Trophy.


Golf


Golf was played in a paddock behind the Pleasant Point Hotel before the
turn of the century, (Cooks Sawmill now stands on the site), but it was not
until 28 February 1921 that a meeting was convened to consider the
establishment of a golf club.


A committee was formed with J.H. Morris as president, Dr Milne as
secretary and W. Garton as treasurer. Other members were Messrs H.C.L.
Dossett, A. May, Cuison and Batchelor.


Land was obtained from J. Cartwright who farmed the property bordering
Keanes Road and behind where the Railway and Historical Society’s shed now
stands. This was sufficiently established for an opening day to be arranged for
19 May 1921.


Mrs N.E. Wright (nee Hinson), the then reigning NZ, Champion woman
golfer, was asked to drive the first ball. It is interesting to note that, as Mrs
Templar of Geraldine, she again drove the first ball for the Club’s 50th Jubilee
and yet again a few years later for the opening of the second nine holes in 1976.


At a meeting later in 1921, it was decided to buy land on the far side of the
Opihi River in Waitohi and establish an eighteenrhole course on the property
of J. Orr and E. Prattley. Golf was played there until 1923 when it was decided
to move to the Pleasant Point Domain and establish a golf course there. This is
now the first nine holes of the Club’s present course.


As the racecourse was already there, the golf course had to be planned
around it. The first club house was the old pavilion which still stands near the
Rugby Club rooms. Up until 1930, subscriptions were men 1 Pound, ladies
10/7 but, in 1933 this was reduced to half because of the depression and no
family was expected to pay more that 1 Pound 10/—.


Over the next twenty years, the Club progressed slowly with a very small
membership owing to the war years following the depression. All work had to
be done on a voluntary basis and the names of Roberts, Patrick, Clarkson and
Evans were for ever to the fore in this category. All fairway mowing was done
by sheep and the greens were enclosed in low fences.


In the early 1960s when golf started being featured on T.V., many budding
‘Arnold Palmers’ began to seek membership so that, by the end of the decade,
there was a big waiting list for membership. The committee agreed that it was
to the detriment of Pleasant Point when people moving into the district whose
favourite recreation was golf, could not join the Golf Club.


Consequently, in 1969, when the opportunity arose to buy 50 acres from
R.R. Jordan, it was decided to move forward once again and establish a full
eighteen hole course. This was accomplished with the dedication characteristic
of small communities and Pleasant Point especially. Ninety per cent of the
labour of developing the new course was voluntary and machinery was lent
free of charge.


With an extended course, the Pleasant Point Golf Club began to look to
Timaru for increased membership and soon, Town and Country players made
up a Club which became recognised as the Friendly Club of South Canterbury.


A new club house of the highest standard was soon built on the new land. It
is estimated that all this would have cost something like a quarter of a million
dollars had it not been for the voluntary efforts put into the project. As it was,
it only required the Club to take out a manageable loan in the form of
debentures.


By 1986, the Club membership had risen to 600 — a far cry from the original
few of 1921. In March of 1986, the disastrous flood completely devastated the
new nine holes and construction work had to start all over again. However,
local and city members rallied round and, with the large membership
providing hundred of hours of voluntary work and thousands of dollars worth
of machinery, combined with various fund raising schemes, the course was
once again ready for play to resume.


Today, the Pleasant Point Golf Club is one of the largest and strongest clubs
in South Canterbury — something of which the whole community is justly
proud.


The Pony Club


Pleasant Point Pony Club was first formed in 1963 but such a club had
functioned at Totara Valley for a short time in 1954.


Cecil Maze was the first chairman and Mrs JD. Stewart the first secretary.


Members who have, over the years, been selected to represent South
Canterbury in the National Championships include: Ron Small 1968, Jim
Esler, Gay Dunn, Anne Esler, Andrew Munro, and Phillip Ward Smith.


Club membership stands at about thirty today.


Miniature Rifle Club


This club had its beginnings on the night of 15 April 1926 at a meeting in
Bowman’s Tearooms convened by PJ. Bowman and T. Forrest.


There was good attendance and plenty of enthusiasm and the Club was
founded on the high note that has been a feature of its activities ever since.
PJ. Bowman was elected president, Mr Howell secretary and T. Forrest Club
Captain.


A dance was held to raise funds and mark the opening of the season and it
was such a success that a similar function was held for years to come.


In June 1926, the club was affiliated to the South Canterbury Miniature
Rifle Association and appointed Messrs Trilford and Fenton as its delegates.


Shoots were held weekly in the Oddfellows’ Hall and the Club celebrated its
foundation by winning the premier team trophy of the district — the Herald
Shield.


When the present Town Hall was completed in 1928, with a rifle range
incorporated in the plan, the Club transferred from the Oddfellows’ Hall and
still holds its shoots and meetings there today.


In 1929 an Annual Women’s night was introduced and the Club's official
seal adopted. In the following year two shell cases were presented as prizes for
the most possibles off the rifle and the Junior Championship.


In 1941-42, all members away on war service were made honorary but, like
other clubs, shortages caused the Rifle Club to go into recess. Its money was
then invested in War Bonds.


The Club reopened in 1946 and in 1949, the first euchre evening, an event
which has continued ever since, was held in conjunction with the presentation
of trophies. Several shields and district competitions were won in 1952 and
WT. Taylor was chosen to represent the South Island. On his departure from
the district in 1956, he was made a life member in recognition of over thirty
years of service to the club.


South Island honours were gained by M.F. Blakemore and H.A. Smith in
1959 and Mr Blakemore also won the New Zealand Championship. In the
same year, the Club became Champion of Champions for the first time.


During the 1960s Club membership increased to over forty and success came
regularly in team shoots and in South Island and NZ representative shoots.
Mrs A. Kingsbury gained honours in South Island Ladies’ competitions and
Mrs S. Brown who was NZ. Women's Champion in 1936, continued to give
strength to the Club.


In September 1975, a dinner was held at ‘The Poplars’ to celebrate the
Club’s Golden Jublilee and 1976 saw the ‘A’ Team win the Herald Shield, the
Hayhurst Shield and the Herald Cup — the three major trophies competed
for.


With the introduction of the new outward gauging targets in the last decade,
scoring has become much more difficult despite improvements to the range,
lighting and rifles. Shooters have not scored consistently well and membership
has dropped in clubs throughout the country. Nevertheless, members still
represent Timaru and South Canterbury with Mr and Mrs H. Smith, G. Bailey
and N. Gould to the fore.


With membership down to ten in 1988, members decided not to affiliate
with the N.Z. Association in protest at the high cost and, as rebels, reverted to
using the old targets. This action, of course, prevented the Club from being
affiliated to the urea associations and caused a break in the long-standing
representative career of Harry Smith’s thirty-two consecutive years.


Consequently, the Club relented and decided, to re-affiliate in 1989 and use
the new targets.


The Rifle Club has always been grateful for the support and many trophies
which have been given. The H.D. Roberts trophy is one with a history as he
was one of the early members of the club. When he returned from war service
in the Middle East, he presented the Club with a brass gong which has been
contested for every year since.


Besides top grade shooters, the Club has produced excellent administrators.
H. Smith has been president of the Timaru Association for fifteen years and
also served for a similar period on the New Zealand Executive. Mrs A. Smith
as secretary and L. Beck as treasurer have also given years of service on the
Executive Association.


Tug O' War


The sport of Tug O’ War has been part of Pleasant Point life since 1903.
Photographs taken at Waitohi in that year show the teams in a standing
position which is the European style of competing. The 1930s, however,
brought in the change to a sitting position which has been adopted as the New
Zealand method.


Over the years, competitions have proved great fund raising projects for
local organisations. In the early 1930s, money was raised for the establishment
of the Pleasant Point Bowling green from competitions held in the ‘Blue
Garage’. Patriotic Funds during World War II were boosted by contests
between teams such as Gould Bros, Cook and Sons Sawmill and Christchurch
Railway Workshops held in the Town Hall.


The 1950s and 60s were particularly strong years for the sport with Glenavy,
Cave, Totara Valley and Point all having good teams in each grade. Frames
Transport Team won the NZ. Open Championships in 1963 and 64. The
middle and lightweight teams won many South Island titles during the 1960s
and 70s.


Ladies’ teams began competing in 1962 and the local girls have had their
share of the prizes.


The Club is still active, entering the 1990s with three teams competing
locally. Since purchasing the old Golf Club pavilion in the Domain, it now has
its own premises for storage of its equipment, practices and social functions —
an advancement on the farmers’ sheds of the past.


The Tug O’ War Club has played its part in promoting the name of Pleasant
Point throughout New Zealand. Long may it continue.


Netball


Originally known as the Pleasant Point Basketball Club, this body had its
beginnings about 1932. In that year, the Temuka Basketball Association was
formed and the P.P.D.H.S. happened to have two enthusiastic N.Z.
Basketball referees on the staff.


They were Agnes McBean and F. Malcolmson and, under their leadership
and coaching, the Club competed in Temuka Association matches which were
played in all the districts whose teams were members. The tennis courts in the
Domain were used for matches in Pleasant Point and, as team numbers grew,
they were transferred to the school courts.


In the 1960s all matches were centralised at Temuka since which time,
Pleasant Point teams have had to travel there each Saturday in order to
compete. These days, both school and adult teams compete there with as many
as fourteen teams playing in various grades.


Many members have attained South Canterbury representation status and
the Club was especially proud when, in 1959, one of its former players Miss
Shirley Patrick became a N.Z. representative in a team which travelled to
Australia.


Cricket


A Cricket Club was formed in November 1879 under the chairmanship of
the School Headmaster, H. Henri with a membership of 24 but it seems to
have gone into recess some years later.


Since then, it has been difficult to find any records of a cricket club in
Pleasant Point until 1959 when town cricket matches were played
spasmodically up to 1966 when it again went into recess.


The Club was revived in 1978 with Tom Dossett as president and John
Oliver as secretary and its team has played in Grade II competitions ever since.
In 1989, it won the competition for the first time.


School boy cricket has been played here since 1981 and two teams have been
entered in the School Boy Competitions each year since 1984.


Soccer


It is owing to the enthusiasm of Mr and Mrs D. Ottley who inaugurated the
first club, that soccer has become established in Pleasant Point.


Peter Roddick was the first Club President and, in 1980, a senior team
competed in the competitions. Promotion was on merit and, by 1982 they were
competing in the first division.


A ladies’ team was formed in 1981 and participated in competitions until
1984.


In 1989 the Club was fielding three senior and four junior teams as well as
six school boy teams.


Squash Courts


As early as 1970, the idea of establishing squash courts in Pleasant Point
was contemplated by Rugby Club members. Investigations revealed that a
demand for such a facility existed in the district and, in 1984, the Pleasant
Point District Squash Racqueters’ Club was formed.


A committee with Norman Blakemore as chairman was elected to undertake
the responsibility of instituting the project and a suitable site — part of what
was once the saleyards — was purchased.


The Committee, assisted by several volunteers, then canvassed the Pleasant
Point schools catchment area asking for financial commitment from
householders by way of prepaid ten-year family membership for $1000, single
ten-year membership for $500, ten-year debentures or simple cash donations.


Further funds were raised by donations of livestock, grazing land for
donated livestock, wool or other saleable items. The result of these efforts was
estimated to be in the vicinity of $30,000.


The two-court complex was officially opened in July 1986 and the Squash
Club began playing with a membership of 180. Competitive matches are
played and the Club continues to have strong support.


Hockey


The Pleasant Point Hockey Club was formed in 1974 and has gone from
strength to strength ever since. At first, the Club had no grounds of its own
and used the High School field for practices.


In 1981 part of the new playing field at the Domain was allocated to the
Hockey Club and it is hoped that two more pitches will be available in the
future.


Four teams played in Saturday competitions in 1989 when, after several
years as runner-up, the Primary School team came first in its grade. The
Intermediate team finished first equal in its grade and the ‘A’ and ‘B’ teams
had an enjoyable season in the A and Senior B Grade competitions.


Seven of the Club players represented South Canterbury at the National
Tournament.


Rugby Football


From very early days Rugby football has had a keen following in the
district. The starting point of organised Rugby was in 1889 when a local team
played against Timaru Crusaders. This was a team of school boys playing in a
Club match with C. Goldstone, the Waitohi teacher as their coach. From then
on, inter-school matches between Waitohi and Pleasant Point continued on a
regular basis.


Although the Club experienced its ups and downs in those days, sometimes
fielding a strong team and, at other times, finding it impossible to raise a team
at all, it did not disband. Being a rural community it was often difficult for
farming men to be available for matches but the odd friendly game kept the
Club alive.


Travelling to matches was also a problem with the choice of transport being
between horseback, express waggon or train. However, in 1914 a team was
entered in the third grade competition of S.C.R.U. but, although there was
plenty of enthusiasm, it met with little success.


During the first World War years, nearly all the members were away in the
forces so the Club went into recess until 1921 when it was revived under the
leadership of Rev GD. Falconer. A friendly opening game with Fairlie
marked the beginning of what was to become an annual event.


Teams were entered in Junior Flag and Fourth Grade S.C.R.U.
Competitions, this time with considerable success which continued through the
ensuing years.


In 1926 the Club hosted a Seven-a-Side Tourney in which Primary and High
School pupils competed. Thanks to the generosity of TD. Burnett, the Club’s
Vice President, forty-two medals and trophies were presented to the winning
teams. Five members of the Junior Grade Team became South Canterbury
representative players.


To mark forty years of local Rugby in 1929, TD. Burnett donated the
Mount Cook Cup for the best all-round team in the Tourney, not necessarily
the winning team. Eighty teams competed. This coveted trophy is still
competed for annually but nowadays, in a contest between the Pleasant Point
and Mackenzie Rugby Clubs played on the holder’s ground.


The 1930s depression had its effect on the Club with rural job losses
depleting the available players. However, the junior team which was still
entered in local competitions formed a nucleus for senior teams in later years.


Again, the Club went into recess during the second World War with so many
members away on active service, to be resurrected in March 1945 when a
meeting was called to reform it.


A Third Grade team was entered in the competitions and from then on
membership grew steadily. Working bees and social fund raising activities
were held to improve playing facilities. At that time, there were no showers in
the Domain and players had to use those at the hotel. Wet weather training
was held in the disused grocery store (now the Scout Den) and lighting for
evening practices was badly needed at the Domain.


By 1956 five teams were entered in the competitions and, by 1960, the Club
had settled into an established pattern of fielding a reasonable Senior Reserve
team and five in Grade and Schoolboy Rugby.


As the Club grew, attention was given to improving facilities and
floodlighting was installed on the field. Eventually a new concrete block club
house was built incorporating changing and shower rooms and a social room
with open fireplace.


In 1963 the Club made history by winning the Senior Reserve competition -
the first win for the Club in 39 years.


Since 1979, morning grade schoolboy teams have been entered in
competitions and many of these players have gone right through to senior
grade.


In 1980, extensive improvements were made to the Football Pavilion at a
cost of $65,934. Superb fund raising efforts made this possible. Hay carting,
slink skin collections, hare drives all contributed to clearing the debt on the
building by 1986. Since then, even more improvements have been made to the
club rooms enabling members to enjoy first class facilities.


Much excitement and great community support was generated in 1988 and
89 when the senior team reached the finals of the Skinner Cup. Hopes were
high for a victory to celebrate the Club’s centennial but the match did not go
Point’s way.


Several Club members have become South Canterbury Representatives
during its history. One family can claim this honour for two generations — Ian
Patterson and his son Robert. The Ryan name has appeared in two generations
with E. Ryan and his two nephews Peter and Mark all gaining representative
honours. Stephen Sugrue brought honour to the Club when he was selected for
the NZ. Youth Team to tour America. Five Club members played in the
South Canterbury team which toured Queensland in 1987.


The Pleasant Point Rugby Club has been fortunate in always having strong
support from the district and this has played a great part in its achievements to
date.


The Annual Gymkhana


The Gymkhana, held on the first Saturday in November, is recognised as
one of the big events of the year for Pleasant Point.


Since the first Gymkhana was held in 1947, it has grown steadily and now
attracts a crowd of 3,000, many of whom are from ‘out of town’. Spectators
can watch such competitions as wood chopping, shearing, dog trials, show
jumping and dressage, highland dancing and the trotting races which are a
regular draw-card with the Pleasant Point Cup as the feature race.


Audience participation is encouraged with games of skill and chance,
children’s athletics, a baby show. An amusement park caters for children’s
entertainment.


All profits are distributed to local voluntary organisations which apply for
assistance. There would be few which have not benefited from Gymkhana
profits.


Before the advent of the Gymkhana, similar annual events were always a
feature of Pleasant Point life. The Caledonian Sports Meeting, held earlier in
the century on Canterbury’s Anniversary day 16 December, was a popular
gathering.


In the late 1930s, it was replaced by ‘Gala Day’ held in late December to
cater for the holidaying public as well as the locals. This event lapsed during
the war years and was replaced by the Gymkhana after the war had ended.



      
        
  Statistical Survey




The following figures from the Department of statistics’ Censuses of
Population and dwellings reveal the growth of Pleasant Point over the years.


Prior to the formation of the Town Board in 1908, the boundaries defining
Pleasant Point were much greater than those of the present township, hence
the greater population numbers for that period.



  
    
      	Census Year
      	Population
      	Inhabited Dwellings
    

  
  
    
      	1888
      	490
      	
    

    
      	1881
      	509
      	
    

    
      	1901
      	749
      	
    

    
      	1906
      	691
      	122
    

    
      	
      	
      	(1908)
    

    
      	1916
      	482
      	141
    

    
      	1926
      	570
      	136
    

    
      	1936
      	575
      	141
    

    
      	1945
      	483
      	142
    

    
      	1956
      	755
      	
    

    
      	1966
      	858
      	220
    

    
      	
      	
      	(1964)
    

    
      	1976
      	1019
      	337
    

    
      	1986
      	1100
      	397
    

  



Pupils from Form II of Pleasant Point High School have undertaken a
comprehensive survey of the township on four occasions — 1974, 1978, 1982
and 1987. The outcome of these surveys is interesting but the real significance
of the studies becomes apparent when each is compared with the others.


The growth of the township is above that of the national average.


In 1978, the population of 1051 showed an average rise of four percent
whereas the national average for the same period was 0.87 per cent.


The decline in the farming economy resulted in a drift of farm workers and
their families to the township, e.g. seven in 1978 and eighteen in 1987.


Fewer people now living in the township are employed there: 173 in 1978,
222 in 1982 and 164 in 1987.


Changes in occupation were also evident in the survey:


Tradesmen: 49 in 1978, 29 in 1982, 20 in 1987, brought about by a decline in
the building trade.


Stock Agents and Agricultural Representatives: 11 in 1978, 17 in 1982 and 6 in
1987, caused by amalgamation of mercantile firms and closure of saleyards.


Motor Trade and Transport Workers: 18 in 1978, 17 in 1982 and 29 in 1987.


Shop Owners and Assistants: 42 in 1978, 43 in 1982, 33 in 1987.


Factory Workers: 24 in 1978, 12 in 1982, and 21 in 1987. The cycle factory was
responsible for the increase.


School Teachers: 28 in 1978, 37 in 1982, 39 in 1987. More teachers have
chosen to live in the township rather than commute from Timaru.


Retired: 86 in 1978, 124 in 1982, 161 in 1987. Pleasant Point is becoming
increasingly popular as a retirement centre.


The most common reason given in the questionnaire for living in Pleasant
Point was the quiet, co-operative, friendly community. Another positive
reason quoted was the proximity to Timaru and easy access to Christchurch,
Dunedin and the Southern Lakes.


Epilogue


I hope this book has given readers an outline of Pleasant Point’s
development from its small beginnings as a stop-over point for up-country
waggoners to the township we know today.


Each generation has accepted the responsibility of maintaining and
improving on what has been established by their predecessors and, whatever
has been undertaken, has been done with the full support of the entire district.


Whenever a worthwhile project has been mooted, be it Town Hall,
Swimming Baths or School amenities, most of the money has been raised from
endless fund raising activities in the form of sales tables, fairs, stock drives,
etc. involving a great deal of hard work by dedicated people.


Over the last two decades, we have seen the effects of centralisation and
amalgamation bringing about the loss of services we have hitherto taken for
granted or regarded as our civic rights — saleyards, the railway, public
transport and, now, the Post Office.


What, we may ask, is the future of this attractive township? Will the
congenial life-style of a small community prevail or shall we become a satellite
town for the city of Timaru? Will this age of technology with the wonders of
the silicon chip give rise to further changes and even more redundancies in the
district?


An article in the Temuka Leader of 8 November, 1879 suggests that it is
merely a case of history repeating itself:



  The Point township is in danger of being dealt with as were often told of
  inland town settlers, they would be in danger of being swallowed up by its
  ferocious neighbour, Timaru. We can again warn the Point settlers that they
  should be more watchful, or their little properties will go for nothing if our
  powerful enemy is not kept in check.




Watchful, they must have been. Our township has grown and flourished for
over a hundred years since those words were written.


Let us hope that succeeding generations will display the same qualities of
resilience and resourcefulness whilst acknowledging that, although the city and
the country are interdependent, they still need to maintain their separate
entities.
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